Comprehensive supplement to the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway



Excellence in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation

www.aphasiapathway.com.au

CONTENTS:

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION	4
DEVELOPMENT OF THE BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS	
UNDERSTANDING THE PRESENTATION OF STATEMENTS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
PART 2 - APHASIA REHABILITATION BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS	
SECTION 1: RECEIVING THE RIGHT REFERRALS	
SECTION 2: OPTIMISING INITIAL CONTACT	
SECTION 3: SETTING GOALS AND MEASURING OUTCOMES	
SECTION 4: ASSESSING	
SECTION 5: PROVIDING INTERVENTION	
SECTION 6: ENHANCING THE COMMUNICATIVE ENVIRONMENT	
SECTION 7: ENHANCING PERSONAL FACTORS	
SECTION 8: PLANNING FOR TRANSITIONS	
PART 3 - APPENDICES	
APPENDIX 1: NHMRC LEVELS OF EVIDENCE	
APPENDIX 2: GLOSSARY OF TERMS	
APPENDIX 3: REFERENCE LIST	

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF COUNTRY

The Aphasia CRE and the AARP committee acknowledge the traditional custodians of these beautiful Australian lands. We pay our respects to Elders past, present and emerging, and recognise and celebrate the diversity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and their ongoing cultures and connections to the lands, waters, sky and community.

[Please note, the AARP documents a range of considerations for working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. These are presented within each section as well as together in section 7.]

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

PART 1 - INTRODUCTION

DEVELOPMENT OF THE BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS AND THE 2024 UPDATE

This document presents updated best practice statements for poststroke aphasia rehabilitation developed by the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) funded Centre for Research Excellence in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation (Aphasia CRE). The statements were originally developed in 2014 by the NHMRC Centre for Clinical Research Excellence (CCRE) in Aphasia Rehabilitation. The CCRE in Aphasia Rehabilitation was an Australian research group that drove a national collaborative effort to improve hospital care, rehabilitation, and long-term care and self-management for people with aphasia after stroke (Thomas et al., 2014). Internationally, there is a lack of highquality, detailed guidance for aphasia rehabilitation (Burton et al., 2023; Rohde, Worrall, & Le Dorze, 2013). Nevertheless, clinicians are required to make decisions daily about how to provide best care to their clients with aphasia. In 2014, the CCRE in Aphasia Rehabilitation published 82 best practice statements to improve the consistency of care, and these statements formed the basis for the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway (AARP: www.aphasiapathway.com.au). The AARP contained these evidence-based statements along with implementation resources in a dynamic web-based implementation tool. The RAND/UCLA Appropriateness Method (RAM) (Fitch et al., 2001) was used to validate the statements. This involved an expert panel of nine aphasia researchers, clinicians and policy makers who rated each statement's 'appropriateness' on a scale of 1-9 (not appropriate to highly appropriate). Statements with a median score greater than 7 were included. Clinician feedback indicates that the AARP is a valuable tool for clinicians who report that it facilitates evidence-based aphasia management (Trebilcock et al., 2024). However, the need for updated content has been identified as a priority by users. In the current document, we present the updated AARP, which was designed to meet recommendations by clinicians and an expert panel of researchers.

Given the significant developments in aphasia research and practice over the past 10 years, a plan to update the AARP was initiated in 2020. An AARP committee was established consisting of 9 aphasia experts from a range of academic institutions across Australia and Mr Kelvin Hill, an expert in clinical guideline development from the Stroke Foundation, Australia.

The committee identified the following priorities in their review of the 2014 AARP:

- The large volumes of high-quality research that has been published since 2014 meant that new statements on best practice were required and the level of evidence for some statements required change.
- Some topics that were described by single statements in the 2014 edition (e.g. group therapy and community aphasia groups, rehabilitation of different language modalities) had sufficient new evidence to be presented as separate statements.
- There is much more research by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander researchers available now compared to 2014. We have taken care

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

to include the valuable work done by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander researchers in the 2024 AARP.

- Increasingly there is awareness and calls to action for clinicians to actively fight against discrimination in healthcare. Following the lead of Speech Pathology Australia's position statement (SPA, 2023a), the 2024 AARP addresses this more explicitly.
- Developments in technology and telerehabilitation necessitated statements on the role of technology in aphasia management (e.g. through a separate statement on tele-assessment).
- Statements have been rephrased to promote person-centred care practice.
- Some areas of research and practice (e.g. mental health and wellbeing, reconstructing social identities) have gained more prominence over the past decade and statements have been added to reflect this change.

The procedure for updating existing statements and developing new statements was as follows:

- 1. The statements that needed updating were identified by the committee.
- 2. New topics that required statements were identified by the committee.
- 3. The AARP update project coordinators (Dr John Pierce, Dr Sam Harvey, Dr Pauline Cuperus) conducted thorough literature searches and drafted an updated or new statement and rationale.

- 4. Two aphasia researchers with expertise in the statement topic were nominated by the Project lead (Prof Miranda Rose) and coordinators to review the statement and give feedback. Whenever possible, these two researchers were not members of the AARP committee. Reviewers were sourced nationally and internationally based on their expertise in particular statement topics.
- 5. The project coordinator updated the draft statement following the reviewers' feedback.
- 6. The reviewers were approached again and asked whether they approved the updated draft statement.

Steps 4-6 were repeated until both reviewers approved the draft statement.

The updated draft statement was presented to the AARP committee. The AARP committee reviewed the statement and either sought clarification, provided feedback or approved the draft statement. Where the committee sought clarification or provided feedback, the project coordinator, with assistance of the expert reviewers where necessary reviewed the statement again and resubmitted the statement for approval at the next AARP committee meeting.

This procedure has resulted in the 2024 AARP. The updated **AARP** consists of 86 best practice statements to support clinicians working across the different stages of aphasia rehabilitation.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

HOW TO USE THIS RESOURCE

The AARP is different from other clinical guidelines in several ways:

- 1) The AARP was written with the Australian context in mind (more on this later).
- 2) The AARP focuses on people with aphasia specifically, rather than stroke survivors more generally.
- 3) The AARP provides guidance for all stages of the care continuum.
- 4) Unlike the Australian and New Zealand Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management (SF, 2024), the AARP has deliberately included research evidence beyond randomised controlled trials (RCTs) and systematic reviews of RCTs. We have included evidence from qualitative studies, from non-randomised group studies, single-subject experimental designs, and policy and position statements, reflecting both the broad scope of the AARP and the state of the evidence in aphasia rehabilitation.

Context

The contextual factors in which these statements have been developed should be taken into account. While these statements are likely to apply to many international aphasia rehabilitation settings, they have been written within the Australian context and are in reference to the current Australian health care system and health challenges. This is particularly relevant for statements regarding: (i) telerehabilitation services which are important for overcoming inequities in health service access across Australia; (ii) use and access of interpreter services which are important due to the multicultural population and the largely monolingual nature of the Australian speech pathology profession; and (iii) the inclusion of best practice statements in regards to working with people from Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander backgrounds (these statements may be helpful for clinicians working in other countries with First Nations peoples, but were written specifically for the Australian context).

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

UNDERSTANDING THE PRESENTATION OF STATEMENTS

Statements

The 86 best practice statements are presented over 8 domains of care:

- 1. receiving the right referrals,
- 2. optimising initial contact,
- 3. setting goals and measuring outcomes,
- 4. assessing,
- 5. providing intervention,
- 6. enhancing the communicative environment,
- 7. enhancing personal factors, and
- 8. planning for transitions.

Statements within each of the 8 domains of care are further categorised under subheadings. For example, the first domain, "receiving the right referrals", has three subheadings: "community awareness of aphasia", "communication training of health professionals", and "referral process".

"Can" and "Should". In general, where the evidence is clear and trusted, or where there is consensus on the basis of clinical experience and expert opinion (Good Practice Point: GPP) the word *"should"* has been used to indicate that the intervention should be routinely carried out. Where the evidence is less clear, and/or there is not a clear clinical consensus, the word *"can"* has been used. However, individual patient

factors should always be taken into account when considering different intervention options.

Where the current evidence does not lead to a recommendation, a statement has not been created. For example, the current evidence on transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) reports that "currently there is no evidence of the effectiveness of tDCS (anodal tDCS, cathodal tDCS) versus control (sham tDCS) for improving functional communication in people with aphasia after stroke (low quality of evidence)" (Elsner et al, 2019). Therefore, no statement is listed for this intervention.

Rationale

Each statement has an accompanying rationale that is designed to provide a short summary of the scientific evidence for the statement in question. Summaries of referenced papers are intentionally brief, highlighting the information that we believe is most clinically relevant. For more information, we encourage readers to look at the **references** (which are listed in Appendix 3) in more detail. If the statement is based on expert opinion, the rationale provides insight into the thought processes behind the statement. The rationale provides additional information to assist clinicians to understand the statement; however, it does not always describe every piece of evidence referenced. A number of the key terms and interventions mentioned within the rationales are defined in the **Glossary** (Appendix 2).

References

In this update of the AARP, the reference column provides more detailed information about relevant references related to the statement

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

and comments on study design. The reference/s used as the primary study related to the statement is/are in bold. The references can be used to look up additional information if required. While every attempt has been made to provide the best available evidence, it is acknowledged that some evidence may have been overlooked during the development of the statements and future published studies may subsequently represent a higher level of evidence. A number of the research methodologies listed in this column are defined in the **Glossary** (Appendix 2).

Levels of evidence

For each statement, the level of evidence of the primary reference/s has been included according the NHMRC Levels of Evidence (NHMRC, 2010) (**see Appendix 1** for the NHMRC evidence hierarchy and explanatory notes). NHMRC levels of evidence were chosen as the NHMRC is the major funding body of the Aphasia CRE (and was also the major funding body of the CCRE in Aphasia Rehabilitation), and also approve the Australian and New Zealand Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management (SF, 2024). As the NHMRC levels of evidence do not include a level for every type of study design the following decisions have been made:

- Where the highest available evidence uses a single case experimental design, a level IV has been assigned
- Where the study uses a **qualitative design**, the study is labelled qualitative or 'qual.'

It must be emphasised that this system only allows for the level of study design to be assessed, which is different to the grade of evidence. The grade of evidence (e.g. A, B, C, D) takes into account the level of evidence along with evidence quantity, quality, consistency, clinical

impact, generalisability and applicability. This additional step was not feasible at the time of developing these statements. As there is no current consensus on ranking of qualitative studies, in this iteration of the updated best practice statements, qualitative studies are utilised as evidence but are not assigned a ranking. We believe the evidence emerging from co-design and co-production research, research concerning consumer and health professional perspectives, and other qualitative research is vital in shaping policy and guideline clinical decisions. Therefore, we classified qualitative evidence in a stand-alone category. Further, in order to make the statements/rationales as clinically relevant as possible, we have chosen to also include lowerlevel evidence (e.g. scoping reviews or qualitative research) when considered useful for context in addition to higher level evidence (e.g., systematic review of RCTs).

In addition to the NHMRC levels, we also describe in more detail the studies included in systematic reviews, for example "systematic review of 10 studies (2 RCTs, 5 group studies, 3 case series)". We believe this additional detail allows clinicians to better gauge the level of evidence attached to a statement and to judge how they want to utilise the information based on that level of evidence. Note the information on included studies for systematic reviews is reported as closely as possible to how it was reported in the paper itself - which is why there is variation across studies in terminology/level of detail.

A disadvantage of the NHMRC-based approach is that it does not necessarily do justice to the important research done in emerging fields, where higher-level evidence (e.g. meta-analyses or systematic reviews of RCTs) may not be available. A good example is the valuable research into health experiences of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, which often consists of qualitative studies (e.g. Ciccone et al., 2019). This

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

field has developed rapidly since the publication of the 2014 AARP and provides clinicians and researchers with much-needed guidance. We therefore want to stress that assigning lower-level evidence to studies does not negate their importance. Indeed, current constructs of evidence-based practice (e.g. EBP-4; Hoffman et al., 2017) include not just the best research evidence but the clinician's expertise (a combination of experience, education and skills), the patient/client's own personal preferences and values, and the practice context where the healthcare interaction is occurring. We also want to acknowledge that much of the research used for the AARP is based on a Western research tradition and want to emphasise the importance of other perspectives (e.g. Aboriginal ways of knowing and doing research - see e.g., Bessarab & Ng'andu, 2010; Haynes et al., 2022) and the integration of different worldviews (Nakata, 2010).

PERSON-CENTRED CARE

The concept of person-centred care has continued to gain traction over the past decade since the publication of the first edition of the AARP (Forsgren et al., 2020). Person-centred care is an approach to healthcare in which the perspectives, values, and preferences of an individual and their family and/or community inform treatment and in which individuals are empowered to make decisions and participate in their own healthcare (World Health Organisation, n.d.). While the AARP contains evidence-based guidelines, which should inform treatment, clinicians must therefore also consider each client's individual context. Factors including age, employment, family and community roles, and personal activities may all influence a person's treatment preferences and priorities, and speech pathologists should collaborate with clients to ensure that their needs are met (SPA, 2020)

Use of a person-centred approach is especially important for culturally responsive practice as it enables self-determination of health and requires clinicians to consider systemic and societal factors that can influence clients' access to and experience of healthcare, including speech pathology, in the Australian healthcare system. This is particularly relevant given the fact that the speech pathology profession in Australia is overwhelmingly white, young, female, and native Englishspeaking (Armstrong et al., 2024; Bennett et al., 2019; SPA, 2015). This is reflective of the white origins of Australian healthcare, where monoculturalism may lead to marginalisation of certain populations and give rise to racism at individual and systemic levels (Mayes et al., 2020; SPA, 2023a). Factors related to racism can lead to detrimental consequences including hesitancy to interact with healthcare services and worse overall health outcomes (Mayes et al., 2020; SPA, 2023a; Watego et al., 2021). Speech Pathology Australia has declared in their Anti-Racism Position Statement that all clinicians have a responsibility to combat racism at individual and system levels (SPA, 2023a). This position is supported by the AARP team, who encourage clinicians to read both documents together. Culturally responsive practice may enable self-determination of health and help to combat racism when speech pathologists work with people who are from cultural and linguistic backgrounds different from their own (see also the Professional Standards for Speech Pathologists in Australia, SPA, 2020).

Culturally responsive care is about acknowledging cultural and linguistic diversity and responding to the influence of (personal) history, culture, language, and social background (SPA, 2020). Effective intercultural communication requires reflexivity on the part of the speech

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

pathologist, over time, to build awareness of how own identities and experiences impact upon intercultural communication (Armstrong, 2023).

In order to facilitate culturally responsive care, Hyter (2014) proposes clinicians engage in the following key constructs:

- 1. Global humility: Recognising that other people may have different but equally valid values and be open to learning from them.
- 2. Self-awareness: Critically reflecting on one's personal and professional assumptions and bias and how these influence one's attitudes to healthcare.
- 3. Global knowledge: Openness to constantly learning from others' cultural beliefs, values, assumptions, and worldviews.
- 4. Global reciprocity: Negotiating cultural differences through critical thinking and adjusting practice to be recognisable and comfortable for the client.

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people

In recent years, increasing research has highlighted the Aboriginal concepts of health and wellbeing. Aboriginal health and wellbeing is holistic and it encompasses physical, spiritual, social, emotional and cultural factors for individuals and their communities (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2022). Much can and should be learned from this holistic approach to health, particularly given the widespread adversity and (intergenerational) trauma caused by past and current policies and practices posed upon Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Clinicians should practice trauma-informed care, reducing the risk of re-traumatisation by being sensitive to individual needs (Tujague & Ryan, 2021). The concept of clinical yarning (Bessarab & Ng'andu,

2010; Lin et al., 2016; see also statement 7.8) is particularly helpful in this regard and should be a prominent and continuing feature of speech pathology when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people and their families/communities.

The educational resources and literature provided throughout the AARP can help people on the journey to self-reflection and learning, although we want to stress that engagement and connecting with local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities and culture and building relationships is key, not least because of the rich diversity of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples and cultures across Australia (e.g., Cochrane et al., 2020; Penn & Armstrong, 2017). Being aimed at clinicians nation-wide, the AARP does not capture these personal and cultural differences – this is an inherent limitation of the document. We therefore strongly encourage speech pathologists to build and maintain relationships with local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander with clients and their families to deliver the best possible healthcare.

People from Culturally and Linguistically Diverse backgrounds

Australia is a country with rich cultural and linguistic diversity, with close to thirty percent of the population having been born overseas, almost half of the population having at least one parent who was born overseas, and over twenty percent of Australians speaking a language other than English at home (Australian Bureau of Statistics, 2022a; 2022b). Treatment priorities can differ across cultures, communities, and families (Centeno et al., 2021) and should be taken into account during aphasia rehabilitation, particularly when the cultural background of the speech pathologist differs to that of the person and family they

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

are supporting. It is therefore important for clinicians to be mindful of the impacts of individuals' culture and language at every stage of aphasia rehabilitation. It is also important for creating successful intercultural communication that clinicians be mindful and aware of their own culture, recognising how it shapes their personal and professional thoughts and behaviours (Armstrong, 2023).

Culturally responsive healthcare is key when working with people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. Such healthcare is respectful of, and relevant to, the health beliefs, health practices, and cultural and linguistic needs of individuals, their families, and communities (Migrant & Refugee Women's Health Partnership, 2019).

Integration of CALD and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander content in the AARP

In the previous AARP (2014), CALD and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander-related statements were presented separately within a section on "enhancing personal factors". With the updated AARP, we have attempted to strike a better balance between on the one hand, these statements being easy to locate for clinicians looking for guidance, and on the other hand clearly presenting these statements as important throughout all phases of aphasia rehabilitation, rather than a separate perhaps afterthought. A stronger focus on working with CALD and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients, with more details and specific recommendations was also previously suggested by clinicians working with the AARP (Trebilcock et al., 2024). For this reason, these statements have been woven throughout all relevant sections of the AARP, as well as presented separately in the "enhancing personal factors" domain. We want to acknowledge here that the presentation of CALD and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander content as separate from or interwoven with other content is a contentious issue and there are good arguments in favour of both approaches, without a single clear-cut or agreed upon solution. In cooperation with experts on the topic, we believe that our solution is a good compromise between the two approaches. We will continue to monitor discussions about this area and decision for the next AARP update and look forward to reading more and learning from researchers who are Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander and/or from CALD backgrounds in the future.

Terminology

Care has been taken to phrase statements using language and terminologies that are as appropriate and culturally safe as possible at the time of publication, considering the most recent developments in these fields. We are aware, however, that developments in these fields are rapid and that the AARP (being a relatively static document) may therefore not reflect the most appropriate terminology and/or practice in the future. We acknowledge this as an inherent weakness of the AARP and are dedicated to ensuring that future editions of this document will be updated accordingly.

It is important to point out here that the term "CALD" can be considered "othering" and "reductive" as it does not do justice to the rich diversity within this group (Armstrong et al., 2024). We acknowledge these limitations but have chosen to use this term in the context of the AARP so as to be able to provide specific clinically relevant guidance when working with people with this background and given the prevalence of this term in Australia.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

We have chosen to use the term "Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people" or "Aboriginal people" when referring to Australia's First Peoples. We want to stress that whenever we use "Aboriginal people", we intend this to also refer to Torres Strait Islander people (see Australian Public Service Commission, 2022).

Additional CALD and Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander resources

We highly recommend readers refer to the references that are mentioned throughout the AARP, in particular in section 7. Additionally, listed below are some organisations and resources that may be helpful:

- Indigenous Allied Health Australia (IAHA). IAHA offers a range of resources (including the IAHA Framework on Cultural Responsiveness in Action (<u>https://iaha.com.au/workforcesupport/training-and-development/cultural-responsiveness-inacti%20on-training</u>)), and also offers Cultural Responsiveness Training.
- Speech Pathology Australia (SPA). At the time of writing, SPA has released a position statement regarding combatting racism (https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Public/libraryviewe r?ResourceID=54). It has also released a Reconciliation Action Plan (https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Public/Public/Abou t-Us/Reconciliation/Reconciliation Action Plan.aspx), as well as a Culturally Responsive Capabilities Framework for working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People (https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/public/libraryviewe r?ResourceID=884)

- Western Australia Centre for Rural Health eLearning (<u>https://lms.wacrh.uwa.edu.au/login/index.php</u>), which offers an eLearning module on Clinical Yarning.
- Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils of Australia (<u>https://fecca.org.au/resources/fact-sheets/</u>) for guidance on working with people from CALD backgrounds.
- Centre for Cultural Diversity and Aging (<u>https://www.culturaldiversity.com.au/</u>) for training/development, multilingual resources, practice guides and more.

ONLINE, COMPREHENSIVE AND CONCISE FORMS OF THE BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS

The Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway best practice statements are available in three different forms:

1. The Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway website <u>www.aphasiapathway.com.au</u> The website contains a detailed introduction to the best practice statements, the 86 statements and their rationales, references, and level of evidence for each statement. It also provides a variety of additional literature, links and practical resources for clinicians.

2. The Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway Comprehensive Supplement. The comprehensive supplement contains a detailed introduction to the best practice statements, the 86 statements and their rationales, references, and level of evidence for each statement. It also contains a full reference list of studies cited in the supplement.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

3. The Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway Concise Supplement. The concise supplement contains the list of 86 best practice statements presented in a table format within a Microsoft Word document. This format may support audit or implementation of the best practice statements.

Both the comprehensive and concise supplements can be downloaded from the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway website: <u>www.aphasiapathway.com.au</u>

DISCLAIMER

The best practice statements are provided as a guide to appropriate practice, subject to the clinician's judgement and the client's preference in each individual case. The statements are designed to provide information to assist decision-making and are based on the best evidence available at the time of their development.

MANAGING CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Members of the AARP committee acknowledge that they had potential conflict of interest with specific BPS where their work was cited as rationale for statements. To minimise conflict of interest throughout the statement review process we asked project team members without conflict of interest to review and make recommendations about specific statements.

FUNDING

We acknowledge the Australian Government National Health and Medical Research Council Centre of Research Excellence (CRE) funding for the CRE in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation.

SUGGESTED CITATION

Centre of Research Excellence in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation. Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024. Comprehensive supplement to the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway. Melbourne, Victoria: CRE in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to acknowledge:

• The 2014 AARP working group who developed and synthesised the initial 2014 best practice statements including Dr Emma Thomas, Professor Linda Worrall, Professor Miranda Rose, Professor Leanne Togher and Professor Emma Power. Ms Justine Robins and Ms Emma Leach who provided administrative support for the development of the CCRE Aphasia Best Practice Statements.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

- RAND/UCLA panel members for the 2014 AARP: Professor Emma Power (lead), Professor Linda Worrall, Professor Miranda Rose, Professor Leanne Togher, Professor Lindsay Nickels, Professor Deborah Hersh, Associate Professor Erin Godecke, Ms Claire O'Connor, Ms Sue Lamont and Ms Kim Clarke.
- The 2024 AARP project officers: Dr Sam Harvey and Dr Pauline Cuperus
- The 2024 AARP committee: Professor Miranda Rose (Chair), Dr Caroline Baker, Associate Professor Erin Godecke, Dr Sam Harvey, Mr Kelvin Hill, Associate Professor Robyn O'Halloran, Dr John Pierce, Professor Emma Power, Dr Kirstine Shrubsole, Associate Professor Sarah J. Wallace, Ms Cassie Wilcox.
- Specialist input to statement development (alphabetical): Dr Lisa Anemaat, Dr Caroline Baker, Dr Nicholas Behn, Dr Emily Brogan, Dr Sonia Brownsett, Dr Marcella Carragher, Professor Lucy Dipper, Dr Sarah D'Souza, Dr Emma Finch, Ms Amy Ford, Dr Abby Foster, Associate Professor Erin Godecke, Dr Solène Hameau, Dr Sam Harvey, Professor Deborah Hersh, Associate Professor Annie Hill, Professor Ian Kneebone, Dr Lucie Lanyon, Ms Chelsea Larkman, Dr Karen McLellan, Ms Kathleen Mellahn, Dr Maya Menahemi-Falkov, Dr Zaneta Mok, Dr Leana Nichol, Professor Lyndsey Nickels, Dr Sarah Northcott, Dr Denise O'Connor, Associate Professor Robyn O'Halloran, Ms Simone Owen, Ms Kathryn Pettigrove, Dr John Pierce, Professor Emma Power, Dr Alexia Rhodes, Dr Rachael Rietdijk, Professor Miranda Rose, Dr Brooke Ryan, Dr Samantha Siyambalapitiya, Dr Kirstine Shrubsole, Dr Gillian Steel, Professor Leanne Togher, Ms Genevieve Vuong, Dr Sarah E. Wallace, Associate

Professor Sarah J. Wallace, Associate Professor Dana Wong, Professor Linda Worrall, and the Missing Voices project team (Professor Beth Armstrong, Professor Deborah Hersh, Associate Professor Judith Katzenellenbogen, Associate Professor Julie Coffin, Professor Sandra Thompson, Dr Natalie Ciccone, Professor Colleen Hayward, Ms Deborah Woods, Professor Leon Flicker and Ms Meaghan McAllister, Edith Cowan University).

• The AARP editor: Ms Kathryn Pettigrove



Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

PART 2 - APHASIA REHABILITATION BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS

SECTION 1: RECEIVING THE RIGHT REFERRALS

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 1: RECEIVING THE RIGHT REFERRALS	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
Community awareness of aphasia		
 1.1 Community awareness of aphasia should be raised. Rationale: It is well recognised that aphasia is largely unknown to the public (Code et al., 2001; Elman et al., 2000; Mavis, 2007; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2002). A lack of public awareness of aphasia has resulting economic, psychosocial, and political consequences (Elman et al., 2000). Various phone and face-to-face surveys across multiple English-speaking countries show that while 9.25% to 18% of people have heard about aphasia, only 1.54% to 11.53% have some basic knowledge of aphasia (Code et al., 2001; Mavis, 2007; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2002). Internationally, members of the aphasia community (people with aphasia, family members, friends, carers, clinicians, researchers, volunteers, and consumer organisation representatives) agree that raising community awareness and understanding of aphasia is essential (Bennington et al., 2024). Public awareness needs to be raised by as many people affected by aphasia as possible, including speech pathologists. This can occur in both small and large ways across levels of care and service planning. 	 Code et al., 2001: Qualitative study Bennington et al., 2024: Survey Elman et al., 2000: Discussion paper Mavis, 2007: Qualitative study Simmons-Mackie et al., 2002: Qualitative study 	• Qual

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

 1.2 In awareness campaigns, it should be highlighted that aphasia can be an early and persisting symptom of stroke. Rationale: Recognition of stroke symptoms and subsequent activation of emergency services are critical to ensuring optimal outcomes (SF, 2024). 'Speech problems' are commonly reported during ambulance calls for stroke events but are often not associated with recognition of stroke (Mosley et al., 2007). Increased recognition of aphasia as a stroke symptom by the community and emergency services, including emergency call operators, may facilitate appropriate, timely stroke care during the hyper-acute phase of care. 	•	Mosley et al., 2007: Non- randomised observational study SF, 2024: Clinical guidelines	• GPP
 1.3 Appropriate aphasia-friendly stroke information should be given to people with aphasia and their family, friends and carers. Rationale: Research shows that stroke patients (including those with aphasia) and their families are dissatisfied with the stroke information provided to them and have a poor understanding of stroke and associated issues (Forster et al., 2012). There is evidence that provision of stroke information can improve patient and carer knowledge of stroke, increase aspects of patient satisfaction, and may reduce patient depression scores (Forster et al., 2012). However, the provision of printed health education materials to people with aphasia does not routinely take into consideration their language and associated reading difficulties (Rose et al., 2003). Aphasia-friendly materials have been shown to assist people with aphasia to comprehend health information (Rose et al., 2003). Additionally, providing information in a way that actively involves patients and families, such as offering repeated opportunities to ask questions, has been shown to be more effective than providing information on one occasion only (Forster et al., 2012). Some examples of useful stroke and aphasia resources include <i>the Aphasia Handbook</i> (SF/AAA, 2023), <i>My Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2023 – also available in other languages), and <i>Our Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2021). 	•	Forster et al., 2012: Cochrane review Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design	• 1

Communication training of health professionals		
 1.4 Speech pathologists should provide education about the characteristics of aphasia and training on supported communication techniques to all people involved in the care of people with aphasia. Rationale: Health professionals, especially those in a community setting, may have a lack of knowledge about aphasia and find it difficult to communicate well with people with language impairments to maximise health outcomes (Burns et al., 2015; Casey et al., 2023). For some professionals such as emergency medical services providers (paramedics) and emergency department nurses, a knowledge of aphasia is important to facilitate diagnosis of stroke through screening protocols (Patel et al., 2022). Understanding the characteristics of aphasia and how to communicate well with the person with aphasia may enhance health professionals' communication with their clients and ensure appropriate referrals to a speech pathologist. Communication partner training can improve the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of communication partners of people with aphasia. For some communication partners, such as health professionals, students and volunteers, CPT can result in (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016): increased communication partner knowledge of the characteristics of aphasia, increased use of effective communication strategies, decreased use of effective communication, increased ability to establish rapport, and increased self-confidence and positivity towards communication, all of which may enhance timely and appropriate referrals for people with aphasia. Research has confirmed the CPT outcomes for unfamiliar partners are similar across varied modes of delivery including face-to-face, tele-delivery or online training formats (Cameron et al., 2019, Finch et al., 2020; Heard et al., 2017; Power et al., 2020). 	 Burns et al., 2015: Qualitative study Cameron et al., 2019: RCT Casey et al., 2023: Qualitative study Finch et al., 2020: Qualitative study Heard et al., 2017: Parallel randomised trial Patel et al., 2022: Retrospective chart review Power et al., 2020: RCT Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group designs, 8 case studies, 7 SCED, 5 qualitative studies) Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group design, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies, 1 SCED) 	

Referral process		
 1.5 People with acute onset of aphasia should be suspected of having a stroke and transferred directly to a hospital with dedicated acute stroke services. Rationale: Acute onset aphasia is a common sign of stroke, and prompt recognition of this may facilitate appropriate, timely stroke care during the hyper-acute phase of care. There is strong evidence that patients who receive timely and organised stroke unit care are more likely to survive their stroke, return home and make a good recovery (Langhorne & Ramachandra, 2020). 	 Langhorne & Ramachandra, Cochrane review 	2020: •
 1.6 All stroke patients should be screened using a valid and reliable tool that is sensitive to the presence of aphasia. Rationale: Prompt, accurate identification of aphasia in stroke patients is an essential component of stroke care. Efficient and effective screening procedures enable all patients with aphasia to receive appropriate education, support, and intervention, and promote the optimisation of rehabilitation outcomes. Inadequate screening procedures risk missed diagnoses, inappropriate patient management and resultant unnecessary healthcare burden. Aphasia is a common consequence of stroke; therefore, all stroke patients should be screened for language deficits in the acute post-recovery phase of care. 	• N/A	• GPP
1.7 Any person with suspected aphasia should be referred to a speech pathologist. Rationale: There is a paucity of information on the best procedure (e.g., blanket referral) for referring people with aphasia to speech pathology services. However, it has been suggested that the multidisciplinary team should assess stroke patients and formulate a management plan within 24-48 hours of admission (The Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010). Organised systems and protocols are required to enable the rapid transfer of stroke patients from the emergency department to a stroke unit and referral to all multidisciplinary members of the team, including speech pathology.	 The Canadian Stroke Str 2010: Clinical guidelines 	ategy, • GPP

1.8 Speech pathology services for people with aphasia, including those in the community, should be promoted to all potential referral agencies to ensure appropriate access to services.	• N/A	• GPP
Rationale: It is recognised that some people with aphasia post-stroke may not present to a hospital or be referred to the speech pathology service before they are discharged. It is therefore important that potential referring services (e.g., general practitioners, community-based health professionals, aged-care facilities) are aware of aphasia and its impacts, and how to refer to speech pathology services.		



SECTION 2: OPTIMISING INITIAL CONTACT

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 2: OPTIMISING INITIAL CONTACT	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
Initial assessment		
2.1 People with suspected aphasia should receive assessment by a speech pathologist to determine the presence and severity of aphasia. Rationale: The Australian Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management (SF, 2024) aphasia guidelines recommend that patients with suspected communication difficulties undergo comprehensive evaluation by a specialist clinician. In many healthcare institutions this evaluation is conducted by the speech pathologist. A comprehensive clinical examination enables early identification and diagnosis of patients who, if unattended, could be left with avoidable disability and resultant healthcare burden (Sackett, 1992). Expedient and accurate diagnosis results in treatment that is appropriate and cost-effective (Aliu & Chung, 2012). Severity of aphasia has been demonstrated to be a predictor of patient prognosis and outcome (Kertesz & McCabe, 1977; Lazar et al., 2010; Pedersen et al., 2004). Accurate determination of patient status is therefore paramount in planning treatment options and guiding management plans. Early identification of the presence and severity of aphasia by a speech pathologist is therefore a vital step in ensuring the implementation of appropriate intervention plans and optimisation of service delivery options.	 Aliu & Chung, 2012: Discussion paper Kertesz & McCabe, 1977: Non- randomised observational study Lazar et al., 2010: Non- randomised observational study Pedersen et al., 2004: Non- randomised observational study Sackett, 1992: Background paper SF, 2024: Clinical guidelines 	• GPP
 2.2 Stroke patients with suspected aphasia should receive assessment by a speech pathologist to determine the patient's ability to communicate their healthcare needs. Rationale: Approximately 50% of stroke inpatients have difficulty communicating their healthcare needs in hospital (O'Halloran et al., 2012). The incorporation of patient needs and values in healthcare decision-making is a key component in the delivery of evidence-based care (Hoffman et al., 2024). Patients who are unable to communicate their healthcare needs are therefore at risk of not 	 Bartlett et al., 2008: Retrospective chart review Carragher et al., 2024: Qualitative study Clancy et al., 2020: Qualitative study 	• IV

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

receiving evidence-based healthcare. Patients with aphasia who are unable to communicate effectively with healthcare providers may receive inadequate and inappropriate health care in hospital and experience feelings of distress and anger (Carragher et al., 2024; Clancy et al., 2018; Heard, et al., 2020; Hemsley et al., 2013; Parr et al., 1997). Additionally, people with communication difficulties, including people with aphasia, are three times more likely to experience an adverse event in hospital (Bartlett et al., 2008), have poorer patient experience (Hoffman et al., 2005), and poorer clinical outcomes (Stransky et al., 2018). Adequate assessment of the functional communication abilities of each person with suspected aphasia is therefore imperative in ensuring adequate support for all stroke patients.	 Heard et al., 2022: Qualitative study Hemsley et al., 2013: Qualitative study Hoffman et al., 2005: Survey Hoffmann et al., 2024: Textbook O'Halloran et al., 2012: Non-randomised observational study Parr et al., 1997: Qualitative study Stransky et al., 2018: retrospective chart review 	
Initial prognosis		
 2.3 Individual language recovery cannot be accurately predicted immediately post stroke, therefore all individuals with post-stroke aphasia should be offered aphasia rehabilitation services. Rationale: The Australian Stroke Coalition (ASC) report that the current literature fails to identify any clear indicators (clinical or otherwise) that could be used to definitively confirm someone as ineligible for or unlikely to benefit from rehabilitation. Based on this, the ASC Assessment for Rehabilitation: Pathway and Decision-Making Tool (ASC Working Group, 2012) recommends that all patients (including people with aphasia) be considered for rehabilitation unless they meet one of four exceptions: (i) return to pre-morbid function, (ii) palliation, (iii) coma and/or unresponsive, not simply drowsy and (iv) declined rehabilitation. 	 ASC Rehabilitation Working Group, 2012: Pathway & decision-making tool 	• GPP
Initial management		
2.4 Speech pathologists should talk with the person with aphasia and their family, friends and carers about the roles the client has in their family and community. Rationale: Apart from helping to build a relationship, such conversations may reveal important information that can guide a speech pathologist's interactions and management. For example, it may	• Coffin et al, 2004: Qual.	• GPP

become apparent that the client is an Aboriginal Elder in which case a particular level of respect is appropriate (Coffin et al., 2004), or the client may have a strong community role involving public speaking which may influence goal setting and selection of intervention strategies.		
 2.5 People with aphasia and their family, friends and carers should be offered information about stroke and aphasia tailored to meet their changing needs using relevant language and communication formats. Rationale: Education is a key component of aphasia rehabilitation which supports access to services and participation in healthcare decision-making (Rose et al., 2018). This can improve the way people with aphasia and their carers engage with rehabilitation, and their levels of self-efficacy (Eames et al., 2013). People with aphasia report the need for information about the causes and consequences of aphasia, their prognosis, and what to expect at different stages of recovery (Worrall et al., 2011). This information should also be provided to families, carers, and friends of people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2018; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017) so they can become more effective communication partners and advocates and ensure ongoing inclusion of the person with aphasia. Information should be tailored to meet individual needs using relevant language and communication formats (Worrall et al., 2011), including aphasia-friendly materials for people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2003). Information should be provided at different stages in the recovery process with opportunities for follow-up, clarification, and reinforcement of information (Crocker et al., 2021). Some examples of useful stroke and aphasia resources include <i>the Aphasia Handbook</i> (SF/AAA, 2023), <i>My Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2023 – also available in other languages), and <i>Our Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2021). 	 Crocker et al., 2021: Cochrane review (not restricted to aphasia) Eames et al., 2013: RCT Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design Rose et al., 2018: Qualitative study Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017: Qualitative study Worrall et al., 2011: Qualitative study 	
 2.6 Speech pathologists can offer education and training to support families, friends and carers of people with aphasia to become skilled conversational partners. Rationale: People with aphasia may rely heavily on close communication partners such as family members in the early stages after stroke (Ford et al., 2024). However, communication partners such as family members report that communication can be challenging with people with aphasia after 	 Croteau et al., 2020: Qualitative study Ford et al., 2024: Qualitative study Howe et al., 2012: Qualitative study 	• 111-2

stroke (Croteau et al., 2020; Howe et al., 2012) and many express a need for communication training (Howe et al., 2012). Communication partner training can improve the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of communication partners of people with aphasia. While the level of evidence for partner training efficacy is higher for health professionals, there is still developing evidence for training family, friends and carers. Therefore, for any family, friends and carers who are ready (e.g., in terms of availability, motivation, level of carer burden: Shrubsole et al., 2023), CPT can be provided. Research suggests that people with aphasia may be more able to participate in conversation with a skilled, supportive communication partner (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016).	 Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group designs, 8 case studies, 7 SCEDs, 5 qualitative studies) Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group designs, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies, 1 SCED) Shrubsole et al., 2023: Systematic review of 17 studies (5 qualitative, 4 quantitative, 8 mixed methods) 	
 2.7 Speech pathologists should provide hospital staff with individualised communication strategies that are tailored to enhance both care-related and social and emotional communication with each patient with aphasia. Rationale: People with communication difficulty are three times more likely to experience preventable adverse events in hospital (Bartlett et al., 2008). Adverse events for people with aphasia have been reported to be associated with specific difficulties communicating their needs to staff (Hemsley et al., 2013; Sullivan et al., 2023). However, effective and positive healthcare communication can improve patient experience (Bright & Reeves, 2022; Clancy et al., 2018; D'Souza et al., 2021a; Heard et al., 2022) for people with communication disability in hospital settings. Individually tailored communication strategies can help facilitate healthcare communication (Carragher et al., 2021; Carragher et al., 2024; Clancy et al., 2018; D'Souza et al., 2021a; Heard et al., 2024). Each patient should be assessed by a speech pathologist to identify the patient's communication needs and the tailored strategies that are effective in meeting these needs (Shand et al., 2024). Speech pathologists should recommend individually tailored communication support strategies to health staff. The successful implementation of communication strategies requires that recommendations are clearly communicated to health staff (Heard et al., 2022) who have knowledge of aphasia and positive attitudes towards communicating with people with a communication disability (O'Halloran et al., 2012). 	 Bartlett et al., 2008: Retrospective chart review Bright & Reeves, 2022: Qualitative meta-synthesis Carragher et al., 2021: Qualitative study Carragher et al., 2024: Qualitative study Clancy et al., 2020: Qualitative study D'Souza et al., 2021a: Qualitative study D'Souza et al., 2021d: Qualitative study D'Souza et al., 2021d: Qualitative study Heard et al., 2022: Qualitative study Hemsley et al., 2013: Qualitative study O'Halloran et al., 2012: Qualitative meta-synthesis Shand et al., 2024: mixed methods study 	• Qual

By providing strategies that target both transaction (i.e., the exchange of information) and interaction (i.e., the relational element of communication), therapeutic relationships can be fostered (Bright & Reeves, 2022). This may in turn result in improved engagement in the rehabilitative process, a sense of safety, and promotion of wellbeing and adjustment to stroke during early recovery for people with aphasia (Bright & Reeves, 2022; Clancy et al., 2020).	 Sullivan et al., 2023: Qualitative study
Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander c	lients
7.5 Speech pathologists should routinely check Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status in clients' health records and with the clients themselves.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
Additional considerations when working with clients with a CALD background	
7.15 Where a patient reports having used more than one language premorbidly, comprehensive information about the patient's language history should be obtained.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence

SECTION 3: SETTING GOALS AND MEASURING OUTCOMES

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 3: SETTING GOALS AND MEASURING OUTCOMES	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
Goal setting		
 3.1 Goal setting should be a dynamic process that is reviewed across the continuum of care in order to reflect the client and family context, wishes and language recovery. Rationale: Goals change with time - as language recovery occurs, as people become familiar with the realities of rehabilitation, and as they encounter the challenges of living life with aphasia (Hersh et al., 2012). In order for the goals of aphasia management to remain suitable, relevant and motivating, goal setting should therefore be a continual process that is reviewed periodically across the continuum of care. 	• Hersh et al., 2012: Discussion paper	• Qual.
3.2 Therapists should explain the goal setting process to the person with aphasia and their family and carers in an accessible way. Rationale: 'Person-centred' goal setting actively involves the person with aphasia and their family and includes education about the goal setting process. This includes education about realistic goal achievement with consideration of the environment and stage of rehabilitation. It may also involve explanations of terminology and discussions to establish a common understanding of what goals mean for each person involved in the process. The outcomes of goal-setting discussions should be made available in written, aphasia-friendly formats to the person with aphasia and their family.	• N/A	• GPP

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

 3.3 Collaborative goal setting between the speech pathologist, person with aphasia, their family and other team members should primarily focus on the goals identified by the person with aphasia and their family with consideration of assessment findings. Rationale: Patient-focused goal setting should centre on the goals and preferences identified by the person with aphasia and their family with consideration to assessment results. Discussing goals and the goal setting process prior to formal assessment can facilitate the development of patient-focused goals, as well as the appropriate selection of formal and informal assessment processes. Establishing goals that are meaningful to the person with aphasia and their family may enhance motivation and engagement in the rehabilitation process. 	• N/A		•	GPP
 3.4 Systems should be established to ensure involvement of people with aphasia and their family as part of the rehabilitation team. Rationale: It is important that people with aphasia and their family, friends and carers are involved in goal setting discussions with the multidisciplinary team. The literature proposes that a multidisciplinary team approach involving the client along with specialists such as speech pathologists, improves discussion and documentation of client goals (Rosewilliam et al., 2011). Developing multidisciplinary goals at the client's bedside and/or holding regular family meetings to discuss goal setting and progress can be an effective way of including clients and their families in the goal setting and broader rehabilitative process. 	 Rosewilliam et al Systematic revier (18 qualitative, 8 1 mixed-method 	I., 2011: w of 27 studies quantitative, and studies)	•	III-2
 3.5 The 'SMARTER' framework can be used to help ensure that goal setting is truly collaborative and client-centred. Rationale: It is recommended that the SMARTER framework is used alongside SMART goals. This can encourage greater collaboration within the goal setting process, additionally emphasising potential areas of improvement. The SMARTER goal setting framework states that goals should be: Shared, Monitored, Accessible, Relevant, Transparent, Evolving and Relationship-centred (Hersh et al., 2012). 	 Hersh et al., 2012 paper 	2: Discussion	•	Qual.

 3.6 Maintaining or improving mental health and psychological wellbeing should be an explicit target of intervention for people with aphasia, therefore requiring attention during goal setting. Rationale: Mood disorders occur frequently among stroke survivors (Campbell-Burton et al., 2012; Hackett & Pickles, 2014; Knapp et al., 2020), and those with aphasia are at particularly high risk (Hilari et al., 2009; Kauhanen et al., 2000; Mitchell et al., 2017; Thomas & Lincoln, 2008; Zanella et al., 2023). Given the significant negative and potentially long-term effects of depression on stroke survivors (Bartoli et al., 2018; Donnellan et al., 2010; House et al., 2001), maintaining or improving psychological wellbeing should be an explicit treatment target as negotiated and agreed upon with the person with aphasia. As such, goals relating to mental health and wellbeing should be included in goal-setting discussions. 	 Bartoli et al., 2018: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 7 studies Donnellan et al., 2010: Non- randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2009: Qualitative study House et al., 2001: Non-randomised observational study Mitchell et al., 2017: Meta-analyses of 108 studies Kauhanen et al., 2000: non- randomised observational study Thomas & Lincoln, 2008: Non- randomised observational study Zanella et al., 2023: Non- randomised observational study
Measuring outcomes	
 3.7 Outcome measures for people with aphasia should be relevant, meaningful, and important to stakeholders. Rationale: People with aphasia, speech pathologists and funding agencies desire evidence of therapy outcomes that improve communication and enhance quality of life for people with aphasia (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2005). The ICF (WHO, 2001) provides one framework for organising and systematically documenting rehabilitation outcomes. The ICF is based on the assumption that the ultimate desired outcome of rehabilitation is improvement in the ability to participate in the areas of life most important to that person (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2005). 	 Simmons-Mackie et al., 2005: Qualitative study WHO, 2001: WHO framework

 3.8 Outcome measures for people with aphasia should be suitable to the construct being measured and psychometrically robust (reliable, valid and sensitive). Rationale: Measuring changes in aphasia requires testing that is "reliable enough to give consistent measures; sensitive enough to measure the improvement that the particular therapy involved is intended to produce; and valid so that it measures changes that are of real consequence in the patients' lives" (Howard & Hatfield, 1987, p.113). Reliability, validity and responsiveness have widespread usage and are discussed as being essential to the evaluation of outcome measures (Salter, Teasell, Bhogal, Zettler, & Foley, 2012). Many outcome measures used within stroke rehabilitation have been assessed across these domains in the Evidence-Based Review of Stroke Rehabilitation (EBRSRS) relating to outcome measures (http://ebrsr.com/uploads/Chapter-21-outcomeassessment-SREBR-15_1.pdf). 	• N/A	• GPP
 3.9 Outcome data for people with aphasia should be reported in a full and unbiased manner to people with aphasia and their families. Rationale: Providing outcome data ensures that people with aphasia and their families have a clear understanding of what has been done in aphasia rehabilitation and how effective or ineffective it has been. It will provide them with the best basis to make informed choices regarding future engagement in intervention. Progress updates and outcome data should be provided in aphasia-friendly formats for people with aphasia, to promote their understanding (Rose et al., 2003). 	 Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design 	• GPP
Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander	clients	
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for ration	ale and evidence

7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
7.9 Goal setting and aphasia management should be person-centred and strength-based and should be considerate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander models of health and wellbeing.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence



SECTION 4: ASSESSING

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 4: ASSESSING	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
4.1 The assessment process should be iterative and dynamic. Rationale: Therapy, assessment and goal setting should continuously inform each other producing a responsive and tailored intervention sequence. The speech pathologist may start this process by talking to the person with aphasia, using supported conversation, to find out what is concerning and motivating the client. This will help to inform a collaborative goal setting process. The resulting goals should guide a tailored assessment strategy, which may involve a choice of formal and/or informal assessments, functional assessment, discourse analysis, assessment of mood and self-esteem, goal attainment scaling etc. The choice of treatment, following from the goal setting discussion and assessment results, should then be made with further collaborative discussion with the person with aphasia and their family. Ongoing assessment should also be woven into therapy as part of a dynamic process (Hersh et al., 2013).	• Hersh et al., 2013: Background paper	• GPP
4.2 Assessment should be therapeutic. Rationale: The process of assessment should be a learning opportunity, not only for the speech pathologist, but also for the person with aphasia. The client should find the actual assessment to be therapeutic in that it provides information on which they can build and progress. The speech pathologist should make this process accessible by explaining clearly what the assessment is for and why it is worth doing. The results can be discussed afterwards, integrated into further discussion and clearly linked to the subsequent choices of therapy tasks. The links between assessment, goals and therapy should be transparent and part of an evolving and dynamic progression through the period of treatment (Hersh et al., 2013).	• Hersh et al., 2013: Background paper	• GPP

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

4.3 All domains of functioning and disability should be considered for assessment. Rationale: The assessment process should be flexible and holistic and should consider whatever aspects are important or relevant to the person with aphasia and their family. For assessment that aims to guide treatment planning, assessment tasks should be designed accordingly, keeping in mind individual and family-centred needs. People with aphasia and their family, friends and carers identify a range of treatment outcome priorities for which assessment might be considered (Baker et al., 2022; Wallace et al., 2016; Wallace et al., 2017), including language, communication, emotional and physical wellbeing, life participation, quality of life and patient-reported impact of treatment and satisfaction with treatment (Baker et al., 2022; Wallace et al., 2017; Wallace et al., 2019). The ICF (WHO, 2001) can also be used as a framework to ensure all key aspects of health have been considered in the assessment process.	• • •	Baker et al., 2022: Scoping review of 91 studies (39 RCTs, 22 cohort studies, 22 qualitative studies, 8 case series) Wallace et al., 2016: Qualitative study Wallace et al., 2017: Synthesis of 3 consensus studies Wallace et al., 2019: Consensus statement WHO, 2001: WHO framework	•	Qual
4.4 The person with aphasia and key conversation partners should be invited to contribute to the assessment.	•	N/A	•	GPP
Rationale: During assessment, the speech pathologist and client may learn a great deal from the opinions of key communication partners of the person with aphasia. These may include not only family members, but also friends, carers and other health professionals who communicate with the person with aphasia. It may also be useful to assess how these people act as conversation partners during this process.				
Just as aphasia is considered a family problem, intervention may involve family solutions, but this requires assessments to be dynamic, transparent and relevant to all those affected by the aphasia. Keeping key conversation partners involved and informed throughout the assessment process can be helpful in building a holistic approach to intervention. Family, friends and carers can also provide important background information relating to the person with aphasia's medical history and premorbid status.				

 4.5 All assessment results should be documented and reported in an accessible format to people with aphasia and their families. Rationale: As with the results of goal setting discussions, the results of assessments should be presented in written, aphasia-friendly formats, so that clients and their families can take results away with them, learn from them, and keep them as part of a record of change over time. Clients should be encouraged to keep all their aphasia assessment results in one folder so that transferring to new speech pathologists results in a smooth transition. Having an accessible record of assessment results contributes to the idea that assessment can itself be a learning opportunity. This sharing of information can also equalise the relationship between the client and the speech pathologist, and increase the transparency of the rehabilitation process. 	• N/A	• GPP
 4.6 Tele-assessment is an evidence-based alternative to in-person assessment. Rationale: Several (systematic) reviews have concluded that tele-assessment is a valid and feasible alternative to in-person assessment (Hall et al., 2013; Teti et al., 2023). Tele-assessment may be particularly useful with clients living in remote areas and/or with severe mobility issues when travelling is not an option. While tele-assessment may be more challenging to administer in the case of more severe aphasia, accuracy of the assessment has been found to be high regardless of aphasia severity (Hill et al., 2009). Some factors that speech pathologists may want to be mindful of when considering tele-assessment are: 1) quality of the internet connection; 2) suitability of the particular assessment to be conducted remotely (e.g., assessments with pictures may need to be scanned prior to assessment); 3) suitability of the technology and its features to administer the assessment with high fidelity/validity; 4) the speech pathologist's need for training and support in administration of tele-assessment in order to ensure assessment fidelity; 5) the availability of family/carer assistance (particularly with setting up the technology required for assessment); and 6) the presence of other impairments (e.g., hemiparesis, hearing/vision problems) (Dekhtyar et al., 2020; Hall et al., 2013; Hilari et al., 2023; Hill et al., 2009). 	 Dekhtyar et al., 2020: Non-randomised observational study Hall et al., 2013: Systematic review of 4 assessment studies Hilari et al., 2023: Qualitative study Theodoros et al., 2009; Hill et al., 2009: randomised double-crossover agreement design, Teti et al., 2023: Scoping review of 25 studies of which 2 involved assessment 	• 111-2

 4.7 People with aphasia should be screened by health professionals, including speech pathologists, for mood problems (depression and/or anxiety). Rationale: Mood disorders occur frequently after stroke (Campbell-Burton et al., 2012; Hackett & Pickles, 2014; Knapp et al., 2020), with people with aphasia at particularly high risk of depression and anxiety (Hilari, 2011; Mitchell et al., 2017; Morris, et al., 2017; Kauhanen et al., 2000; Thomas & Lincoln, 2008; Zanella et al., 2023). For these reasons, people with aphasia should be routinely screened for mood problems using supported communication techniques to enable self-report (e.g., Depression Intensity Scale Circles – Turner-Stokes et al., 2005) and/or validated observational tools (e.g., The Stroke Aphasia Depression Questionnaire – Sutcliffe & Lincoln, 1998; The Behavioural Outcomes of Anxiety – Linley-Adams et al., 2014; Eccles et al., 2017) (see Van Dijk et al., 2016). 	 Campbell-Burton et al., 2012: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 44 studies Eccles et al., 2017: Phase 1: a cross- sectional questionnaire. Phase 2: a randomised longitudinal design Hackett & Pickles, 2014: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 61 studies Hilari, 2011: Non-randomised observational study Kauhanen et al., 2000: non- randomised observational study Knapp et al., 2020: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 97 studies Mitchell et al. 2017: Meta-analysis of 108 studies Morris et al., 2017: Non-randomised observational study Thomas & Lincoln, 2008: Non- randomised observational study Van Dijk et al., 2016: Systematic review of 15 quantitative studies Zanella et al., 2023: Non-randomised observational study 	• GPP
 4.8 People with suspected clinical depression or anxiety following mood screening should receive further mood assessment using a clinical interview by a medical practitioner and/or psychologist who is competent in communicating with people with aphasia. Rationale: Mood disorders occur frequently among stroke survivors (Campbell-Burton et al., 2012; Hackett & Pickles, 2014; Knapp et al., 2020), and the long-term negative impacts of this can be 	 Baker et al., 2021: Qualitative study Bartoli et al., 2018: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 7 studies Donnellan et al., 2010: Non- randomised observational study 	• GPP

significant (Bartoli et al., 2018; Donnellan et al., 2010; House et al., 2001). Stroke survivors with aphasia are at particularly high risk of anxiety and depression (Hilari, 2011; Kauhanen et al., 2000; Mitchell et al., 2017; Morris et al., 2017; Thomas & Lincoln, 2008; Zanella et al., 2023), while also being potentially harder to diagnose due to communication difficulties. For these reasons, after mood screening (see statement 4.7), people with aphasia who are suspected of having clinical depression or anxiety should receive further mood assessment from an appropriately qualified mental health professional (Kneebone, 2016). Communication difficulties can impact the provision of healthcare, particularly in managing mood problems (Baker et al., 2021; Carragher et al., 2021; Kagan, 1995). It is therefore important that the assessing professional is familiar with aphasia. Aphasia-friendly information and supported communication strategies should be used in the clinical interview.	 Campbell-Burton et al., 2012: Systematic review and meta- analysis of 44 studies Carragher et al., 2021: Qualitative study Hackett & Pickles, 2014: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 61 studies Hilari, 2011: Non-randomised observational study House et al., 2001: Non-randomised observational study Kagan et al., 1995: Theoretical review Kauhanen et al., 2000: non- randomised observational study Knapp et al., 2020: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 97 studies Mitchell et al. 2017: Meta-analysis of 108 studies Morris et al., 2017: Non-randomised observational study Thomas & Lincoln, 2008: Non- randomised observational study Zanella et al., 2023: Non- randomised observational study Zanella et al., 2023: Non- randomised observational study
Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cl	ients
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence

7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
7.10 When considering assessment of aphasia in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients, Speech Pathologists should be mindful of the significant limitations of and potential harms in using formal assessment tools.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
Additional considerations when working with clients with a CALD background	
7.16 Where possible, assessments should be used that are appropriate to the languages/dialects and cultural backgrounds of each client.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence
7.18 Language behaviours unique to the bi/multilingual person with aphasia such as translation, language mixing and code-switching should be considered in both assessment and intervention planning.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence

SECTION 5: PROVIDING INTERVENTION

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 5: PROVIDING INTERVENTION	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
 5.1 Speech and language therapy should be provided to people with aphasia – this can target functional communication, reading comprehension, auditory comprehension, general expressive language and/or written language. Rationale: The results of a Cochrane review (Brady et al., 2016) and a meta-analysis (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a) showed that aphasia therapy was more effective than no aphasia therapy for all language modalities and for generalisation into everyday communicative activities. See Treating different language modalities (statements 5.9 to 5.14) for detailed recommendations relating to different language and communication domains. 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review The RELEASE collaborators, 2022a: Meta-analysis of 25 RCTs (959 IPD) 	• 1
Therapy timing		
 5.2 People with aphasia should be offered therapy commencing within the first month post stroke onset to gain benefits in receptive and expressive language and communication in everyday environments. Rationale: A meta-analysis of individual participant data from 174 studies (47 RCTs, 18 non-RCTs, 5 registries and 104 case-series/cohort studies) investigated predictors of language recovery by modality (auditory comprehension, naming and functional communication), and overall language recovery (The RELEASE collaborators, 2021). The effects of age, aphasia chronicity and sex were included in the analyses. 	• The RELEASE collaborators, 2021: Meta-analysis of 174 studies (5,928 IPD)	• 1
Treatment provided within one month of stroke onset was associated with the greatest mean absolute change in overall language ability, more correct responses in auditory comprehension and naming tasks, and greatest absolute gain in functional communication. The meta-analysis results were unable		

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024
to account for the role of spontaneous recovery and this needs to be taken into consideration when interpreting these data.		
 5.3 People with aphasia more than three months post onset of stroke should be offered intensive/high dose speech and language therapy if they can tolerate it. Rationale: The results of a Cochrane review (Brady et al., 2016) suggested a benefit of intensive/high dose over non-intensive/low dose speech and language therapy on measures of functional communication. However, there was a significantly higher dropout rate from high dose/high intensity intervention, particularly in studies recruiting participants within 3 months of aphasia onset. In The RELEASE group meta-synthesis of individual participant data (n= 959 IPD; 25 RCTs; The RELEASE collaborators, 2022b) subgroup analyses revealed that study participants who were less than or equal to 2 hours per week (n=62 IPD; 2 RCTs), 3-5 days per week (n=3 IPD; 1 RCT), and from 20 to 50 hours total (n=27 IPD; 3 RCTs). For participants more than 3 months after stroke onset greatest gains followed 3-4 hours per week (n=25 IPD; 2 RCTs), 5 days per week (n= 44 IPD; 1 RCT), for equal to or more than 50 hours of therapy) n=15 IPD; 1 RCT). However, caution is required in interpreting this finding given the low numbers of IPD/RCTs in these specific subgroup analyses. 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review The RELEASE collaborators, 2022b: Meta-analysis 25 RCTs (959 IPD) 	• 1
 5.4 People with chronic aphasia should be offered speech and language therapy to gain benefits in receptive and expressive language, and communication in everyday environments. Rationale: For people with chronic aphasia (more than 6 months post stroke onset), there is evidence to support the use of a number of behavioural treatments (Brady et al., 2016; The RELEASE collaborators, 2022a; 2022b). Treatments with high-level evidence of efficacy include constraint-induced language therapy (Zhang et al., 2017), multimodality aphasia therapy (Rose et al., 2022), semantic and phonological lexical retrieval treatments (e.g., Kristinsson et al., 2021), auditory comprehension treatment (Fleming et al., 2021), self-managed computer-delivered therapy (Palmer et al., 2019), mixed linguistic and pragmatic therapy (Breitenstein et al., 2017), and training of conversation/communication partners (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016). 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Breitenstein et al., 2017: RCT Fleming et al., 2021: RCT Kristinsson et al., 2021: RCT Palmer et al., 2019: RCT Rose et al., 2022: RCT Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group studies, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies and 1 SCED) The RELEASE collaborators, 2021: 	• 1



There is emerging evidence regarding personal characteristics (e.g., age, sex, initial stroke severity, aphasia severity) and treatment-related factors (e.g., dose, and schedule) that might affect aphasia outcomes in the chronic phase of recovery (the RELEASE Collaborators, 2021). Specifically, best response to therapy has been observed with 20 to 50 hours of treatment, provided 3-4 hours per week, 3-5 days per week. Limited gains in overall language abilities have been observed with fewer than 20 hours of treatment, fewer than 3 hours of treatment per week, or fewer than 3 sessions per week (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a). Functionally tailored and relevant home practice should be provided (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a). There is limited evidence of generalisation from a single episode of task-specific treatment to everyday communication.	 Meta-analysis of 174 studies (5928 IPD) The RELEASE collaborators, 2022a: Meta-analysis of 25 RCTs (959 IPD) The RELEASE collaborators, 2022b: Meta-analysis 25 RCTs (959 IPD) Zhang et al., 2017: Systematic review of 8 RCTs
Therapy principles	
 5.5 Aphasia rehabilitation should address the consequences of aphasia on functional everyday activities, participation, social connectedness, and quality of life. Speech pathologists should consider targeting interventions on the impact of aphasia on relationships, vocation, and leisure in all phases of care. Rationale: People with aphasia report significantly worse health-related quality of life than stroke survivors without aphasia, and worse quality of life than peers without stroke (Hilari, 2011). Quality of life is particularly impacted in the areas of independence and social relationships, with social networks reported as shrinking, and remaining relationships changing in quality and closeness (Ford, 2022), and aspects of poor access to the environment (Hilari et al., 2012). While people with aphasia report prioritising communication goals in their overall rehabilitation process, they also emphasise addressing leisure, work, social, and relationship goals, as well as the need for information tailored to their needs (Worrall et al., 2011). People with aphasia want access to flexible, life-relevant services tailored to their personal experience of aphasia that focus on support to find autonomy and purpose post-stroke, and to develop the skills to cope with the negative consequences for interpersonal relationships and roles that unfold over time. 	 Ford et al., 2022: Scoping review of 53 qualitative studies Hilari, 2011: Non-randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2012: Systematic review of 14 studies (6 cross-sectional, 3 case-control studies, 3 qualitative, 1 cohort study, 1 retrospective study) Worrall et al., 2011: Qualitative study

 5.6 Aphasia rehabilitation should address the needs of family, friends and carers. Rationale: Family and friends of people with aphasia frequently report negative stroke-related outcomes (Grawburg et al., 2012) – more so than people who care for stroke survivors without aphasia (Bakas et al., 2006). Family and friends of people with aphasia also find their relationships changed following stroke and identify needs and rehabilitation goals for themselves (Grawburg et al., 2012; Howe et al., 2012; Wallace et al., 2017). These goals include being provided with hope and positivity, information, support (e.g., psychosocial and financial), being included in the rehabilitation process, communicating with and maintaining their relationship with the person with aphasia, looking after their own wellbeing, and coping with new responsibilities (Howe et al., 2012). Speech pathologists should view family, friends and carers as direct recipients of aphasia intervention, alongside people with aphasia (Rose, 2023). CPT (see statements 1.4, 2.5 and 5.23) is one intervention that may contribute to positive outcomes for communication partners including increased knowledge of aphasia, use of effective communication strategies, and increased self-confidence and positivity towards communication activities and participation for people with chronic aphasia (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016). 	 Bakas et al., 2006: Non-randomised observational study Grawburg et al., 2012: Systematic review of 27 studies (13 qualitative, 12 quantitative, and 2 mixed-method studies) Howe et al., 2012: Qualitative study Rose, 2023: Discussion paper Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group designs, 8 case studies, 7 SCEDs, 5 qualitative studies) Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group studies, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies and 1 SCED) Wallace et al., 2017: Synthesis of 3 consensus studies 	• Qual
 5.7 Aphasia rehabilitation should include the provision of information tailored to meet the needs of people with aphasia and their family, friends and carers, using relevant language and communication formats. Rationale: Education is a key component of aphasia rehabilitation which supports access to services and participation in healthcare decision-making (Rose et al., 2018). Education can also improve the way people with aphasia and their carers engage with rehabilitation and their levels of self-efficacy (Eames et al., 2013). People with aphasia report the need for information about the causes and consequences of aphasia, their prognosis, and what to expect at different stages of recovery (Worrall et al., 2011). This information should also be provided to families, friends and carers of people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2018; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017) so they can become more effective communication partners and advocates, ensuring the ongoing inclusion of the person with aphasia. Information should be 	 Crocker et al., 2021: Cochrane review Eames et al., 2013: RCT Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design Rose et al., 2018: Qualitative study Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017: Qualitative study Worrall et al., 2011): Qualitative study 	• 11

tailored to meet individual needs using relevant language and communication formats (Worrall et al., 2011), including aphasia-friendly materials for people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2003). Information should be provided at different stages in the recovery process with opportunities for follow-up, clarification, and reinforcement of information (Crocker et al., 2021).		
 5.8 Aphasia rehabilitation can focus on strategies to promote long-term maintenance of gains, including promoting independent communication practice and use, and maximising communication opportunities. Rationale: It has been found that many people with aphasia (~80%) who undergo intensive language interventions do not maintain gains in the long-term without ongoing treatment or communication use (Menahemi-Falkov et al., 2022). In light of these findings, speech pathologists should be aware, realistic, and transparent about the potential long-term benefits of high intensity intervention for their clients. Focusing on raising awareness and embedding proactive, long-term strategies (e.g., how to integrate real life communication practice in daily settings, maximising usage opportunities in the long term) may be considered as an explicit target in speech and language therapy (Menahemi-Falkov et al., 2022). If possible, tapering of treatment through ongoing, more distributed practice can be considered after the initial, more intensive phase of therapy, which may help to maintain treatment effects (Menahemi-Falkov et al., 2022). Less evidence is available on maintenance of gains following lower intensity interventions, but the same strategies are likely to be necessary to maintain therapy gains for the long-term. 	• Menahemi-Falkov et al., 2022: Systematic review of 44 studies (6 RCTs, 4 pseudo-RCTs, 3 non-RCTs, 11 SCEDs, 12 case series, 7 pre-post single case, 1 interrupted time series with a control group)	
Treating different language modalities		
 5.9 Aphasia rehabilitation: should target spoken production at the word level can target spoken production at the sentence level (e.g., syntactic, thematic roles). Rationale: Word finding therapies have been found to be effective for people with aphasia in the short and longer term (De Aguiar et al., 2016; Hickin et al., 2020; Sze et al., 2021; Wisenburn & Mahoney, 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Breitenstein et al., 2017: RCT De Aguiar et al., 2016: Meta-analysis of 30 studies 	 Word level: I Sentence level: IV

2009; and in two high quality RCTs by Breitenstein et al., 2017 and Rose at al., 2022), although this is not always the case (Brady et al., 2016). Semantic, phonological, and mixed approaches have all shown benefits (Wisenburn & Mahoney, 2009), with research suggesting that word-form focused treatments (e.g., orthography or phonology) result in more treatment-specific effects, whereas semantic approaches result in higher degrees of generalisation to untreated items (Nickels & Best, 1996; Sze et al., 2021). Provision of the written word form facilitates rehabilitation of treated and untreated items (Sze et al., 2021). Combined gesture and verbal treatment and multimodality aphasia treatment for noun and verb production is beneficial for some people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2013; Rose et al., 2022). Different components (including demographic, clinical, and treatment-related factors; De Aguiar et al., 2016) of word retrieval therapy may affect the outcome of this type of therapy, which may explain individually varying treatment outcomes reported across the literature. Participant baseline naming performance has not been found to be a strong predictor of treatment success for treated and untreated items, indicating that word retrieval therapy can benefit many people with aphasia with varying naming abilities (Sze et al., 2016; Hickin et al., 2020; Webster & Whitworth, 2012), it is important to focus on personally relevant words when providing word finding therapy (Hickin et al., 2020; Webster & Whitworth, 2012). There is evidence in favour of the efficacy of therapy focusing on spoken production of sentences, with frequent reporting of treatment gains generalising to untrained items (Hickin et al., 2022; Poirier et al., 2023) and to sentence comprehension (Poirier et al., 2023). A systematic review (Poirier et al., 2023) that included single- and multiple-case studies found the evidence for a range of treatments, including Verb Network Strengthening Treatment ST - Edmonds et al., 2009), Treatment of Underlying F	•	Hickin et al., 2020: Scoping review of 37 studies (22 case studies, 7 case series that also reported group results, 6 single-case studies, 1 group study, and 1 pilot RCT). Hickin et al., 2022: Systematic review of 33 studies (14 case series, 12 single-case studies, 5 case series with group results reported, 2 group studies) Nickels & Best, 1996: Narrative review Poirier et al., 2023: Systematic review of 25 studies (all single- or multiple-case studies using SCED) Rose et al., 2013: Systematic review of 23 studies (4 group design, 19 SCED) Rose et al., 2022: RCT Sze et al., 2021: Meta-analysis of 32 studies Webster & Whitworth, 2012: Review of 26 studies Wisenburn & Mahoney, 2009: Meta- analysis of 44 studies	
---	---	--	--

 5.10 Aphasia rehabilitation can target auditory comprehension at the: word level (e.g., auditory discrimination, lexical access, semantic access) sentence level above-sentence level. Rationale: While the relative paucity of research on this topic should be noted (see e.g., Wallace et al., 2022), a meta-analysis shows evidence of benefit of speech and language therapy targeting auditory comprehension (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a). This extends the findings of a previous Cochrane review which found no evidence of harm of such therapy (Brady et al., 2016). High dosage (20-50 hours), intensity (>9 hours/week), and frequency (4-5 days/week) are associated with the greatest gains (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a). Based on the available evidence, there is not a specific treatment approach that is recommended for treating people with aphasia with auditory comprehension impairments (Wallace et al., 2022), however tailoring of difficulty (the RELEASE collaborators, 2022a) and treatment items, along with a higher dose of intervention (approximately 100 hours; Fleming et al., 2021) may be required. Compensatory strategies for auditory comprehension (e.g., augmentative and alternative communication) may also be considered (see statement 5.14).	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Fleming et al., 2021: RCT The RELEASE collaborators, 2022a: Meta-analysis of 25 RCTs (959 IPD) Wallace et al., 2022: Scoping review of 28 studies (12 group studies, 11 SCEDs, 5 case studies) 	• 1
 5.11 Aphasia rehabilitation can target writing at the: word level sentence level above-sentence level. Rationale: Aphasia therapy for spelling and/or writing has been found to be effective (Brady et al., 2016). Research has mostly focused on treating writing at the word level. Treatment at this level usually consists of (a combination of) therapy that (Krajenbrink et al., 2015): focuses on whole-word spelling (e.g., (delayed) copying of the target word), and aims to strengthen/reteach phoneme-grapheme conversion (sublexical therapy). 	 Biddau et al., 2023: Systematic review of 11 SCEDs Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Krajenbrink et al., 2015: Review of 40 studies) Thiel et al., 2015: Systematic review of 62 studies (31 single-case studies, 28 multiple case studies, 3 group studies) 	 Word level: I Sentence/above: IV

There is evidence supporting these therapies from mostly single/multiple case studies. Both types of therapy have been shown to be beneficial for people with aphasia, with improvement of treated items frequently reported and, for the sublexical treatment in particular, some evidence of generalisation to untreated items (Biddau et al., 2023; Krajenbrink et al., 2015). Both types of writing therapy may therefore be considered and/or combined, with treatment tailored according to the nature of the impairment and the individual's specific needs (Biddau et al., 2023). Although very few studies have investigated writing therapy at the sentence level, the little available research provides some evidence that such therapy can lead to improved written sentence construction (Thiel et al., 2015).		
Research on therapies targeting writing above sentence level (e.g., writing of paragraphs, stories) and functional writing (i.e. writing for everyday purposes) is scarce, although there are some signs that treatment at the single word level may lead to improvements in these areas as well (Biddau et al., 2023; Thiel et al., 2015).		
Assistive technologies have been found to be effective in improving functional writing for some people with aphasia (Thiel et al., 2015). Some technologies (e.g., spell check, predictive text) are readily available on common devices (e.g., smartphones, tablets, laptops) and may therefore be particularly useful for everyday writing. Assistive technologies may be considered as alternatives (e.g., voice recognition software, picture-based alternative communication) or facilitators (e.g., speech synthesiser software, word prediction software) to writing (Thiel et al., 2015). The effective use of such software may require training provided by a speech pathologist.		
 5.12 Aphasia rehabilitation can target reading at the: word level sentence level above-sentence level. Rationale: Speech and language therapy has been found to lead to positive reading comprehension outcomes compared to no therapy (Brady et al., 2016). An RCT found similarly positive effects of treatment on reading aloud at the word level, both in terms of accuracy and reading speed (e.g.,	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Cherney, 2004: Narrative review Cistola et al., 2021: Systematic review of 13 studies (7 quantitative and 6 qualitative) Purdy et al., 2019: Systematic review of 15 studies (10 single-case studies and 5 RCTs or group studies) 	• 1

Woodhead et al., 2018). Reading treatment may focus on reading aloud and/or reading comprehension at the word level (which may have a lexical or sublexical focus depending on the nature of the impairment; see Cherney, 2004), sentence level, and above-sentence level (e.g., discourse level text comprehension).	 Watter et al., 2017: Systematic review of 23 studies (3 RCTs, 8 cohort studies, and 12 case studies) Woodhead et al., 2018: RCT 	
Reading is a complex process that involves visual, perceptual, cognitive, and linguistic skills. Speech pathologists may therefore want to consider assessment of both cognitive and linguistic features of reading in order to select appropriate treatment (Watter et al., 2017). Because of this complexity, there is no one treatment that is considered the "gold standard" (Watter et al., 2017). Individual client characteristics (e.g., impairment, reading habits, availability of carer support) can be considered when deciding on a treatment plan (Purdy et al., 2019).		
 Treatment at each of the aforementioned levels may include a combination of the below treatments: Hierarchical reading treatment containing reading tasks of increasing difficulty (e.g., starting with matching tasks and gradually moving on to more complex tasks, such as text comprehension), Oral reading treatments (e.g., Oral Reading for Language in Aphasia (ORLA) – Cherney, 2004; Multiple Oral Rereading (MOR) – Beeson, 1998; and Modified Multiple Oral Rereading (MMOR) – e.g., Kim & Russo, 2010), Strategy-based interventions for reading comprehension (e.g., visual, content-based, meta-cognitive strategies), and Cognitive treatments with a reading focus (e.g., visual perception, scanning, attention, memory) 		
Efficacy of these treatments has been shown to varying degrees, mostly through single case studies (see Purdy et al., 2019; Watter et al., 2017)		
Compensatory/facilitative interventions may involve reading aids (including technology designed for other target populations such as e.g., developmental dyslexia) or technologies embedded in mainstream devices (e.g., screen readers; Cistola et al., 2021).		

5.13 Aphasia rehabilitation can target discourse at the:	•	Azios et al., 2022: Scoping review of	•	II
monologue level		64 studies (26 case studies, 18 single-		
 interactional discourse (conversation) level. 		subject design studies, 8 group		
		studies, 1 qualitative study, 11 studies		
Rationale: Aphasia treatment may target discourse (i.e. language beyond the sentence level)		that examined tool / process)		
specifically. Such therapies may vary in their underlying models, settings (e.g., individual versus group).	•	Dede et al., 2019: RCT		
therapeutic emphasis (e.g. generic versus individualised compensatory) involvement of	•	De Kleine et al 2023: Systematic		
communication partners and types of activities (Simmons-Mackie et al. 2014) as well as the purpose	-	review of 7 studies (1 single case		
of the discourse interaction		observational study 6 post-		
		observational study, o post-		
There is no concensus on the most suitable measure for assessing discourse in anhasia, which		Dinner et al. 2021: Systematic review		
complicates the interpretation of research findings (Arios et al. 2022). A systematic review found	•	of 25 studios /7 PCTs. 7 single case		
complicates the interpretation of research multips (Azios et al., 2022). A systematic review round,		of 25 studies (7 RCTS, 7 single-case		
nowever, that discourse treatment is encacious, with benefits reported most commonly for the		reports with no control, 6 case series,		
production of words in discourse, and some indication of improvements at the sentence production		3 group studies without control, 2		
and discourse macrostructure level (Dipper et al., 2021) when those levels are intentionally treated.		non-randomised group studies with		
The most promising outcomes are from multilevel discourse treatment approaches (Dipper et al.,		control)		
2021). An RCT also found that conversation therapy was more likely to lead to discourse-level	•	Hickin et al., 2022: Systematic review		
improvements when delivered in groups than in dyads (Dede, et al., 2019).		of 33 studies (14 case series, 12		
		single-case studies, 5 case series with		
Discourse and functional communication may also improve as a result of treatments targeting other		group results reported, 2 group		
domains, such as verb naming, sentence production, or gesture treatments (De Kleine et al., 2023;		studies)		
Hickin et al., 2022; Poirier et al., 2023).	•	Poirier et al., 2023: Systematic review		
		of 25 studies (all single- or multiple-		
Two discourse interventions that have specifically shown promise are:		case studies using SCED)		
• Novel Approach to Real-life communication: Narrative Intervention in Aphasia (NARNIA;	•	Simmons-Mackie et al., 2014:		
Whitworth et al., 2015), and		Narrative review		
 Language Underpins Narrative in Aphasia (LUNA; Dipper et al., 2024). 	•	Whitworth et al., 2015: RCT		
		·		

 5.14 Aphasia rehabilitation can target augmentative and alternative communication, including: No-technology/low-technology AAC High-technology AAC. Rationale: There is lower-level evidence supporting the use of some no/low-technology AAC strategies (Baxter et al., 2012; Garrett et al., 1989; Ho et al., 2005; Purdy & Wallace, 2016). Gesture treatments have the most and the highest levels of evidence (Rose et al., 2013). There is, however, no consensus on the use of no/low AAC in clinical practice. High-technology AAC is a continuously developing field of research. There is some low-level evidence that high-technology AAC can enhance communicative abilities for some people with aphasia (Rayer et al., 2023; Russo et al., 2017). It is important to note that treatment success is variable, with AAC acceptance and effects on functional communication largely unclear (Rayer et al., 2023). AAC interventions therefore need to be individually tailored. Some factors (e.g., availability of social support, clinician attitudes; Rayer et al., 2023; Taylor et al., 2019). More research is needed to clarify the role of each of these factors and how they might influence clinical decision-making (Taylor et al., 2019).	 Baxter et al., 2012: Systematic review of 65 studies (14 studies focused on aphasia) Garrett et al., 1989: Case study Ho et al., 2005: Case series Purdy & Wallace, 2016: Case series Rayer et al., 2023: Scoping review of 16 studies (7 case studies, 4 single- subject design studies, 5 group design). Rose et al., 2013: Systematic review of 23 studies (4 group design, 19 SCED) Russo et al., 2017: Systematic review of 30 studies (22 observational studies, 8 case reports)) Taylor et al., 2019: Narrative review 	 No/low tech: IV High tech: IV
Alternative/additional modes of therapy		
 5.15 In addition to individual therapy delivered by speech pathologists, aphasia rehabilitation can include the use of aphasia therapy software. Rationale: Aphasia therapy software has the potential to provide a cost-effective and accessible way of increasing treatment frequency and dose and to vary the nature of language treatments. The use of computer and/or tablet-based aphasia therapy is supported by previous research, which has generally found such therapy to be effective compared to no therapy and equally effective as clinicianled therapy, while noting that technology cannot completely replace therapists (Brady et al., 2016; 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Devane et al., 2022: Systematic review of 14 studies (7 RCTs, 5 single- case studies, 2 before-after studies with no control group) Lavoie et al., 2017: Systematic review of 23 studies (2 RCTs, 1 group study, 20 single-subject studies) 	• 1

Lavoie et al., 2017; Repetto et al., 2021; Zheng et al., 2016). Although more research is needed, speech pathologists may choose to use computer-/ tablet-based therapy in addition to conventional therapy for specific clients (e.g., based on personal interest, availability of suitable programmes/apps, etc.). The use of virtual reality (VR) in the context of aphasia rehabilitation is in an exploratory phase of research. Although there is some preliminary evidence that VR-based treatment can lead to positive language outcomes similar to conventional therapy, there is currently not sufficient evidence to recommend its routine use in clinical practice (Devane et al., 2022).	 Repetto et al., 2021: Systematic review of 13 studies Zheng et al., 2016: Systematic review of 7 studies (5 RCTs, 1 non- randomised comparison trial, 1 within-subjects design)
 5.16 In addition to individual therapy delivered by speech pathologists, aphasia rehabilitation can include group therapy. Rationale: Previous research has found group-based speech and language therapy to be effective, with outcomes similar to one-on-one therapy on measures of receptive (e.g., auditory comprehension) and expressive language (including spoken and written language), functional communication, and quality of life (Brady et al., 2016). An RCT of conversation therapy found group size may be associated with effects on different types of outcome measures, with dyads showing the most changes on measures of language impairment, and group treatment resulting in more changes to discourse production and self-rated functional communication (Dede et al., 2019). There is evidence that aphasia group therapy may also lead to improved health-related quality of life, confidence, and interaction with peers (Wilson et al., 2023), although it is unclear how benefits of this type of therapy can be maximised. 	 Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review Dede et al., 2019: RCT Wilson et al., 2023: Scoping review of 13 studies (2 RCTs, 8 case studies (8), and 3 qualitative studies)
 5.17 Aphasia rehabilitation can include telerehabilitation. Rationale: There is an emerging evidence base for using telerehabilitation in aphasia rehabilitation. This may improve service access for people in both rural/remote areas as well as those with difficulties accessing services in metropolitan areas (e.g., people with transport or mobility difficulties). 	 Cacciante et al., 2021: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 5 studies Cetinkaya et al., 2023: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group

Several systematic reviews and a meta-analysis of previous research (reporting on a range of study types, including randomised controlled trials and single-case studies) have concluded that telerehabilitation is feasible and effective for people with aphasia and can therefore be a suitable addition or alternative to conventional in-person therapy (Cacciante et al., 2021; Cetinkaya et al., 2023; Hall et al., 2013; Weidner & Lowman, 2020). RCT-level research has found that telerehabilitation intervention is as effective as in-person interventions for a range of language domains, including auditory comprehension, word naming, and functional communication (Cacciante et al., 2021). While telerehabilitation is generally feasible (Hall et al., 2013), it may be less suitable for some people, e.g., due to vision/hearing loss, or fine motor difficulties (Cetinkaya et al., 2023) and is dependent on adequate equipment (e.g., laptop, tablet) and sufficient quality of internet connection (Hall et al. 2013).	•	studies, 12 pre-post studies, 8 single- subject studies) Hall et al., 2013: Systematic review of 4 studies (3 SCEDs, 1 multiple baseline experimental design) Weidner & Lowman, 2020: Systematic review of 13 studies (5 SCED, 4 pre- post group studies, 2 quasi- experimental research designs, 1 quasi randomised controlled feasibility study, 1 randomised clinical trial)	
 5.18 In addition to individual therapy delivered by speech pathologists aphasia rehabilitation can include trained and supported/supervised volunteers. Rationale: Studies that compared volunteer facilitated aphasia therapy (e.g., delivered by family members, friends, or people unknown to the person with aphasia) to therapy from speech pathologists have shown little to no difference on a range of language outcomes (e.g., auditory and reading comprehension, writing, spoken language, and functional communication; Brady et al., 2016). Brady et al. (2016) report that this result is not surprising because volunteers were trained, provided with information about the patient's communication impairment, given access to relevant therapy materials, and supported or supervised by a speech pathologist. The therapy plan was developed by the speech pathologist in most studies. For these reasons, speech pathologists should ensure that volunteers (and other non-clinicians such as allied health assistants) involved in delivering aphasia rehabilitation receive adequate training, preparation, resources and support. 	•	Brady et al., 2016: Cochrane review	• 1

Treatment beyond language modalities		
 5.19 For people with aphasia experiencing difficulties with coping and adjustment, suitable psychological therapies delivered with communication supports can be facilitated by a range of trained clinicians, including speech pathologists, to prevent the development of ongoing mood problems. Rationale: The severity of depressive/anxiety symptoms after stroke varies and can impact the type of therapy that should be offered and by whom (Kneebone, 2016 – see also statement 5.20). For those without depressive symptoms, and/or with less severe mood concerns such as difficulties with coping and adjustment, a range of psychological therapies may be useful in preventing the development of more severe and/or ongoing mood problems for people with aphasia (Baker et al., 2018). Psychological therapies to prevent mood problems may include: behavioural activation (Thomas et al., 2013; Thomas et al., 2019); problem solving therapy (Golding et al., 2018); solution focused brief therapy (Northcott et al., 2021); community aphasia groups (Attard et al., 2018); and peer befriending (Hilari et al., 2021). In addition to mental health professionals, other appropriately trained clinicians including speech pathologists may deliver these treatments for people with aphasia (Baker et al., 2018; Kneebone, 2016). Aphasia-friendly information and supported communication strategies should be used to support delivery of treatments. Close monitoring of mood problems is required so that more severe problems are flagged at an early stage and higher-intensity treatment can be provided if needed (Kneebone, 2016). 	 Attard et al., 2018: Pre-post study Baker et al., 2018: Systematic review of 45 studies Golding et al., 2018: RCT Hilari et al., 2021: RCT Kneebone, 2016: Narrative review Northcott et al., 2021: RCT Thomas et al., 2013: RCT Thomas et al., 2019: RCT Visser et al., 2016: RCT 	•
 5.20 People with aphasia and mood concerns with a clinical diagnosis of depression and/or anxiety should be offered psychological therapy with communication supports by a psychologist or other appropriately qualified mental health practitioner. Rationale: The severity of depressive/anxiety symptoms after stroke varies and can impact the type of therapy that should be offered and by whom (Kneebone, 2016– see also statement 5.19). Those with 	 Allida et al., 2020: Cochrane review (participants without aphasia only) Baker et al., 2024 Qual Kneebone et al., 2016: Narrative review 	• IV

 mild/moderate symptoms should be offered psychological therapy by an appropriately trained and qualified health professional, such as a psychologist or other health professional under the supervision of a psychologist (Kneebone, 2016). Therapies may include modified cognitive-behavioural therapy and behavioural activation (Allida et al., 2020; Baker et al., 2024; Ryan et al., 2021; Thomas et al., 2013; Thomas et al. 2019; Tjokrowijoto et al., 2023). For people with severe/persistent depressive and/or anxiety symptoms, health professionals including speech pathologists should identify problems, offer support to the client and their family, and triage the person to an appropriately trained and qualified health professional (i.e. (neuro)psychologist, psychiatrist, and/or medical practitioner - Kneebone, 2016). In all cases, the health professional should be competent in supporting communication for adults with aphasia. Aphasia-friendly information and supported communication strategies should be used when providing any interventions, including medication management. Ongoing support for people with severe/persistent symptoms may continue to be required once symptoms have subsided (Kneebone, 2016). 	•	Ryan et al., 2021: Systematic review of 10 studies (5 RCTs, 4 pre-post studies and 1 SCED) Thomas et al., 2019: RCT Thomas et al., 2013: RCT Tjokrowijoto et al., 2023 SCED		
 5.21 Aphasia rehabilitation can include focus on enhancing social identity. Rationale: Language is important for constructing and presenting one's sense of self and identity when interacting with others (i.e. "who" and "what" are you in a social context – one's roles, values, and beliefs; Shadden & Agan, 2004; Shadden & Koski, 2007). Aphasia reduces the ability to do this and risks the person with aphasia being viewed as having less agency or autonomy than their conversation partners (Shadden & Koski, 2007), an experience that is very disempowering. This feeling of being "less competent" than conversation partners may also be present in clinical settings and is something that speech pathologists and other clinicians need to be aware of and try to take steps to prevent (Simmons-Mackie & Elman, 2011). Aphasia may also leave people feeling a general "loss" of their previous identity due to their changed circumstances (Shadden, 2005). Many people with aphasia therefore need to reconstruct their identity and find a new sense of self in the face of living with a language disability (Shadden, 2005; Simmons-Mackie & Elman, 2011), which is particularly challenging given that language is an important tool for identity construction (Brumfitt, 1993; Shadden, 2005; Taubner et al., 2020). 	• • • •	Brumfitt, 1993: Theoretical review Corsten et al., 2014: Before and after design Corsten et al., 2015: Before and after design + qualitative study Shadden, 2005: Theoretical review Shadden & Agan, 2004: Theoretical review Shadden & Koski, 2007: Theoretical review Simmons-Mackie & Elman, 2011: Qualitative study Steffens et al., 2019: Systematic review and meta-analysis of 27 studies (not restricted to aphasia) Taubner et al., 2020: Qualitative study	•	IV Qual

 There is emerging evidence suggesting that clinicians can help in this process by recognising, facilitating, and validating reconstructed identities. This can be achieved by, for example (Shadden, 2005; Shadden & Agan, 2004; Simmons-Mackie & Elman, 2011): seeing the "person", rather than the "patient", focusing on personal strengths, skills, knowledge, values, and competence rather than on incompetence or disability, prioritising communicative content rather than language performance, and guiding the person to clarify their personal values and helping them engage in new activities in line with those values, to facilitate the identity reconstruction and adjustment processes. 		
Speech pathologists can also facilitate interventions that help people construct their identity and share their life stories. Community aphasia groups may promote this by providing a social context and safe space for constructing and presenting one's self without a sole focus language performance, as well as a sense of belonging with other people who have similar challenges (Shadden & Agan, 2004; Shadden & Koski, 2007; Simmons-Mackie & Elman, 2011 – see also statements 5.22 and 8.7). Such social identification-building interventions have the potential to improve overall health, mood, physical health, psychosocial wellbeing, and quality of life for people with a range of health problems, including aphasia (Corsten et al., 2014; Corsten et al., 2015; Steffens et al., 2019).		
 5.22 In addition to individual therapy delivered by speech pathologists, aphasia rehabilitation can include community aphasia groups. Rationale: The evidence indicates that community and outpatient group participation can improve specific linguistic processes (Lanyon et al. 2013). While there is limited evidence demonstrating improvement in functional communication as a consequence of group participation (Lanyon et al. 2013), research has shown that participation in community aphasia groups can benefit social participation, and community access for people with aphasia (Lanyon et al., 2013; Lanyon et al., 2018). People with aphasia and their family, friends and carers also report a wide range of benefits to psychological wellbeing from attending aphasia groups, including forming positive relations with others, purpose in life, environmental mastery, autonomy, personal growth, and self-acceptance (Attard et al., 2015). Speech pathologists can facilitate access to aphasia groups by fostering relationships with and referring 	 Attard et al., 2015: Narrative review Lanyon et al., 2013: Systematic review of 29 studies (12 pre-post test case series, 10 single-case design studies, 4 RCTs, 3 non-randomised controlled trials) Lanyon et al., 2018: Qualitative study Pettigrove et al., 2022: Scoping review of 177 publications 	• -3

other healthcare workers) or non-professional facilitators (e.g., trained volunteers, students, peers with aphasia). Dedicated community aphasia group facilitator training is recommended (Pettigrove et al., 2022), as unskilled facilitation can lead to negative outcomes for group members, especially those with more severe aphasia (Lanyon, et al., 2018).		
 5.23 Aphasia rehabilitation should include communication partner training. Rationale: Communication partner training can improve the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of communication partners of people with aphasia, especially in the chronic recovery phase. For some communication partners, CPT can result in (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016): increased communication partner knowledge of aphasia, increased use of effective communication strategies, decreased use of non-supportive strategies, increased ability to obtain accurate information, increased ability to establish rapport, and increased self-confidence and positivity towards communication. Research has confirmed the CPT outcomes for unfamiliar partners are similar across varied modes of delivery including face-to-face, tele-delivery or online training formats (Cameron et al., 2019, Finch et al., 2020; Heard et al., 2017; Power et al., 2020). For people with aphasia, CPT can result in positive changes in communication activity and participation such as increased content words and sentences, increased ratings of the quality of communication strategy use, as well as increased self-confidence in communication situations (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016). 	 Cameron et al., 2019: RCT Finch et al., 2020: Qualitative study Heard et al., 2017: Parallel randomised trial Power et al., 2020: RCT Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group designs, 8 case studies, 7 SCED, 5 qualitative studies) Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group design, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies, 1 SCED) 	

Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients		
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	
7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	
Additional considerations when working with clients with a CALD background		
7.17 Where possible, treatment should be offered in all relevant languages and relevant modalities.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	
7.18 Language behaviours unique to the bi/multilingual person with aphasia such as translation, language mixing and code-switching should be considered in both assessment and intervention planning.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	

SECTION 6: ENHANCING THE COMMUNICATIVE ENVIRONMENT

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 6: ENHANCING THE COMMUNICATIVE ENVIRONMENT	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
 6.1 Communication partner training should be provided to improve the communicative environment provided by frequent communication partners for the person with aphasia. Rationale: Communication partner training can improve the knowledge, skills, and attitudes of communication partners of people with aphasia, especially in the chronic recovery phase. For people with aphasia, CPT can result in positive changes in communication activity and participation (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010; Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016). When CPT is provided as part of a broader intervention to enhance the hospital communication environment, it may increase hospital staff confidence, knowledge and skills in using aphasia communication strategies, promote shared responsibility for communication within the multidisciplinary team, facilitate communication exchange, improve efficiency within therapy sessions, promote better staff-patient relationships and meaningful participation for people with aphasia (D'Souza et al., 2021a; D'Souza et al., 2021b; D'Souza et al., 2021c). CPT can therefore be provided to frequent communication partners as one component of enhancing the communication environment (e.g., healthcare setting, family setting). 	 D'Souza et al., 2021a: Qualitative study D'Souza et al., 2021b: Before-and-after pilot intervention study D'Souza et al., 2021c: Qualitative study Simmons-Mackie et al., 2010: Systematic review of 31 studies (11 group designs, 8 case studies, 7 SCEDs, 5 qualitative studies) Simmons-Mackie et al., 2016: Systematic review of 25 studies (11 group design, 11 case studies, 2 qualitative studies, 1 SCED) 	• IV
 6.2 People with aphasia should have aphasia-friendly material available to enable them to participate in communication. Rationale: Aphasia-friendly materials can assist people with aphasia to comprehend written information (Brennan et al., 2005; Rose et al., 2003). Recommendations for how to best format printed education material for people with aphasia include the use of (Rose et al., 2003; Rose et al., 2012): short, simple language, content that is relevant and interesting to the reader, san serif font, bolding of important information, well organised information, and the use of relevant graphics that contain captions. 	 Brennan et al., 2005: cohort study Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design Rose et al., 2010: Qualitative study Rose et al., 2012: Qualitative study Worrall et al., 2007: Narrative review 	• 111-2

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

However, individual variations must always be considered as not everyone prefers aphasia-friendly material (Rose et al., 2003). Particular caution should be taken when using illustrations as some reports suggest that they can be distracting rather than helpful (Brennan et al., 2005). In addition, aphasia-friendly materials need to be supported by dialogue between the health professional and client, easily obtainable, provided repeatedly, and available in a range of media (Rose et al., 2010; Worrall et al., 2007).		
 6.3 Communicatively accessible environments should be provided for people with aphasia. Rationale: Environmental communication barriers exist in the physical environment, in the knowledge, skills and attitudes of communication partners, and at the system, service and policy levels (Parr et al., 2006; Howe et al., 2008a; Howe et al., 2008b; O'Halloran et al., 2011, 2012; Stans et al., 2017; Casey et al., 2023; D'Souza et al, 2021d). Reducing these barriers improves communicative access for people with aphasia (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2007; Kagan et al., 2023; D'Souza et al, 2021a,b,c). In establishing communicatively accessible environments in healthcare settings, it is recommended that consideration be given to: working at a systems level, working in collaborative teams of people with lived experience of aphasia, healthcare providers and senior management staff, learning from the experiences people with aphasia and their family members, building long term relationships (Kagan et al., 2023). Communication partner training is one way of making environments communicatively accessible – see statement 2.7. 	 Casey et al., 2023: Qualitative study D'Souza et al., 2021a,b,c,d Howe et al., 2008a: Qualitative study Howe et al., 2008b: Qualitative study Kagan et al., 2023: Descriptive report of implementation study O'Halloran et al., 2011: Qualitative study O'Halloran et al., 2012: Qualitative metasynthesis Parr et al., 2006: Descriptive report Simmons-Mackie et al., 2007: Qualitative study Stans et al., 2017: Scoping review 	• Qualitative

Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients			
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence		
7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence		

SECTION 7: ENHANCING PERSONAL FACTORS

Care has been taken to phrase statements using language and terminologies that are as appropriate and culturally safe as possible at the time of publication, considering the most recent developments in these fields. We are aware, however, that developments in these fields are rapid and that the AARP (being a relatively static document) may therefore not reflect the most appropriate terminology and/or practice in the future. We acknowledge this as an inherent weakness of the AARP and are dedicated to ensuring that future editions of this document will be updated accordingly.

It is important to point out here that the term "CALD" can be considered "othering" and "reductive" as it does not do justice to the rich diversity within this group (Armstrong et al., 2024). We acknowledge these limitations but have chosen to use this term in the context of the AARP so as to be able to provide specific clinically relevant guidance when working with people with this background and given the prevalence of this term in Australia.

We have chosen to use the term "Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people" or "Aboriginal people" when referring to Australia's First Peoples. We want to stress that whenever we use "Aboriginal people", we intend this to also refer to Torres Strait Islander people (see Australian Public Service Commission, 2022).

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 7: ENHANCING PERSONAL FACTORS	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVELS
7.1 People with aphasia, their families and carers, and speech pathologists should work together to develop appropriate self-management strategies.	 Nichol et al., 2019: Scoping review of 45 studies (aphasia-focused; 2 RCTs, 15 case study/series, 14 single group/within subjects. 5 experimental 	• Qual.
Rationale: The incorporation of self-management techniques for people with aphasia aligns with a person-centred and holistic treatment approach (Nichol et al., 2023a – see also AARP introduction). While there is not currently sufficient evidence to inform the optimal method of incorporating self-management strategies for people with aphasia (Wray et al., 2018), qualitative research demonstrates its importance for successfully living with aphasia (Nichol et al., 2022).	 group/within subjects, 5 experimental vs control group, 4 mixed methods, 2 qualitative) Nichol et al., 2021: Qualitative study Nichol et al., 2022: Qualitative study Nichol et al., 2023a: Qualitative study Nichol et al., 2023b: Qualitative study Nichol et al., 2019: RCT Wray et al., 2018: Systematic review of 24 RCTs (not restricted to aphasia) 	
Self-management plans should be developed collaboratively, be based on individual needs, goals, and resources, and enable and empower the person with aphasia to take responsibility for managing life with aphasia (Nichol et al., 2023b). These plans may include (Nichol et al., 2019; Nichol et al., 2022; Nichol et al., 2023a; Nichol et al., 2023b):		

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

 active participation in meaningful social interactions and recreational activities (, building communication confidence through encouragement, positivity, and opportunities for communication success, establishing emotional and psychosocial supports to enable discussion of frustrations, other emotions, and life changes. This may include (access to) psychological therapy (see statements 5.19 and 5.20), using technology (including AAC – see statement 5.14) to support communication access, social connection, independence, and control, community-based interventions such as peer support and community aphasia groups (see statement 5.22), or communication partner training (see statements 2.6, 5.23, 6.1), and self-managed computer-based word finding therapy, to increase frequency/intensity of practice (Palmer et al., 2019). Communication partners, speech pathologists, and technology are key support sources for aphasia self-management (Nichol et al., 2021). 		
7.2 Connections with appropriate social supports should be facilitated for people with aphasia and their families.	 Attard et al., 2015: Narrative review Brown et al., 2012: Qualitative meta- synthesis 	• 1
 Rationale: The presence of social supports and contacts is essential for individuals facing considerable life changes following a stroke event (Robinson et al., 1999). People with aphasia often report losing friendships (Brown et al., 2012). Developing new friendships can contribute to living successfully with aphasia (Brown et al., 2012), and improvement of available social support may help to prevent social isolation and reduce or prevent the distress and post-stroke depression (Hilari, 2011; Hilari et al., 2021; Salter et al., 2010; Thomas & Lincoln, 2008). Appropriate supports may include: peer befriending services (Hilari et al., 2021). community-based groups for people with aphasia and their families. For example, conversation groups, peer support groups, arts and leisure groups (Attard et al., 2015; Lanyon et al., 2013), Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, n.d.), 	 Hilari, 2011: Non-randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2021: RCT Lanyon et al., 2013: Systematic review of 29 studies (12 pre-post test case series, 10 single-case design studies, 4 RCTs, 3 non-randomised controlled trials) Robinson et al., 1999: Non- randomised observational study Salter et al., 2010: Systematic review of 10 RCTs Thomas & Lincoln, 2008: Non- randomised observational study 	

 local and national advocacy organisations (e.g., The AAA), aphasia research organisations, and university-based aphasia clinics. 		
Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cl	ients	
 7.3 Speech pathologists should engage in training and other activities to develop interpersonal skills and reflective practices for examining cultural safety and anti-racism with particular reference to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures. Rationale: Engaging in training opportunities (e.g., cultural safety training; Indigenous Allied Health Australia, 2019) and developing reflective practices can support speech pathologists in examining racism and bias in their work and workplaces (Mayes, 2020), as well as within the speech pathology evidence base (Humphery, 2001). Non-Indigenous speech pathologists are encouraged to yarn with and learn from Aboriginal colleagues (see statement 7.8), to be active in their intercultural learning, and to critically examine current policies and practices so that services offered and practices delivered are respectful of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander worldviews, ways of being, knowing, and doing (McDermott, 2019). 	 Indigenous Allied Health Australia, 2019: IAHA Framework Humphrey, 2001: Discussion paper Mayes, 2020: Discussion paper McDermott, 2019: Discussion paper 	• GPP
 7.4 Speech pathologists should implement local protocols that guide working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. Rationale: The development and implementation of local protocols can assist in ensuring the delivery of culturally appropriate services. General principles can underpin these protocols and assist in the development of relationships and appropriate cross-cultural communication and cultural security. Such principles may include (Indigenous Allied Health Australia, 2019): being respectful, being open and self-aware. being informed and informing others, establishing sustainable relationships, 	 Armstrong et al., 2022: Co-design study Cochrane et al., 2020: Systematic review of 6 studies (4 qualitative, 1 quantitative, 1 mixed methods) Indigenous Allied Health Australia, 2019: IAHA Framework McDermott, 2019: Discussion paper Penn & Armstrong, 2017: Discussion paper 	• GPP



 behaving ethically, being meaningful, being outcomes-focussed, and ensuring that follow-up and feedback occur. It should be recognised that every community is unique, and that great diversity exists in Aboriginal and Torres Islander society with respect to language and culture (e.g., Cochrane et al., 2020; Penn & Armstrong, 2017). Therefore, long-term authentic engagement and collaboration between speech pathologists and local Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities (at personal and systemic levels) are necessary to develop respectful local protocols (Armstrong et al., 2022; McDermott, 2019). 		
 7.5 Speech pathologists should routinely check Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status in clients' health records and with the clients themselves. Rationale: Under-identification of Indigenous status has significant implications for clinical decision-making, data collection, and resource allocation across health settings. Specific health interventions and health care services may be available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people, such as Aboriginal Liaison Officers who can assist in navigation through health services. Furthermore, it is important to be aware of a client's ethnic and cultural background in order to understand potential linguistic and/or pragmatic behaviours (Cochrane et al., 2021; Penn & Armstrong, 2017). Without knowledge of the client's cultural background, particularly in terms of linguistic issues in the context of speech pathology (e.g., languages/dialects spoken), misdiagnoses are possible and inappropriate assessment and intervention practices may be used. At the same time, some Aboriginal people may choose not to openly identify as Aboriginal in a healthcare setting. This too needs to be respected by clinicians. Guidelines are available to assist clinicians in asking all clients about Aboriginal and Torres Strait origins (see Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010) 	 Australian Institute of Health and Welfare, 2010: Best practice guidelines Cochrane et al., 2021: Retrospective chart review Penn & Armstrong, 2017: Discussion paper 	• GPP

 7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and their family. Rationale: Understanding different worldviews is important in aphasia assessment and management. It is recommended that speech pathologists work with ALOs/AHWs who can help to bridge these different worldviews (Cochrane et al., 2020; Hersh et al., 2015). The ALO/AHW may be able to assist with developing trust between healthcare providers and the person with aphasia and their family, which is an important value within Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. The ALO/AHW may also be able to advise the speech pathologist regarding specific cultural issues and needs (Ciccone et al., 2019). The speech pathologist may be able to work with the ALO/AHW to identify factors that have the potential to reduce or facilitate participation in rehabilitation. Increased communication and engagement between speech pathologist and ALO/AHW may be required to define the ALO/AHW's role, including potential limitations (e.g., providing interpreter services, considering the wide range of Indigenous languages and dialects; Cochrane et al., 2016; Cochrane et al., 2020). Relationships can be built through yarning between the speech pathologist and ALO/AHW, which in turn can help to establish relationships with clients and their communities (see statement 7.8). *Different terms may be used to describe similar positions, for example: Indigenous Health Officer, Aboriginal Health Liaison Officer, Aboriginal clinicians. 	 Ciccone et al., 2019: Pre-post design Cochrane et al., 2016: Qualitative study Cochrane et al., 2020: Systematic review of 6 studies (4 qualitative, 1 quantitative, 1 mixed methods) Hersh et al., 2015: Survey 	• IV; Qual
 7.7 Where the speech pathologist is not proficient in a language of the person with aphasia, a trained and qualified interpreter, knowledgeable in the specific requirements for speech pathology, should be used. Rationale: The use of trained and qualified interpreters improves quality of clinical care, reduces communication errors, and increases patient satisfaction (Flores, 2005; Karliner et al., 2007), and should be considered essential when the speech pathologist and the person with aphasia do not speak the same language (Larkman et al., 2023). 	 Cochrane et al., 2020: Systematic review of 6 studies (4 qualitative, 1 quantitative, 1 mixed methods) Flores, 2005: Systematic review of 36 studies Karliner et al., 2007: Systematic review of 28 studies (4 qualitative, 24 quantitative) 	• Qual

 There are particular considerations to be made when working with interpreters for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients. In collaboration with the client, Aboriginal Liaison Officers (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Workers (AHW) and family should be consulted – these parties may be able to assist in: identifying all languages spoken by the client, in order to seek the services of the correct interpreter, deciding whether the involvement of an interpreter is appropriate for a specific client, and identifying the client's preferences – for example, regarding culturally sensitive issues such as men's and women's business. 	 Larkman et al., 2023: Scoping review of 20 studies (10 descriptive papers, 8 surveys, 2 interview studies) 	
While there may be challenges to accessing a qualified interpreter for all languages, it is known that health professionals do not always access interpreters for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients even when they are available (Ralph et al., 2017). Where interpreters are not available in the geographical area of the hospital/rehabilitation service, services should be sought via telephone or other media. Speech pathologists may need to explore their health networks and state interpreting services to find interpreters. It is important to note that while ALOs/AHWs may be able to provide linguistic assistance if no trained interpreters are available, this cannot be assumed due to the wide range of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander languages and dialects (Cochrane et al., 2020). When working with an interpreter, pre- and post-session briefings with the interpreter, the ALO/AHW, and the speech pathologist may be necessary to clarify the purpose of therapy sessions and the role of the interpreter. Please refer to statement 7.14 for additional information about working with interpreters.		
 7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way. Rationale: Yarning is an Indigenous concept which is about sharing information and stories (Bessarab & Ng'andu, 2010). Clinical yarning is a framework that combines Aboriginal ways of communicating with biomedical knowledge (Lin et al., 2016). Clinical yarning is a person-centred, holistic approach 	 Bessarab & Ng'andu, 2010: Discussion paper Cochrane et al., 2016: Qualitative study Ciccone et al., 2019: pre post design Jones et al., 2020: Systematic review and meta-narrative synthesis of 54 qualitative studies 	• GPP

that is relaxed and open-ended, and can be used to build a trusting relationship and as a way to communicate health information (Lin et al., 2016).	• Lin et al., 2016: Discussion paper	
 Clinical yarning consists of three interrelated parts (Lin et al., 2016): 1. Social yarning is about finding common ground and establishing connection. It is a chance for clinicians to learn about the person and about local Aboriginal culture and to share personal information. Social yarning is holistic, patient-led, values the patient as expert, and values the patient's story and life knowledge. 		
 Diagnostic yarning is about the patient telling their health story, with the clinician interpreting through a biomedical lens. Rather than asking a series of questions, the aim is for the person to tell their story. Open-ended questioning, non-judgemental listening, and allowing conversational silences are key. 		
3. Management yarning is about the clinician having an honest discussion with their client about their condition and deciding on a management plan together. Information shared with the patient should be clear and medical jargon should be avoided. Stories and metaphors can be used to share information in a meaningful and understandable way, and people should be		
provided with appropriate resources (such as <i>My Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2023 – also available in other languages), <i>Our Stroke Journey</i> (SF, 2021), and/or <i>the Aphasia Handbook</i> (SF/AAA, 2023)). The goal of this type of yarn is to come up with an agreed upon plan that is clearly understood by all parties.		
A good starting point for learning more about clinical yarning is the Clinical Yarning e-learning module by the Western Australian Centre for Rural Health (Western Australian Centre for Rural Health, n.d.).		
Inclusion of (extended) family members should be facilitated if desired by the person with aphasia, considering the importance of (extended) family in many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander communities. It is important for speech pathologists and their employers to acknowledge that additional time and flexible approaches may be necessary in order to accommodate yarning (Ciccone et al., 2019; Cochrane et al., 2016; Jones et al., 2020).		
7.9 Goal setting and aphasia management should be person-centred and strength-based and should be considerate of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander models of health and wellbeing.	 Armstrong et al., 2015: Qualitative study Armstrong et al., 2019: Discussion 	• Qual.
Rationale: Different worldviews may influence people's preferences and their understandings of what makes interventions worthwhile or successful (Penn & Armstrong, 2017). This is important	paper	

considering that aphasia may impact many aspects of a person's life including family and community roles, ability to express cultural identity, and participation in education, employment, and social opportunities (see Statement 5.5). Some of these life areas may be especially important for younger people who have experienced stroke and aphasia (Armstrong et al., 2015; Cochrane et al., 2020; Katzenellenbogen et al., 2014). All of these areas should therefore be considered in goal setting and aphasia management in order to facilitate full reintegration into communities, which has been flagged as a key priority by Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people (Armstrong et al., 2015). It should be noted that the notion of individual goals is a primarily Western concept and may not be used in some Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander cultures (Armstrong et al., 2019). Identifying and yarning about the things people want to work on may be a more appropriate approach (see statement 7.8). The Shared Decision-Making Model (Agency for Clinical Innovation, n.d.) can be used as a starting point for yarning about this topic. Speech pathologists should also take a strengths-based approach to their work with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients. In doing so, speech pathologists are encouraged to consider frameworks such as an Aboriginal model of health and wellbeing and emotional models of health and wellbeing to guide their work in goal setting and management. A resource that may guide this process is the National Strategic Framework for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander People's Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing (Commonwealth of Australia, 2017).	 Cochrane et al., 2016: Qualitative study Cochrane et al., 2020: Systematic review of 6 studies (4 qualitative, 1 quantitative, 1 mixed methods) Commonwealth of Australia, 2017: National Strategic Framework Katzenellenbogen et al., 2014: Retrospective chart review Penn & Armstrong, 2017: Discussion paper 	
 working closely with family (including family members non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians would call 'extended family'), working jointly with other allied health colleagues (Cochrane et al., 2016), making pre-discharge links with the client's local Aboriginal Medical Service or preferred medical service if they are associated with one (see statement 7.11), being flexible with therapy context e.g., including or excluding home visits depending on client's preferences (Penn & Armstrong, 2017), offering opportunities for the client to participate in yarning and social activity, traditional healing and beliefs, being mindful of co-morbidities whose treatment may take precedence (Penn & Armstrong, 2017), and collaborating closely with ALO/AHW colleagues (see statement 7.6). 		

 7.10 When considering assessment of aphasia in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients, speech pathologists should be mindful of the significant limitations of and potential harms in using formal assessment tools. Rationale: Currently no formal (standardised) assessments nor screening tools exist for exploring aphasia in Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. Tools for assessing English have been standardised on non-Indigenous people and while many Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people speak English, these tools may yield misdiagnoses for some people (SPA, 2023a). Speech pathologists should be aware that a lack of familiar vocabulary, grammar and format in standardised language tests may significantly disadvantage Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians leading to an underestimation or misinterpretation of an individual's language abilities. In addition, negative experiences of being tested may be triggered among some Aboriginal people as a result of language assessments and it is important to be mindful of this. On a more fundamental note, assessment can reinforce deficit discourse and privilege a western/colonial lens (McDermott, 2019) and can therefore feel very unsafe for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. Speech pathologists are therefore encouraged to refrain from performing formal assessments and instead to move towards a non-deficit focused, person-centred approach. Dynamic assessment that involves observations and clinical yarning (see statement 7.8) is a culturally safe way of understanding a person and their needs and can be used to agree on a treatment approach. Should formal assessments be necessary (e.g., for NDIS applications), an informal and authentic conversation between the pathologist and the signed to refrain the direct is processed to prolable. 	 Armstrong et al., 2017: Discussion paper McDermott, 2019: Discussion paper Penn & Armstrong, 2017: Discussion paper SPA, 2023a: Position statement 	• GPP
Should formal assessments be necessary (e.g., for NDIS applications), an informal and authentic conversation between the speech pathologist and the client is necessary to explain the purpose of the assessment. Yarning should always take place prior to assessment. In addition, it is important for speech pathologists to regard all varieties of English equally, as failure to do so devalues community languages and dialects and promotes structural racism (SPA, 2023a). Phonology, semantics, grammar, pragmatics and narrative styles can differ significantly between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians and non-Aboriginal and Torres Strait Island Australians (Armstrong et al., 2017). Hence caution must be taken by speech pathologists to ensure that speech patterns arising from linguistic and cultural differences are not inaccurately be labelled as errors; Armstrong et al., 2017; Penn & Armstrong, 2017). Engaging with a client's family, other community members, and/or an ALO/AHW may help to better understand language processes in their community.		

Assessment of activity and participation should be broader than formal linguistic assessments and should explore the impact of the communication impairment on cultural, family and community functioning (Armstrong et al., 2017).				
 7.11 Speech pathologists should develop an awareness of local Aboriginal health services and Aboriginal specific social services. Rationale: Knowing what local services are available to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients can help in discharge and therapy planning as well as advocacy. Such knowledge can help to ensure that people are referred to services that are culturally safe and best address their personal needs and priorities. For example, people may prefer to engage in non-disability-centred Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander community groups, rather than healthcare-based groups with a stronger focus on communication disabilities (Armstrong et al., 2015; Penn & Armstrong, 2017). Engagement with such groups should therefore be actively encouraged and facilitated by speech pathologists. On the other hand, some Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people may prefer not to engage with Aboriginal-specific services. An open, non-judgmental discussion (see Statement 7.8) is necessary to determine which services the client would like to connect with and how the speech pathologist can facilitate. For speech pathologists, awareness of local Aboriginal health services and social services includes investing in long-term relationships with local service providers, which may include Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations in a client and their families are made aware of ways to contact health services after discharge should they want to (e.g., by contacting their ALO/AHW – see also statement 8.9). Speech pathologists are encouraged to have an open-door policy, sharing their contact details and making it easy for discharged clients and their families to get back in touch. Relationship-building is key to facilitate this process. 	•	Armstrong et al., 2015: Qualitative study Penn & Armstrong, 2017: Discussion paper	•	GPP
	1		1	



 7.12 Speech pathologists should develop reflective practice skills so that they learn from each experience with an Aboriginal or Torres Strait Islander client and improve the service they provide with each new client, with the guidance of a mentor. Rationale: Continuous self-improvement and education, as well as openness to learning from more experienced (non-Indigenous) colleagues and other Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people are vital in order to enhance culturally safe practices (Indigenous Allied Health Australia Ltd., 2019). This process includes building relationships with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander colleagues and seeking guidance and feedback, thereby learning from others' experiences. Speech pathologists are encouraged to ask questions and learn from their experiences with Aboriginal colleagues, as well as clients and their families. Respect and appreciation of Indigenous knowledge systems is key, and a local mentor may be able to help in this respect (Armstrong et al., 2022; McDermott, 2019). 	 Armstrong et al., 2022: Co-design study Indigenous Allied Health Australia Ltd., 2019: IAHA Framework McDermott, 2019: Discussion paper 	• GPP
Additional considerations when working with clients with a CALD background		
 7.13 Healthcare providers should consider the cultural and linguistic background of the person with aphasia, their family, and their community. Rationale: Cultural and linguistic factors that may impact service delivery include language(s) and/or dialect(s) spoken at home or in the community, ethnic background, nationality, dress, traditions, food, societal structures, art, and religious and spiritual beliefs (Ethnic Communities Council of Victoria, 2012). True person-centred care therefore requires a holistic approach, which is considerate of these factors, as well as other factors related to a client's background or journey, such as their country of birth, path to Australia, socio-political history of their previous country, possible refugee status, the possibility of trauma, and level of acculturation. Another factor is citizenship/residency status, which impacts on access to services such as Medicare and health insurance, as well as contributing to experiences of stress (Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils Australia, 2020). Speech pathologists should also be mindful of social determinants of health (e.g., access to healthcare, education, and social inclusion; WHO, 2001) and how these may affect people with aphasia from CALD backgrounds specifically. This in turn requires speech pathologists to familiarise 	 Centeno et al., 2021: Book chapter Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils Australia, 2020: Access and Equity Report Holland & Penn, 1995: Book chapter Legg & Penn, 2013: Qualitative study Siyambalapitiya & Davidson, 2015: Discussion paper SPA, 2023a: Position statement WHO, 2001: WHO Framework 	• Qual

themselves with a person's (cultural) norms and background (Centeno et al., 2021), and engage in critical reflection and evaluation of one's own (un)conscious biases (SPA, 2023a). Attitudes and traditional beliefs towards healthcare, aphasia and the rehabilitation process, may differ both across different cultural or ethnic groups, and also between members of the same cultural or ethnic group, and should therefore be considered on an individual basis (Centeno et al., 2021; Legg & Penn, 2013; Siyambalapitiya & Davidson, 2015). As such, the typical methods and materials used for assessment, intervention, and education may not be suitable for all individuals in a diverse society (Holland & Penn, 1995).		
 Healthcare providers should consider the following: Who in the family/community is the decision maker? How do families/communities make decisions on behalf of individual community members? How do individuals/families/communities engage with illness/healthcare? How do individuals/families/communities navigate the healthcare system (which may conflict with their cultural values)? For reasons of linguistic diversity, assessment norms in one language cannot simply be transferred to a different language/dialect. Cultural diversity may also impact relevance and/or recognition of images and concepts presented in assessments developed in Western contexts. Speech pathologists may therefore need to use their own discretion when interpreting test results in a different language/dialect (Centeno et al., 2021) – see also statements 7.10 and 7.16. Similarly, certain therapy approaches or methods may not align with characteristics and features of a client's language (e.g., some languages may not use passive constructions to the same extent as English; Centeno et al., 2021). Speech pathologists are encouraged to liaise closely with qualified interpreters – see statements 7.7 and 7.14.		
 7.14 Where the speech pathologist is not proficient in a language of the person with aphasia, a trained and qualified interpreter, knowledgeable with the specific requirements for speech pathology, should be used. Rationale: The use of trained and qualified interpreters improves quality of clinical care, reduces communication errors, and increases patient satisfaction (Flores, 2005; Karliner et al., 2007), and 	 Babbitt et al., 2022: Qualitative study Brisset et al., 2013: Systematic review of 61 qualitative studies Flores, 2005: Systematic review of 36 studies Huang et al., 2019: Systematic review of 10 studies (5 single-case reports, 4 	• Qual

should be considered essential when the speech pathologist and the person with aphasia do not speak the same language (Larkman et al., 2023). Trained and qualified interpreters may not have specific knowledge or training regarding aphasia and speech pathology assessment and treatment procedures. Speech pathologists should share their professional knowledge with the interpreter, specifically about the way in which a person's aphasia may affect typical language use. This information is essential for valid diagnosis and treatment (Kambanaros & Van Steenbrugge, 2004; Roger & Code, 2011). Pre- and post-session briefings may therefore facilitate aphasia sessions with an interpreter (Huang et al., 2019; Larkman et al., 2023). Speech pathologists should also educate themselves on the role and practices of interpreters, and be aware that working with people with aphasia is fundamentally different from how interpreters usually work. For example, interpreters often ask clarifying questions, which may result in prompting or cueing during aphasia assessment. They are also trained to convey meaning rather than linguistic/grammatical form, and so may require specific instruction about the type of information needed by the speech pathologist (e.g., language errors made; Babbitt et al., 2022; Roger & Code, 2011). Aphasia assessment, treatment, and education is likely to require more time in this cohort, due to time needed to establish rapport, to liaise with interpreters, to create informal assessment and therapy resources, and for clinical reasoning (Siyambalapitiya & Davidson, 2015).	 surveys, 1 single-case qualitative study) Kambanaros & Van Steenbrugge, 2004: Case study Karliner et al., 2007: Systematic review of 28 studies (4 qualitative, 24 quantitative) Larkman et al., 2023: Scoping review of 20 studies (10 descriptive papers, 8 surveys, 2 interview studies) Roger & Code, 2011: Qualitative study Siyambalapitiya & Davidson, 2015: Discussion paper 	
 7.15 Where a patient reports having used more than one language premorbidly, comprehensive information about the patient's language history should be obtained. Rationale: Discussion with the client, and their family, friends and carers may assist in identifying all languages spoken by the client. A record of all languages spoken by the client should be documented in the notes. 	 Centeno & Ansaldo, 2013: Book chapter Kiran & Roberts, 2012: Book chapter Roberts, 2008: Book chapter 	• GPP

Estimation of premorbid levels of bi/multilingual proficiency may require additional information about a combination of factors such as self-ratings of proficiency, age of acquisition, and language use patterns (Kiran & Roberts, 2012). A comprehensive language history can also be used to guide intervention goals (Centeno & Ansaldo, 2013; Roberts, 2008).		
 7.16 Where possible, assessments should be used that are appropriate to the languages/dialects and cultural backgrounds of each client. Rationale: Simply translating assessment tasks does not ensure the equivalence of linguistic difficulty, and may not capture the varied symptoms of aphasia across different languages (Paradis, 2011). For this reason, culturally and linguistically appropriate assessment tools should be used wherever possible – see also statements 7.10 and 7.13. Discourse sampling, when conducted well, may be a culturally appropriate assessment tool for exploring language use (Altman et al., 2012) and may provide insight into unique bi/multilingual communicative behaviours in their natural context. Additionally, assessments of how the person with aphasia's communication is perceived (by the person or their family, friends or carers), such as the American Speech and Hearing Association Functional Assessment of Communication Skills (Frattali et al., 1995) and the Communicative Effectiveness Index (Lomas et al., 1989), may be adapted for use (see for example Penn & Beecham, 1992; Watson, 2000). 	 Altman et al., 2012: Single-participant study Paradis, 2011: Discussion paper Penn & Beecham, 1992: Case study Watson, 2000: Masters thesis 	• GPP
7.17 Where possible, treatment should be offered in all relevant languages and relevant modalities. Rationale: Systematic avoidance of a language may reduce the potential for its recovery (Meinzer et al., 2007). In addition, avoidance of a language may reduce the communication access opportunities for a bi/multilingual person (Centeno & Ansaldo, 2013; Penn et al., 2007). Cross-linguistic transfer of treatment gains provided only in one language does not occur in all cases (Ansaldo & Saidi, 2014;	 Ansaldo & Saidi, 2014: Narrative review Centeno & Ansaldo, 2013: Book chapter 	• 111-2

Faroqi-Shah et al., 2010), but may occur more easily when using translation tasks, Semantic Feature Analysis or a combination of this approach with phonological cueing, and treating in the weaker premorbid language or in the stronger post-morbid language (Ansaldo & Saidi, 2013). However, the choice of language should reflect relative accessibility and proficiency, and also the client's preferences and needs among other factors (Centeno & Ansaldo, 2013; Roberts, 2008).	 Faroqi-Shah et al., 2010: Systematic review of 14 studies (12 case studies, 2 single subject design) Meinzer et al., 2007: Case study Penn et al., 2007: Non-randomised observational study Roberts, 2008: Book chapter 	
 7.18 Language behaviours unique to the bi/multilingual person with aphasia such as translation, language mixing and code-switching should be considered in both assessment and intervention planning. Rationale: Aphasia may result in disturbances to bi/multilingual behaviours such as translation, language mixing and/or code-switching (Ansaldo et al., 2010). Language switching and code-switching do not necessarily need to be avoided, especially if these behaviours existed premorbidly, help the client maximise communication, and they occur in an appropriate context. However, where these behaviours occur inappropriately and/or unintentionally, they may be a suitable target for treatment ,and may be shaped using translation-based approaches to switch back to the intended language (Ansaldo et al., 2010). Discussion with the client and their family, friends and carers may assist in identifying the client's premorbid use of these behaviours, and their (in)appropriate use in different contexts. 	• Ansaldo et al., 2010: Case study	• IV
 7.19 Speech pathologists should explain terminology in a way that is relevant and culturally appropriate. Rationale: In order to help the client and their family, friends and carers to understand the speech pathology and rehabilitation context, information should be provided in a way that is relevant and culturally appropriate. Speech pathologists are encouraged to work closely with relevant professionals (e.g. ALO/AHWs – see statement 7.6; and interpreters – see statements 7.7 and 7.14) to determine suitable terminology and culturally appropriate approaches to clinical discussions. 	• N/A	• GPP

SECTION 8: PLANNING FOR TRANSITIONS

BEST PRACTICE STATEMENTS 8: PLANNING FOR TRANSITIONS	REFERENCES	EVIDENCE LEVEL
 8.1 Planning for the next phase of care should be initiated as early as possible. Rationale: Effective discharge planning is essential to ensure clients experience smooth transitions through their continuum of care. Delayed and/or incomplete discharge planning can lead to prolonged hospital stays and an increased risk of adverse events following discharge (Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010; Shepperd et al., 2013). 	 Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010: Clinical guidelines Sheppherd et al., 2013: Cochrane review (not restricted to aphasia) 	• 1
 8.2 Speech pathologists should be part of the discharge planning team and adopt an advocacy role to promote optimal care. Rationale: Multiple opportunities should be made available, from early on, for both the person with aphasia and their family, friends and carers to discuss their available discharge options, as well as any fears or concerns they may have. People with aphasia are often confused by their discharge and transition arrangements and may benefit from the added support of a speech pathologist using supported communication strategies to explain the process and invite the person's participation in discussions and decision-making (Ellis-Hill et al., 2009; Hersh, 2009). 	 Ellis-Hill et al., 2009: Qualitative study Hersh, 2009: Qualitative study 	• Qual.
 8.3 During transitions, timely, up-to-date, accurate and appropriate patient-related information should be shared with the receiving healthcare providers. Rationale: Stroke patient care tends to be complex and require ongoing monitoring and management. Clear and timely communication is essential to ensure continuity of care, patient 	 Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010: Clinical guidelines Kripalani et al., 2007: Systematic review of 73 studies (55 observational studies, 3 RCTs, 7 	• 1

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024
safety, and reduce the risk of complications and adverse events that can result from confusion or ambiguity during transition points (Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010). A systematic review of discharge from hospital cited lack of communication between health professionals as a significant factor contributing to the likelihood of adverse events (Kripalani et al., 2007). For these reasons, clear, timely and accurate information should be communicated between the discharging service and the receiving service and their health professionals at all transitions along the continuum of care.	non-randomised CTs, 8 pre post- design) (not restricted to aphasia)	
 8.4 At the time of any discharge or transition, information that includes current diagnosis, action plans, follow-up care, and goals should be provided to the person with aphasia, and their family, friends and carers using relevant language and communication formats. Rationale: At the time of any discharge or transition, the person with aphasia and their carers should be provided with up-to-date information that clearly defines the person's diagnosis, functional abilities, significant interventions, and ongoing care (Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010). Education is a key component of aphasia rehabilitation which supports access to services and participation in healthcare decision-making (Rose et al., 2018). This can improve the way people with aphasia and their carers engage with rehabilitation and their levels of self-efficacy (Eames et al., 2013). People with aphasia report the need for information about the causes and consequences of aphasia, their prognosis, and what to expect at different stages of recovery (Worrall et al., 2011). 	 Canadian Stroke Strategy, 2010: Clinical guidelines Crocker et al., 2021: Cochrane review (not restricted to aphasia) Eames et al., 2013: RCT Rose et al., 2003: Pre and post experimental design Rose et al., 2018: Qualitative study Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017: Qualitative study Worrall et al., 2011: Qualitative study 	• GPP
This information should also be provided to families, friends and carers of people with aphasia (Simmons-Mackie et al., 2017) so they can become more effective communication partners and advocates and ensure ongoing inclusion of the person with aphasia. Information should be tailored to meet individual needs using relevant language and communication formats (Worrall et al., 2011), including aphasia-friendly materials for people with aphasia (Rose et al., 2003). Information and should be provided at different stages in the recovery process with opportunities for follow-up, clarification, and reinforcement of information (Crocker et al., 2021).		

 8.5 The speech pathologist, as part of an interdisciplinary team approach, should contribute information about the communication skills of the person with aphasia that may influence appropriateness of discharge. Rationale: Before the transition from hospital, the speech pathologist should provide information to the multidisciplinary team regarding the person with aphasia's suitability and safety, from a communication perspective, to be discharged. For example, a person with significant communication difficulties who is returning to the community may require additional speech pathology input and support to prepare for tasks such as seeking help in an emergency, or safely answering the door. To facilitate the person with aphasia to actively engage in the community, a range of training and relevant supports may be required (Worrall et al., 2011). 	• Worrall et al., 2011: Qualitative study	• Qual.
 8.6 Services that provide early supported discharge should ensure that the person with aphasia and their family are linked in with ongoing (social) supports and appropriately prepared for the transition. Rationale: Home-based early supported discharge services can reduce the length of hospital stay and long-term care needs for some people with mild to moderate disability following stroke (Langhorne et al., 2017). In the initial weeks following stroke, the presence of social supports and contacts is essential to individuals who are facing considerable life changes following a stroke event (Robinson et al., 1999). Improvement of available social support and prevention of social isolation can be an important strategy in reducing or preventing distress and post-stroke depression (Hilari, 2011; Salter et al., 2010; Thomas & Lincoln, 2008). In the case of early discharge, speech pathologists should still ensure that people with aphasia are still appropriately prepared for the transition. This includes raising awareness and/or referring people to appropriate (social) supports, such as: peer befriending services (Hilari et al., 2021), 	 Hilari, 2011: Non-randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2021: RCT Langhorne et al., 2017: Cochrane review Robinson et al., 1999: Non- randomised observational study Salter et al., 2010: Systematic review of 10 RCTs Thomas & Lincoln, 2008: Non- randomised observational study 	•

 community-based groups for people with aphasia and their families (e.g., conversation groups, peer support groups, arts and leisure groups), Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (see National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, n.d.), local and national aphasia advocacy organisations (e.g., the AAA), aphasia research organisations, and University-based aphasia clinics. 		
 8.7 The speech pathologist should connect the person with aphasia and their family, friends and carers with other people with aphasia, community aphasia groups, and support organisations. Rationale: Being discharged from hospital or outpatient care is a critical time point for people with aphasia and their families. Without appropriate supports, people with aphasia face a high risk of mood disturbance (Hilari et al., 2010), social isolation and poor quality of life (Hilari et al., 2009). Family members taking on carer roles also face a high risk of carer burden and reduced quality of life (Blom Johansson et al., 2022; Grawburg et al., 2012). Research has shown that participation in community aphasia groups can benefit language, social participation, and community access for people with aphasia (Lanyon et al., 2013; Lanyon et al., 2018). People with aphasia and their carers report a range of benefits to psychological wellbeing from attending community aphasia groups, including forming positive relations with others, purpose in life, environmental mastery, autonomy, personal growth, and self-acceptance. (Attard et al., 2015). Similarly, research has shown improvements to mood and quality of life for people with aphasia participating in peer befriending programs (Hilari et al., 2021) Appropriate supports may include: peer befriending services (Hilari et al., 2021), community-based groups for people with aphasia and their families (Attard et al., 2015, 2018; Lanyon et al., 2018), Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (see National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisations (e.g., The AAA), aphasia research organisations, and university-based aphasia clinics. 	 Attard et al., 2015: Narrative review Attard et al., 2018: Case series Blom Johansson et al., 2022: Qualitative study Grawburg et al., 2012: Qualitative study Hilari et al., 2009: Qualitative study Hilari et al., 2010: Non-randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2010: Non-randomised observational study Hilari et al., 2013: Systematic review of 29 studies (12 pre-post test case series, 10 single-participant design studies, 4 RCTs, 3 non-randomised controlled trials). Lanyon et al., 2018: Qualitative study 	• 11

 8.8. As part of the multidisciplinary team, the speech pathologist should, for legal issues, document all observations regarding the person's ability to understand written and verbal information and express their wishes. Rationale: In cases where the speech pathologist is aware of potential issues that may lead to legal challenges to the testamentary capacity of the client, the speech pathologist should ensure that full documentation of the client's communication functioning occurs. The speech pathologist may also act as a facilitator of communication between the client and the solicitor. In addition, speech pathologists may need to raise awareness within the legal profession about aphasia and the potential contribution of the expertise of speech pathologists when testamentary capacity is being considered (Ferguson et al., 2003). 	 Ferguson et al., 2003: Case study; Qual 	• Qual
 8.9 People with aphasia and their family, friends and carers should have access to a contact person (e.g., a stroke coordinator or speech pathologist) for any queries post-discharge, and should know how to self-refer to appropriate speech pathology services after discharge if they feel further rehabilitation is required. Rationale: Aphasia can be a life-altering condition and often leaves people with ongoing functional impairments. It is often not until people with aphasia are discharged from hospital-based stages of care-and experience everyday life with aphasia (including its effects on relationships with family and friends, identity, and social situations), that the impact of aphasia becomes apparent (Ford et al., 2018; Shadden & Agan, 2004; Worrall et al., 2013; Wray & Clarke, 2017). It is often at this time that people with communication impairments request services (O'Callaghan et al., 2009); however, accessing services post-discharge can be difficult, as stroke survivors and their carers often do not have the knowledge or skills to re-engage with healthcare services (Pindus et al., 2018). On discharge, speech pathologists should ensure that clients are aware of the services available to them and know how to access them. Clients should also have access to a relevant contact person for any queries post-discharge, as their information needs may change, particularly during the first year, with adjustment, self-reliance, and self-management increasing over time (Pindus et al., 2018). It has been suggested that active information provision (with healthcare providers actively engaging to ensure information needs are met) may be more useful in this context than passive information 	 Crocker et al., 2021: Cochrane review (not restricted to aphasia) Ford et al., 2018: Scoping review of 21 qualitative studies O'Callaghan et al., 2009: Narrative review Pindus et al., 2018: Systematic review of 51 qualitative studies Shaddan & Agan, 2004: Theoretical review Worrall et al., 2013: Discussion paper Wray & Clarke, 2017: Systematic review of 32 qualitative studies 	• Qual.

provision (e.g., leaving leaflets in waiting areas), particularly for stroke survivors themselves (Crocker et al., 2021).		
Additional considerations when working with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients		
7.6 Speech pathologists should offer the involvement of an Aboriginal Liaison Officer (ALO) and/or Aboriginal Health Worker (AHW)* where possible to advise on cultural issues and liaise with the person with aphasia and family.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	
7.8 Speech pathologists should incorporate clinical yarning as a means to build rapport and trust with the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander person and their family and to discuss speech pathology terms in a relevant and culturally appropriate way.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	
7.11 Speech pathologists should develop an awareness of local Aboriginal health services and Aboriginal specific social services.	See section 7 for rationale and evidence	

APPENDIX 1: NHMRC LEVELS OF EVIDENCE

 Table 1 NHMRC Evidence Hierarchy: designations of 'levels of evidence' according to type of research question (including explanatory notes)

 (National Health and Medical Research Council, 2010)

Diagnostic accuracy² Aetiology ³ Intervention ¹ Prognosis **Screening Intervention** Level 14 A systematic review of level II studies A systematic review of level II studies A systematic review of A systematic review of A systematic review of level II studies level II studies level II studies A randomised controlled trial A study of test accuracy with: an A prospective cohort A randomised controlled П A prospective cohort independent, blinded comparison with studv⁷ studv⁷ trial a valid reference standard,⁵ among consecutive persons with a defined clinical presentation⁶ All or none⁸ A pseudo-randomised III-1 A pseudo-randomised controlled trial A study of test accuracy with: an All or none⁸ independent, blinded comparison with (i.e. alternate allocation or some controlled trial (i.e. other method) a valid reference standard,⁵ among nonalternate allocation or consecutive persons with a defined some other method) clinical presentation⁶ 111-2 A comparative study with concurrent A comparison with reference standard Analysis of prognostic A retrospective cohort A comparative study with controls: that does not meet the criteria required factors amongst persons study concurrent controls: for Level II and III-1 evidence in a single arm of a • Non-randomised, experimental Non-randomised, randomised controlled trial⁹ experimental trial9 trial • Cohort study Cohort study • Case-control study • Case-control study Interrupted time series with a control group

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

111-3	 A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study¹⁰ Interrupted time series without a parallel control group 	Diagnostic case-control study ⁶	A retrospective cohort study	A case-control study	 A comparative study without concurrent controls: Historical control study Two or more single arm study
IV	Case series with either post-test or pre-test/post-test outcomes	Study of diagnostic yield (no reference standard) ¹¹	Case series, or cohort study of persons at different stages of disease	A cross-sectional study or case series	Case series

Explanatory notes

- ¹ Definitions of these study designs are provided on pages 7-8 *How to use the evidence: assessment and application of scientific evidence* (NHMRC 2000b).
- ² The dimensions of evidence apply only to studies of diagnostic accuracy. To assess the <u>effectiveness</u> of a diagnostic test there also needs to be a consideration of the impact of the test on patient management and health outcomes (Medical Services Advisory Committee 2005; Sackett and Haynes 2002).
- ³ If it is possible and/or ethical to determine a causal relationship using experimental evidence, then the 'Intervention' hierarchy of evidence should be utilised. If it is only possible and/or ethical to determine a causal relationship using observational evidence (i.e. cannot allocate groups to a potential harmful exposure, such as nuclear radiation), then the 'Aetiology' hierarchy of evidence should be utilised.
- ⁴ A systematic review will only be assigned a level of evidence as high as the studies it contains, excepting where those studies are of level II evidence.

Systematic reviews of level II evidence provide more data than the individual studies and any meta-analyses will increase the precision of the overall results, reducing the likelihood that the results are affected by chance. Systematic reviews of lower-level evidence present results of likely poor internal validity and thus are rated on the likelihood that the results have been affected by bias, rather than whether the systematic review itself is of good quality. Systematic review *quality* should be assessed separately. A systematic review should consist of at least two studies. In systematic reviews that include different study designs, the overall level of evidence should relate to each individual outcome/result, as different studies (and study designs) might contribute to each different outcome.

⁵ The validity of the reference standard should be determined in the context of the disease under review. Criteria for determining the validity of the reference standard should be pre-specified. This can include the choice of the reference standard(s) and its timing in relation to the index test. The validity of the reference standard can be determined through quality appraisal of the study (Whiting et al. 2003).

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

- ⁶ Well-designed population-based case-control studies (e.g. population-based screening studies where test accuracy is assessed on all cases, with a random sample of controls) do capture a population with a representative spectrum of disease and thus fulfil the requirements for a valid assembly of patients. However, in some cases the population assembled is not representative of the use of the test in practice. In diagnostic case-control studies a selected sample of patients already known to have the disease are compared with a separate group of normal/healthy people known to be free of the disease. In this situation patients with borderline or mild expressions of the disease, and conditions mimicking the disease are excluded, which can lead to exaggeration of both sensitivity and specificity. This is called spectrum bias or spectrum effect because the spectrum of study participants will not be representative of patients seen in practice (Mulherin and Miller, 2002).
- ⁷ At study inception the cohort is either non-diseased or all at the same stage of the disease. A randomised controlled trial with persons either non-diseased or at the same stage of the disease in *both* arms of the trial would also meet the criterion for this level of evidence.
- ⁸ All or none of the people with the risk factor(s) experience the outcome; and the data arises from an unselected or representative case series which provides an unbiased representation of the prognostic effect. For example, no smallpox develops in the absence of the specific virus; and clear proof of the causal link has come from the disappearance of smallpox after large-scale vaccination.
- ⁹ This also includes controlled before-and-after (pre-test/post-test) studies, as well as adjusted indirect comparisons (i.e. utilise A vs B and B vs C, to determine A vs C with statistical adjustment for B).

- ¹⁰ Comparing single arm studies i.e. case series from two studies. This would also include unadjusted indirect comparisons (i.e. utilise A vs B and B vs C, to determine A vs C but where there is no statistical adjustment for B).
- ¹¹ Studies of diagnostic yield provide the yield of diagnosed patients, as determined by an index test, without confirmation of the accuracy of this diagnosis by a reference standard. These may be the only alternative when there is no reliable reference standard.

Note A: Assessment of comparative harms/safety should occur according to the hierarchy presented for each of the research questions, with the proviso that this assessment occurs within the context of the topic being assessed. Some harms are rare and cannot feasibly be captured within randomised controlled trials; physical harms and psychological harms may need to be addressed by different study designs; harms from diagnostic testing include the likelihood of false positive and false negative results; harms from screening include the likelihood of false alarm and false reassurance results.

Note B: When a level of evidence is attributed in the text of a document, it should also be framed according to its corresponding research question e.g. level II intervention evidence; level IV diagnostic evidence; level III-2 prognostic evidence.

Source: Hierarchies adapted and modified from: NHMRC, 1999; Bandolier, 1999; Lijmer et al. 1999; Phillips et al. 2001.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

APPENDIX 2: GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Abbreviations

AAA	Australian Aphasia Association
AAC	Augmentative and alternative communication
AARP	Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway
AHW/ALO	Aboriginal Health Worker/Aboriginal Liaison Officer
Aphasia CRE	Centre of Research Excellence in Aphasia Recovery and Rehabilitation
CCRE	Centre for Clinical Research Excellence
СРТ	Communication partner training
GPP	Good practice point
ICF Health	International Classification of Functioning, Disability and
IPD	Individual participant data
NDIS	National Disability Insurance Scheme
NHMRC	National Health and Medical Research Council
RAM RCT RELEASE	RAND/UCLA Appropriateness Method Randomised controlled trial REhabilitation and recovery of peopLE with Aphasia after StrokE
SCED	Single case experimental design
SF	Stroke Foundation
SPA	Speech Pathology Australia
wно	World Health Organization

General Terms and Definitions

Allied Health Assistant: Allied health assistants assist professionals in the health sector such as physiotherapy, speech pathology, nutrition and podiatry. The duties of a health assistant can vary, but these professionals typically focus on caring for patients and assisting allied health professionals.

Aphasia: Aphasia is a communication disability due to an acquired impairment of language modalities caused by focal brain damage (Berg et al., 2020). Language modalities include speaking, understanding, reading, writing and using signs. Aphasia may affect participation and quality of life of the person with aphasia as well as their family and friends. Aphasia masks competence and affects functioning across relationships, life roles and activities, thereby influencing social inclusion, social connectedness, access to information and services, equal rights, and wellbeing in family, community and culture (Berg et al., 2020). In the context of the best practice statements, 'aphasia' refers specifically to post-stroke aphasia.

Aphasia-friendly material: Material that has been adapted for people with aphasia. Recommendations for how to best format printed education material for people with aphasia include the use of short, simple language, content that is relevant and interesting to the reader, large san serif font, bolding of important information, well organised information, increased white space, relevant pictures, simple layout, low reading grade level, and graphics that contain captions.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

Augmentative and alternative communication (AAC): Communication through means other than speech. While there is no consensus on exact terminology, AAC solutions can be categorised based on the extent to which they involve products or technology. Some people distinguish between:

- no-technology (e.g., gestures) / low- technology (e.g., communication boards, cue cards) AAC, and
- high-technology AAC (e.g., (portable) computers, dedicated AAC devices, mobile devices and applications).

Can: For best practice statements where the evidence is less clear, and/or there is not a clear clinical consensus, the word **"can"** has been used. Individual patient factors should always be taken into account when considering different intervention options.

Chronic aphasia: Aphasia that persists beyond the acute stages. There is no clear timeframe to define acute versus chronic, however for the purpose of the statements, chronic aphasia is defined as ongoing language difficulties more than six months post stroke.

Client: The person with aphasia is referred to as a 'client' when receiving services post-hospital care, or when a statement applies to both hospital and post-hospital care.

Dynamic assessment: Assessments where the clinician takes on an experimental approach in the sense that they attempt to identify the effects of factors (e.g., strategies, task modifications, contextual factors, environmental supports) that may influence performance.

Early supported discharge: Pathways of care for transferring patients from an inpatient environment to the community sooner than usual, to continue a period of rehabilitation and recuperation at a similar level of intensity and delivered by a coordinated interdisciplinary team with the same level of expertise, as they would have received in the inpatient setting.

Formal vs. informal assessment: Formal (standardised) assessments are those used for the purposes of replication, for example, when the purpose of the assessment is to compare the person with aphasia to a normative reference standard or to compare their performance over time. Informal assessment processes are those used for the purposes of developing an in-depth understanding of an individual's performance and difficulties in relation to their identified needs and the scope of the assessment (e.g. to design therapy, to consider decision-making capacity).

Goal setting: Goal setting has been defined as an iterative process of collaborative discussions between the clinician, patient and family members about the goals of aphasia rehabilitation. The discussion identifies the end targets of intervention and explains the process of achieving them.

Good practice point (GPP): A recommendation for which there is currently no robust Level I, II, III or IV evidence available, but there was consensus within the AARP working group, and/or documented expert opinion.

Interdisciplinary Team: An interdisciplinary team is composed of members from different healthcare professions with specialised skills and expertise. The members collaborate together to make treatment recommendations that facilitate quality patient care. Some interdisciplinary teams carry out assessment/intervention sessions with two or more different healthcare professionals present in highly collaborate practice.

International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF): Developed by the WHO, the ICF is framework that provides unified and standard language for the description of health and health-related states. These states are classified from body, individual and societal perspectives by means of two lists: a list of *body functions and structure*, and a list of domains of *activity and participation*. Since an individual's functioning and disability occurs within a context, the ICF also includes *contextual* (environmental and personal) factors.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

Multidisciplinary team: A multidisciplinary team (MDT) is composed of members from different healthcare professions with specialised skills and expertise. The members collaborate together to make treatment recommendations that facilitate quality patient care.

Patient: The person with aphasia is referred to as 'patient' during the hospital admission

Phases of care: The critical timepoints post-stroke that link to the currently known biology of recovery, and around which stroke services are commonly delivered. Bernardt et al. (2017) define the following phases of case:

- hyper-acute: 0-24 hours
- acute: 1-7 days
- early subacute: 7 days to 3 months
- late subacute: 3 to 6 months
- chronic: >6 months

Prognosis: The prediction of the likely outcome of one's current condition

Self-management: the ability of a person with aphasia to manage the symptoms, treatment, physical and psychosocial consequences, and lifestyle changes inherent in living with chronic aphasia. Self-management techniques are ones that may assist and empower the person with aphasia to achieve this.

Should: For best practice statements where the evidence is clear and trusted, or where there is consensus on the basis of clinical experience and expert opinion (good practice point: GPP), the word **"should"** has been used to indicate that the intervention should be routinely carried out. Individual patient factors should always be taken into account when considering different intervention options.

Stroke unit: Stroke units with a focus on acute care and early aspects of rehabilitation, with varying degrees of intensity and follow-up. Stroke units share the following characteristics: located in a geographically discrete unit;

comprehensive assessment; a coordinated multidisciplinary team; early mobilisation and avoidance of bed-rest; staff with special interest in the management of stroke, and access to ongoing professional education and training; clear communication with regular team meetings to discuss management (including discharge planning) and other meetings as needed (e.g. family conferences); and active encouragement of stroke survivors and their families to be involved in the rehabilitation process.

Subacute services/care: Subacute care has many definitions, depending on the context in which it is considered. At its simplest, subacute care is about goal-oriented (and in many instances time-limited) interventions aimed at assessing and managing often complex conditions to maximize independence and quality of life for people with disabling conditions.

Tele-assessment: See Telerehabilitation

Telerehabilitation: The remote delivery of rehabilitation via some form of telecommunication technology (e.g., Zoom or Skype). This can include both treatment (telerehabilitation, telepractice) and assessment (tele-assessment).

Transitions: Refers to the movement of patients among healthcare locations, providers, goals of care, and the various settings where healthcare services are received. Key transition points along the rehabilitation pathway include:

- Discharge from acute hospital,
- Discharge from subacute rehabilitation/inpatient rehabilitation,
- Discharge from community-based/outpatient rehabilitation, and/or
- Discharge from community services such as Intensive Comprehensive Aphasia Programs, NDIS short term programs of therapy, etc.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

(Clinical) Yarning: Yarning is an Indigenous concept which is about sharing information and stories. Clinical yarning is a framework that combines Aboriginal ways of communicating with biomedical knowledge. Clinical yarning is a person-centred, holistic approach that is relaxed and open-ended, and can be used to build a trusting relationship and to communicate health information.

Clinical yarning consists of three interrelated parts:

- 1. Social yarning is about finding common ground and establishing connection. It is a chance for clinicians to learn about the person and about local Aboriginal culture and to share personal information. Social yarning is holistic, patient-led, values the patient as expert, and values the patient's story and life knowledge.
- 2. Diagnostic yarning is about the patient telling their health story, with the clinician interpreting through a biomedical lens. Rather than asking a series of questions, the aim is for the person to tell their story. Open-ended questioning, non-judgemental listening, and allowing conversational silences are key.
- 3. Management yarning is about the clinician having an honest discussion with their client about their condition and deciding on a management plan together. Information shared with the patient should be clear and medical jargon should be avoided. Stories and metaphors can be used to share information in a meaningful and understandable way, and people should be provided with appropriate resources. The goal of this type of yarn is to come up with an agreed upon plan that is clearly understood by all parties.

Interventions

Behavioural Activation: Behavioural activation is a behaviour therapy for treating mood disorders. BA is a way by which mood can be improved through the active engagement and planning of potentially mood-boosting activities. BA also involves the understanding of an individual's specific behaviours and the use of specific methods to enable them to overcome avoidance.

Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT): a type of psychotherapy in which negative patterns of thought about the self and the world are challenged in order to alter unwanted behaviour patterns or treat mood disorders such as depression.

Communication partner training (CPT): An environmental intervention that aims to train communication partners to understand the characteristics of aphasia and successfully communicate with people with aphasia. CPT is directed at people other than the person with aphasia, with the intent of improving the language, communication, participation, and/or wellbeing of the person with aphasia. Communication partners are people in the environment with whom the person with aphasia might interact. This includes both familiar communication partners (e.g., family, friends), and unfamiliar communication partners (e.g., health professionals, formal/paid carers, students, volunteers).

Community aphasia group: a community-based group designed for people with aphasia. These groups may include language and communication-based activities, and typically include a focus on peer support, social connection, supported conversation, wellbeing and access to enjoyable activities. They may or may not include the family members and friends of people with aphasia.

Constraint-induced language therapy: Constraint-induced language therapy (CILT) or constraint-induced aphasia therapy (CIAT) is an intensive therapy model based on the forced use of verbal oral language as the sole channel of communication, while any alternative communication modes such as writing, gesturing or pointing are discouraged.

Discourse treatment: treatments that focus on naturally occurring (real-life) conversations and those that focus on improving linguistic performance by treating within a structured discourse context.

Gesture treatment: Gestures can be used as a compensatory communication modality in the event of verbal language failure. In addition, gestures have been advocated as a means to facilitate restoration of language skills. Gestures come

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

in many types, including beats, deictics, iconics, pantomimes and emblems. Compensatory communication relies primarily on symbolic gestures that express some type of meaning, such as iconics (e.g., hand shaped as an object, such as house), emblems (e.g., familiar actions used within a culture, such as thumbs up or salute) and pantomimes (e.g., use of objects or actions such as fork/eating).

Language Underpins Narrative in Aphasia (LUNA:) LUNA is a theory based, codesigned, multi-level discourse intervention, which aims to facilitate the telling of personal stories through word, utterance (sentence) and discourse macrostructure level treatment activities. It integrates familiar treatments - semantic feature analysis, mapping therapy, story grammar - to provide flexible metalinguistic tools for improving people's confidence and ability to express themselves through narrative.

Mapping Therapy (MT): Mapping Therapy was developed for people with nonfluent agrammatic aphasia. It aims to improve the production and/or comprehension of sentences. It is based on the hypothesis that people with agrammatism retain skills with syntax but cannot relate syntactic forms to meaning. They cannot, therefore, compose or comprehend sentence word order. Their problems are compounded with moved argument, non-canonical forms, such as passives. Mapping treatment involves explicit discussion about where verb roles (agent/patient/theme) are expressed in a sentence. The treatment engages sentence comprehension &/or production tasks and can work with a variety of sentence forms.

Modified Multiple Oral Rereading (MMOR): A modification of MOR Multiple Oral Rereading therapy for treating alexia involving repeated oral reading of written discourse aimed at increasing reading speed, accuracy and reading comprehension.

Multimodal Aphasia Treatment (MMAT): Multi-Modality Aphasia Therapy (M-MAT) is a high-dose intervention aimed at improving verbal communication at

word, sentence and discourse level, utilising specific verbal (naming, repetition, writing) and nonverbal strategies (gesture, drawing) while playing language games with cards depicting objects or actions.

Multiple Oral Rereading (MOR): A technique for treating alexia involving independent repeated oral reading of written discourse aimed at increasing reading speed and accuracy.

Narrative and Discourse Intervention in Aphasia (NADIIA): Narrative and Discourse Intervention in Aphasia (NADIIA) is a structured multi-level language therapy, delivered using a natural interactive approach. It draws on evidence-based therapies for improving microstructure (words and sentences) and combines these to build macrostructure (e.g., the beginning, middle and end of a topic) for a range of monologic genres (i.e., telling stories, giving opinions, explaining procedures, recounting events). A metalinguistic and metacognitive approach underpins the combining of language with cognitive skills, all needed to produce informative and coherent discourse, and which are pivotal to the transfer of gains to communication outside the clinical setting.

Oral Reading for Language in Aphasia (ORLA^{*}): Oral Reading for Language in Aphasia (ORLA^{*}) is a treatment designed to improve reading comprehension and oral reading fluency in people with aphasia but has also demonstrated indirect effects on other language modalities including oral expression (i.e., apraxia of speech) and auditory comprehension. The treatment combines listening, choral reading, and repetition of sentences or paragraphs in a structured, repetitive protocol that also includes single word recognition and production. ORLA^{*}'s multi-modality nature (i.e., seeing the text, seeing the therapist's oral movements, hearing the therapist's production, hearing the steps with each stimulus sentence or paragraph) are essential components.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

Peer befriending: Peer befriending is social and emotional support provided by people with experience of a condition to others sharing a similar condition to bring about a desired social or personal change. Peer befrienders, who have achieved improvements in their own condition, have been found to offer acceptance, respect, empathy, support, companionship, hope and share experiences and ideas about how to cope.

Problem solving therapy: Problem-solving therapy is a brief intervention that provides people with the tools they need to identify and solve problems that arise from big and small life stressors. It aims to improve your overall quality of life and reduce the negative impact of psychological and physical illness

Relaxation therapy: Relaxation therapy refers to a number of techniques designed to teach someone to be able to relax voluntarily. These techniques can include special breathing practices and progressive muscle relaxation exercises, which are designed to reduce physical and mental tension

Solution Focused Brief Therapy: Solution-focused brief therapy is a strengthbased approach to psychotherapy that focuses on solution-building rather than problem-solving. Unlike other forms of psychotherapy that analyse present problems and past causes, Solution-focused brief therapy concentrates on current circumstances and future hopes.

Treatment of Underlying Forms (TUF): Treatment of Underlying Forms (TUF) is a psycholinguistically based therapy developed for improving sentence deficits in individuals with agrammatic aphasia, a type of aphasia characterized by production of short, grammatically impoverished utterances with frequent word finding pauses. TUF focuses on verbs, their thematic roles, and sentence building, using simple active sentences to build complex, noncanonical structures in both comprehension and production. Treatment is based on the Complexity Account of Treatment Efficacy (CATE): training complex structures promotes generalization to sentences of lesser linguistic complexity when the abstract underlying properties of language overlap across structures. **Verb Network Strengthening Treatment (VNeST):** Verb Network Strengthening Treatment (VNeST) is a sentence level aphasia treatment that aims to promote increased lexical retrieval abilities beyond what is explicitly trained (generalisation) so individuals can more effectively convey their ideas in novel/untrained sentences, discourse, and contexts

Research Methodologies

Background paper/Discussion Paper: A report or other written document which describes the contextual and historical background that helps people better understand a problem or situation.

Case series: A study reporting observation on a series of individuals, usually all receiving the same intervention, with no control group.

Case study: A study reporting observation on a single individual.

Cochrane review: A systematic review and summary of research in health care and health policy that is published in the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. They are intended to help people make practical decisions.

Co-design study: Co-design is a human-centered design methodology used in research-action projects to design a product or service. In the co-design approach, end users (or potential users) participate in knowledge creation and idea generation alongside researchers and designers.

Consensus statement: statement and recommendations for an area of practice that are developed based on a collective opinion, or consensus, of a convened expert panel.

Descriptive report: an article that provides a general description of a project or activity that was undertaken but may not have prospectively/systematically measured and reported on objective outcomes.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

Economic evaluation: Comparison of the relationship between costs and outcomes (cost-effectiveness) of alternative healthcare interventions

Meta-analysis: combining the data from multiple individual trials to produce an overall statistic. This aims to provide a more precise estimate of the effects of an intervention and to reduce uncertainty.

Narrative review: attempts to summarise the literature in a way which is not explicitly systematic (in terms of the method of the literature search), but in a wider sense includes a specific research question and a comprehensive summary of all studies.

Non-randomised controlled trial: A study estimating the effectiveness of an intervention (harm or benefit) that does not use randomisation to allocate units to comparison groups

Non-randomised observational study: Observational studies include case reports, case series, cross-sectional, case–control and cohort studies and do not include the random allocation of participants to groups

Non-randomised study: Any quantitative study estimating the effectiveness of an intervention (harm or benefit) that does not use randomisation to allocate units to comparison groups

Observational study: A study in which the investigators do not seek to intervene, and simply observe the course of events.

Qualitative meta-synthesis: An intentional and coherent approach to analysing data across qualitative studies. It enables researchers to identify a specific research question and then search for, select, appraise, summarise, and combine qualitative evidence to address the research question.

Qualitative study: Research that explores people's beliefs, experiences, views, attitudes, motivations, behaviour and/or interactions. Qualitative research asks

questions about how and why and generates non-numerical data using techniques such as focus groups and in-depth interviews.

Randomised controlled trial (RCT): The unit of experimentation (e.g. people, or a cluster of people) is allocated to either an intervention (the factor under study) group or a control group, using a random mechanism (such as a coin toss, random number table, computer-generated random numbers) and the outcomes from each group are compared.

Retrospective chart review: a type of research design in which pre-recorded, patient-centered data are used to answer one or more research questions.

Scoping review: a type of evidence synthesis that aims to systematically identify and map the breadth of evidence available on a particular topic, field, concept, or issue, often irrespective of source (i.e., primary research, reviews, nonempirical evidence).

Single case experimental design (SCED): tests the efficacy of an intervention using a small number of patients (typically one to three). Individual behaviour is repeatedly measured (e.g. baseline and post-intervention) allowing participants to serve as their own controls. SCEDs are not case studies but are carefully designed prospective experimental designs.

Systematic review: A review that attempts to identify, appraise and synthesize all the empirical evidence that meets pre-specified eligibility criteria to answer a specific research question. Researchers conducting systematic reviews use explicit, systematic methods that are selected with a view aimed at minimizing bias, to produce more reliable findings to inform decision making.

Theoretical review: establishes what theories already exist around a particular issue, the relationships between them, to what degree the existing theories have been investigated, and develops new hypotheses to be tested.

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

APPENDIX 3: REFERENCE LIST

References

- Agency for Clinical Innovation, n.d. Yarning to Make Health Decisions Together. Retrieved from: <u>https://aci.health.nsw.gov.au/shared-decision-making</u>
- Aliu, O., & Chung, K. C. (2012). Assessing strength of evidence in diagnostic tests. *Plastic & Reconstructive Surgery*, *129*(6), 989e – 998e. DOI: 10.1097/PRS.0b013e31824ecd61
- Allida, S., Cox, K. L., Hsieh, C. F., Lang, H., House, A., & Hackett, M. L. (2020).
 Pharmacological, psychological, and non-invasive brain stimulation interventions for treating depression after stroke. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 1(1), CD003437. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD003437.pub4
- Altman, C., Goral, M., & Levy, E. S. (2012). Integrated narrative analysis in multilingual aphasia: The relationship among narrative structure, grammaticality, and fluency. Aphasiology, 26(8), 1029–1052. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2012.686103
- Ansaldo, A. I., & Saidi, L. G. (2014). Aphasia Therapy in the Age of Globalization: Cross-Linguistic Therapy Effects in Bilingual Aphasia. Behavioural Neurology, 2014, 603085–10. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/603085
- Ansaldo, A. I., Saidi, L. G., & Ruiz, A. (2010). Model-driven intervention in bilingual aphasia: Evidence from a case of pathological language mixing. *Aphasiology*, 24(2), 309-324. doi: 10.1080/02687030902958423
- Armstrong , E., Gapany, D., Maypilama, L., Bukulatjpi, Y., Fasoli, L., Ireland, S., & Lowell, A. (2022). Räl-manapanmirr ga dhä-manapanmirr - Collaborating and connecting: Creating an educational process and multimedia resources to facilitate intercultural communication. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 24(5), 533-546. DOI: 10.1080/17549507.2022.2070670

- Armstrong, E. (2023). Facilitating intercultural communication between Yolŋu (First Nations people from North-East Arnhem Land) and non-Indigenous Australians: Exploring and understanding a deeper story together. [Doctoral thesis, Charles Darwin University]. DOI: https://doi.org/10.25913/jgbq-kt25
- Armstrong, E., Carmody, A., Robins, A. C., Lewis, T. (2019). Assessment and outcome measures for Aboriginal Australians with communication disorders. *Journal of Clinical Practice in Speech-Language Pathology, 21*(2), 50-57.
- Armstrong, E., Colegate, K., Papertalk, L., Crowe, S., McAllister, M., Hersh, D., Ciccone, N., Godecke, E., Katzenellenbogen, J., & Coffin, J. (2024). Intersectionality and its relevance in the context of Aboriginal people with brain injury in Australia. *Seminars in Speech and Language*, 45(1), 56-70. DOI: 10.1055/s-0043-1776755
- Armstrong, E., Hersh, D., Hayward, C., & Fraser, J. (2015). Communication disorders after stroke in Aboriginal Australians. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 37(16), 1462-1469. DOI: 10.3109/09638288.2014.972581
- Armstrong, E., McKay, G., & Hersh, D. (2017). Assessment and treatment of aphasia in Aboriginal Australians. *Journal of Clinical Practice in Speech-Language Pathology*, 19(1), 27-34.
- Attard, M.C., Lanyon, L., Togher, L., & Rose, M.L. (2015). Consumer perspectives on community aphasia groups: A narrative literature review in the context of psychological well-being. *Aphasiology, 29*(8), 983-1019. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2015.1016888
- Attard, M.C., Loupis, Y., Togher, L., & Rose, M.L, (2018). The efficacy of an interdisciplinary community aphasia group for living well with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *32*(2), 105-138. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2017.1381877
- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2022a). 2021 Census: Nearly half of Australians have a parent born overseas. Retrieved from: https://www.abs.gov.au/media-centre/media-releases/2021-census-nearly-half-australians-have-parent-born-overseas

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

- Australian Bureau of Statistics (2022b). 2021 Census highlights increasing cultural diversity. Retrieved from: https://www.abs.gov.au/media-centre/media-releases/2021-census-highlights-increasing-cultural-diversity
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2010). National best practice guidelines for collecting Indigenous status in health data sets. Cat. no. IHW 29. Canberra: AIHW
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2022). Indigenous Health and Wellbeing. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/indigenous-health-and-wellbeing#</u>
- Australian Public Service Commission (2022). First Nations Vocabulary using culturally appropriate language and terminology. Retrieved from: https://www.apsc.gov.au/working-aps/diversity-and-inclusion/diversityinclusion-news/first-nations-vocabulary-using-culturally-appropriate-languageand-terminology
- Australian Stroke Coalition Rehabilitation Working Group. (2012). Assessment for Rehabilitation: Pathway and Decision-Making Tool. Melbourne, Australia: Australian Stroke Coalition
- Azios, J.H., Archer, B., Simmons-Mackie, N., Raymer, A., Carragher, M., Shashikanth, S., & Gulick, E. (2022). Conversation as an outcome of aphasia treatment: A systematic scoping review. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 31(6), 2920-2942. DOI: 10.1044/2022_AJSLP-22-00011
- Babbitt, E. M., Ginsberg-Jaeckle, M., Larkin, E., Escarcega, S., & Cherney, L. R. (2022). Classifying Interpreter Behaviors During Aphasia Assessments: Survey Results and Checklist Development. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 31(5S), 2329–2347. https://doi.org/10.1044/2022_AJSLP-21-00306
- Bakas, T., Kroenke, K., Plue, L. D., Perkins, S. M., & Williams, L. S. (2006). Outcomes among family caregivers of aphasic versus non aphasic stroke survivors. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, *31*(1), 33–42. DOI: 10.1002/j.2048-7940.2006.tb00008.x

- Baker, C. (2024). Aphasia Depression and Psychological Therapy (ADaPT): Perspectives of people with post-stroke aphasia on participating in a modified Cognitive Behavioral Therapy. *Healthcare (Basel)* 12(7), 771.
- Baker, C., Foster, A.M., D'Souza, S., Godecke, E., Shiggins, C., Lamborn, E., Lanyon, L., Kneebone, I., & Rose, M.L. (2022). Management of communication disability in the first 90 days after stroke: A scoping review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(26), 8524-8538. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2021.2012843
- Baker, C., Worrall, L., Rose, M., Hudson, K., Ryan, B., & O'Byrne, L. (2018). A systematic review of rehabilitation interventions to prevent and treat depression in post-stroke aphasia. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 40(16), 1870–1892. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2017.1315181
- Baker, C., Worrall, L., Rose, M. & Ryan, B. (2021). Stroke health professionals' management of depression after post-stroke aphasia: A qualitative study. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 43(2), 212-228. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2019.1621394.
- Bartlett, G., Blais, R., Tamblyn, R., Clermont, R., & MacGibbon, B. (2008). Impact of patient communication problems on the risk of preventable ad- verse events in acute care settings. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*, *178*, 1555-1562. DOI: 10.1503/cmaj.070690
- Bartoli, F., Di Brita, C., Crocamo, C., Clerici, M. & Carrà, G. (2018). Early post-stroke depression and mortality: Meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, *9*(530). DOI: *10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00530*
- Baxter, S., Enderby, P., Evans, P., & Judge, S. (2012). Interventions using hightechnology communication devices: A state of the art review. *Folia Phoniatrica et Logopaedica*, *64*(3), 137-144. DOI: 10.1159/000338250
- Beeson, P. M. (1998). Treatment for letter-by-letter reading: A case study. In N. Helm-Estabrooks & A. L. Holland (Eds.), Approaches to the treatment of aphasia (pp. 153–177). San Diego, CA: Singular.

- Bennett, M., Cartwright, J., & Young, J. (2019). Is the speech-language pathology profession prepared for an ageing population? An Australian survey. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 21(2), 153–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.1fmit080/17549507.2017.1413135</u>
- Bennington, C., Shiggins, C., Isaksen, J., Beesley, E., Beesley, K., & Wallace, S. J. (2024).
 What does it mean to be aphasia aware? An international survey of stakeholder perspectives and experiences of aphasia awareness. *Aphasiology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2024.2330145
- Berg, K., Isaksen, J., Wallace, S. J., Cruice, M., Simmons-Mackie, N., & Worrall, L.
 (2020). Establishing consensus on a definition of aphasia: an e-Delphi study of international aphasia researchers. *Aphasiology*, *36*(4), 385–400. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2020.1852003
- Bernhardt, J., Hayward, K. S., Kwakkel, G., Ward, N. S., Wolf, S. L., Borschmann, K., Krakauer, J. W., Boyd, L. A., Carmichael, S. T., Corbett, D., & Cramer, S. C. (2017). Agreed definitions and a shared vision for new standards in stroke recovery research: The Stroke Recovery and Rehabilitation Roundtable taskforce. *International Journal of Stroke*, *12*(5), 444–450. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1747493017711816</u>
- Bessarab, D. & Ng'andu, B. (2010). Yarning about yarning as a legitimate method in Indigenous research. *International Journal of Critical Indigenous Studies*, 3(1), 37-50/ DOI: 10.5204/ijcis.v3i1.57
- Biddau, F., Brisotto, C., Innocenti, T., Ranaldi, S., Meneghello, F., D'Imperio, D., & Nordio, S. (2023). Speech and language therapy for acquired central dysgraphia in neurological patients: A systematic review to describe and identify trainings for clinical practice. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 32*(2), 762-785. DOI: 10.1044/2022_AJSLP-22-00042.
- Blom Johansson, M., Carlsson, M., Östberg, P., & Sonnander, K. (2022). Self-reported changes in everyday life and health of significant others of people with aphasia:
 A quantitative approach. *Aphasiology*, *36*(1), 76-94.
 DOI:10.1080/02687038.2020.1852166

- Brady, M.C., Kelly, H., Godwin, J., Enderby, P., & Campbell, P. (2016). Speech and language therapy for aphasia following stroke. *The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 6*(6). DOI: 10.1002/14651858.cd000425.pub4
- Breitenstein, C., Grewe, T., Flöel, A., Ziegler, W., Springer, L., Martus, P., Huger, W., Willmes, K., Ringelstein, E.G., Haeusler, K.G., Abel, S., Glindemann, R., Domahs, F., Regenbrecht, F., Schlenck, K., Thomas, M., Obrig, H., De Langen, E., Rocker, R., Wigbers, F., Rühmkorf, C., Hempen, I., List, J. & Baumgaertner, A. (2017). Intensive speech and language therapy in patients with chronic aphasia after stroke: A randomised, open-label, blinded-endpoint, controlled trial in a healthcare setting. *Lancet, 389* (10078), 1528-1538. DOI: 10.1016/S0140-6736
- Brennan, A., Worrall, L., & McKenna, K. (2005). The relationship between specific features of aphasia-friendly written material and comprehension of written material for people with aphasia: An exploratory study. *Aphasiology*, 19(8), 693-711. DOI: 10.1080/02687030444000958
- Bright, F.A.S. & Reeves, B. (2022). Creating therapeutic relationships through communication: A qualitative metasynthesis from the perspectives of people with communication impairment after stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(12), 2670-2682. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1849419
- Brisset, C., Leanza, Y., & Laforest, K. (2013). Working with interpreters in health care: A systematic review and meta-ethnography of qualitative studies. *Patient education and counseling*, *91*(2), 131-140.
- Brown, K., Worrall, L. E., Davidson, B., & Howe, T. (2012). Living successfully with aphasia: A qualitative meta-analysis of the perspectives of individuals with aphasia, family members, and speech-language pathologists. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, *14*(2), 141–155. https://doi.org/10.3109/17549507.2011.632026
- Brumfitt, S. (1993). Losing your sense of self: What aphasia can do. *Aphasiology*, 7(6), 569-591. DOI:10.1080/02687039308248631

- Burns, M., Baylor, C., Dudgeon, B. J., Starks, H., & Yorkston, K. (2015). Asking the Stakeholders: Perspectives of Individuals With Aphasia, Their Family Members, and Physicians Regarding Communication in Medical Interactions. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 24(3), 341–357. <u>https://doi.org/10.1044/2015_AJSLP-14-0051</u>
- Burton, B., Isaacs, M., Brogan, E., Shrubsole, K., Kilkenny, M. F., Power, E., Godecke, E., Cadilhac, D. A., Copland, D., & Wallace, S. J. (2023). An updated systematic review of stroke clinical practice guidelines to inform aphasia management. *International Journal of Stroke*, *18*(9), 1029–1039. https://doi.org/10.1177/17474930231161454
- Cacciante, L., Kiper, P., Garzon, M., & Baldan, F. (2021). Telerehabilitation for people with aphasia: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of Communication Disorders, 92*, 106111–106111. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2021.106111
- Cameron, A., McPhail, S., Hudson, K., Fleming, J., Lethlean, J., & Finch, E. (2019). Telepractice communication partner training for health professionals: A randomised trial. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, *81*, 105914–105914. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcomdis.2019.105914</u>
- Campbell-Burton, C.A., Murray, J., Holmes, J., Astin, F., Greenwood, D., & Knapp, P. (2012). Frequency of anxiety after stroke: a systematic review and metaanalysis of observational studies. *International Journal of Stroke, 8*, 545-559. DOI: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00906.x
- Carragher, M., Steel, G., O'Halloran, R., Torabi, T., Johnson, H., Taylor, N.F. & Rose, M. (2021) Aphasia disrupts usual care: The stroke team's perceptions of delivering healthcare to patients with aphasia. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *43*(21), 3003-3014. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2020.1722264
- Carragher, M., Steel, G., O'Halloran, R., Lamborn, E., Torabi, T., Johnson, H., Taylor, N.
 F., & Rose, M. L. (2024). Aphasia disrupts usual care: "I'm not mad, I'm not deaf" the experiences of individuals with aphasia and family members in hospital. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 1–12. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2024.2324115

- Casey, K., O'Halloran, R., van den Berg, M. E. L., & Rose, M. L. (2023). "We got there in the end.... somehow, we got there": a qualitative study of healthcare professionals providing care in the community to people with chronic aphasia, and how technology could assist. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2023.2256666</u>
- Centeno, J. G., & Ansaldo, A. I. (2013). Aphasia in multilingual populations. In P. C. I. Papathanasiou, & C. Potagas (Ed.), *Aphasia and related neurogenic communication disorders*. Boston: Jones and Bartlett.
- Centeno, J.G., Ghazi-Saidi, L., & Ansaldo, A.I. (2021). Aphasia management in ethnoracially diverse multilingual populations. In I. Papathanasiou & P.
 Coppens (Eds.), Aphasia and related neurogenic communication disorders (pp 379-402). Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- Cetinkaya, B., Twomey, K., Bullard, B., EL Kouaissi, S., & Conroy, P. (2023). Telerehabilitation of aphasia: A systematic review of the literature. *Aphasiology*, 1–32. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2023.2274621
- Cherney, L.R. (2004). Aphasia, alexia, and oral reading. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 11(1), 22-36. DOI: 10.1310/VUPX-WDX7-J1EU-00TB
- Ciccone, N., Armstrong, E., Hersh, D., Adams, M., & McAllister, M. (2019). The Wangi (talking) project: A feasibility study of a rehabilitation model for Aboriginal people with acquired communication disorders after stroke. *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 21*(3), 305-316. DOI: 10.1080/17549507.2019.1595146
- Cistola, G., Farrús, M., & Van der Meulen, I. (2021). Aphasia and acquired reading impairments: What are the high-tech alternatives to compensate for reading deficits? *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, *56*(1), 161-173. DOI: 10.1111/1460-6984.12569

- Clancy, L., Povey, R., & Rodham, K. (2020). "Living in a foreign country": experiences of staff-patient communication in inpatient stroke settings for people with poststroke aphasia and those supporting them. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 42(3), 324–334. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2018.1497716</u>
- Clinical Centre for Research Excellence in Aphasia Rehabilitation. (2014). Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2014. Comprehensive supplement to the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway. Brisbane, Queensland: CCRE in in Aphasia Rehabilitation.
- Cochrane, F., Brown, L., Siyambalapitiya, S., & Plant, C. (2016). "...Trial and error...": Speech-language pathologists' perspectives of working with Indigenous Australian adults with acquired communication disorders. *International Journal* of Speech-Language Pathology, 18(5), 420-431. DOI: 10.3109/17549507.2015.1101157
- Cochrane, F., Siyambalapitiya, S., & Cornwell, P. (2020). Speech-language pathology services for Indigenous Australian adults with acquired communication disorders: A systematic review. *Speech, Language and Hearing, 23*(2), 79-90. DOI: 10.1080/2050571X.2018.1544729
- Cochrane, F., Siyambalapitiya, S., & Cornwell, P. (2021). Clinical profile of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander adults with stroke and traumatic brain injury at a regional Australian hospital: a retrospective chart audit. *Brian Impairment,* 22(3). 281-293. DOI: 10.1017/BrImp.2021.1
- Code, C., Mackie, N. S., Armstrong, E., Stiegler, L., Armstrong, J., Bushby, E., Carew-Price, P., Curtis, H., Haynes, P., McLeod, E., Muhleisen, V., Neate, J., Nikolas, A., Rolfe, D., Rubly, C., Simpson, R., & Webber, A. (2001). The Public Awareness of Aphasia: An International Survey. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, *36*(S1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3109/13682820109177849
- Coffin, J., Hermeston, W., Merritt, G., Baraga, J., Quartermaine, M., Dhu, J., Allen, S., Black, C., McDonald, A., Ronan, M., & Ashwin, S. (2004). *National Stroke Unit Program Aboriginal Stroke Project*, Melbourne: National Stroke Foundation.

- Commonwealth of Australia (2017). National Strategic Framework for Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Peoples' Mental Health and Social and Emotional Wellbeing. Retrieved through <u>https://www.niaa.gov.au/sites/default/files/publications/mhsewbframework_0.pdf</u>
- Corsten, S., Konradi, J., Schimpf, E.J., Hardering, F., & Keilmann, A. (2014). Improving quality of life in aphasia: Evidence for the effectiveness of the biographicnarrative approach. *Aphasiology, 28*(4) 440-452. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2013.843154
- Corsten, S., Schimpf, E.J., Konradi, J., Keilmann, A., & Hardering, F. (2015). The participants' perspective: How biographic-narrative intervention influences identity negotiation and quality of life in aphasia. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders, 50*(6), 788-800. DOI: 10.1111/1460-6984.12173
- Crocker, T. F., Brown, L., Lam, N., Wray, F., Knapp, P., & Forster, A. (2021). Information provision for stroke survivors and their carers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (11)*. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD001919.pub4
- Croteau, C., McMahon-Morin, P., Le Dorze, G., & Baril, G. (2020). Impact of aphasia on communication in couples. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, *55*(4), 547–557. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12537</u>
- D'Souza, S., Hersh, D., Godecke, E., Ciccone, N., Janssen, H., & Armstrong, E. (2021a).
 Patients' Experiences of a Communication Enhanced Environment model in an acute/slow stream rehabilitation ward and a rehabilitation ward following stroke: A Qualitative Description Approach. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(21), 6304–6313 https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1965226
- D'Souza, S., Godecke, E., Ciccone, N., Hersh, D., Armstrong, E., Tucak, C., & Janssen, H. (2021b). Investigation of the implementation of a Communication Enhanced Environment model in an acute/slow stream rehabilitation and a rehabilitation ward: A before-and-after pilot study. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *36*(1), *15–39*. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043897</u>

- D'Souza, S., Ciccone, N., Hersh, D., Janssen, H. Armstrong, E., & Godecke, E. (2021c). Staff and volunteer perceptions of a Communication Enhanced Environment model in an acute and a rehabilitation hospital ward: A qualitative description study within a before-and after pilot study. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(23), 7009–7022. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1977397
- D'Souza, S., Godecke, E., Ciccone, N., Hersh, D., Janssen, H. Armstrong, E., & (2021d). Hospital staff, volunteers', and patients' perceptions of barriers and facilitators to communication following stroke in an acute and private perceptions of a Communication Enhanced Environment model in an acute and private rehabilitation hospital ward: A qualitative description study. *BMJ Open*, *11*(5), doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043897.
- De Aguiar, V., Bastiaanse, R., & Miceli, G. (2016). Improving production of treated and untreated verbs in aphasia: A meta-analysis. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 10 (468). DOI: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00468
- De Kleine, N., Rose, M.L., Weinborn, M., Knox, R. & Fay, N. (2023). Does gesture improve the communication success of people with aphasia?: A systematic review. *Aphasiology*, *38*(3), 462-486. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2023.2207781
- DeDe, G., Hoover, E., & Maas, E. (2019). Two to Tango or the More the Merrier? A Randomized Controlled Trial of the Effects of Group Size in Aphasia Conversation Treatment on Standardized Tests. *Journal of Speech, Language, and Hearing Research, 62*(5), 1437-1451. DOI: 10.1044/2019_JSLHR-L-18-0404.
- Dekhtyar, M., Braun, E.J., Billot, A., Foo, L., & Kiran, S. (2020). Videoconference administration of the Western Aphasia Battery-Revised: Feasibility and validity. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 29*(2), 673-687. DOI: 10.1044/2019_AJSLP-19-00023
- Devane. N., Behn, N., Marshall, J., Ramachandran, A., Wilson, S., & Hilari, K. (2022). The use of virtual reality in the rehabilitation of aphasia: A systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation, ahead-of-print*(ahead-of-print), 1–20. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2022.2138573

- Dipper, L., Marshall, J., Boyle, M., Botting, N., Hersh, D., Pritchard, M. & Cruise, M. (2021). Treatment for improving discourse in aphasia: A systematic review and synthesis of the evidence base. *Aphasiology*, *35*(9), 1125-1167, DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2020.1765305
- Donnellan, C., Hickey, A., Hevey, D., O'Neill, D. (2010). Effect of mood symptoms on recovery one year after stroke. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(12), 1288-1295. DOI: 10.1002/gps.2482.
- Duchan, J., Jennings, M., Barratt, R., & Butler, B. (2006). Communication access to the arts. *Topics in Language Disorders, 26*, 210-220. DOI: 10.1097/00011363-200607000-00005
- Eames, S., Hoffmann, T., Worrall, L., Read, S., & Wong, A. (2013). Randomised controlled trial of an education and support package for stroke patients and their carers. *BMJ open*, *3*(5), e002538. DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002538
- Eccles, A., Morris, R., & Kneebone, I. (2017). Psychometric properties of the Behavioural Outcomes of Anxiety questionnaire in stroke patients with aphasia. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *31*(3), 369-378. DOI: 10.1177/0269215516644311.
- Edmonds, L. A., Nadeau, S. E., & Kiran, S. (2009). Effect of Verb Network Strengthening Treatment (VNeST) on lexical retrieval of content words in sentences in persons with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *23*(3), 402–424. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030802291339</u>
- Ellis-Hill, C., Robison, J., Wiles, R., McPherson, K., Hyndman, D., & Ashburn, A. (2009).
 Going home to get on with life: Patients and carers experiences of being discharged from hospital following stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 31(2), 61-72. DOI: 10.1080/09638280701775289
- Elman, R. J., Ogar, J., & Elman, S. H. (2000). Aphasia: Awareness, advocacy, and activism. *Aphasiology*, *14*(5-6), 455-459. DOI: 10.1080/026870300401234

- Elsner, B., Kugler, J., Pohl, M., & Mehrholz, J. (2019). Transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) for improving aphasia in adults with aphasia after stroke. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 2019(5), CD009760–CD009760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD009760.pub4</u>
- Ethnic Communities Council of Victoria. (2012). ECCV Glossary of Terms. Retrieved from: <u>https://eccv.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/2-</u> ECCV Glossary of Terms 23 October.docx
- Faroqi-Shah, Y., Frymark, T., Mullen, R., & Wang, B. (2010). Effect of treatment for bilingual individuals with aphasia: A systematic review of the evidence. *Journal* of Neurolinguistics, 23(4), 319-341. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroling.2010.01.002
- Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils Australia (2020). Multicultural Access and Equity Report 2020. Retrieved from: <u>https://fecca.org.au/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/02/FECCA-Access-and-Equity-Report-2020.pdf</u>
- Federation of Ethnic Communities' Councils of Australia (n.d.) Australian Research on Older People from CALD Backgrounds. Retrieved from: https://fecca.org.au/resources/fact-sheets/
- Ferguson, A., Worrall, L., McPhee, J., Buskell, R., Armstrong, E., & Togher, L. (2003). Testamentary capacity and aphasia: A descriptive case report with implications for clinical practice. *Aphasiology*, *17*(10), 965-980. DOI: 10.1080/02687030344000337
- Finch, E., Lethlean, J., Rose, T., Fleming, J., Theodoros, D., Cameron, A., Coleman, A., Copland, D., & McPhail, S. M. (2020). Conversations between people with aphasia and speech pathology students via telepractice: A Phase II feasibility study. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 55(1), 43–58. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12501</u>
- Fitch, K., Bernstein, S. J., Aguilar, M. D., Burnand, B., LaCalle, J. R., Lazaro, P., Kahan, J. P. (2001). *The RAND/UCLA appropriateness method user's manual*. Retrieved from http://www.rand.org/pubs/monograph_reports/MR1269.html

- Fleming, V., Brownsett, S., Krason, A., Maegli, M.A., Coley-Fisher, H., Ong, Y., Nardo, D., Leach, R., Howard, D., Robson, H., Warburton, E., Ashburner, J., Price, C. J., Crinion, J., & Leff, A.P. (2021). Efficacy of spoken word comprehension therapy in patients with chronic aphasia: A cross-over randomised controlled trial with structural imaging. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 92*(4), 418-424. DOI: 10.1136/jnnp-2020-324256
- Flores, G. (2005). The impact of medical interpreter services on the quality of health care: a systematic review. *Medical care research and review*, *62*(3), 255-299.
- Ford, A., Douglas, J. and O'Halloran, R. (2018). The experience of close personal relationships from the perspective of people with aphasia: Thematic analysis of the literature. *Aphasiology*, 32 (4), 367-393. DOI: 10.1017/BrImp.2021.12
- Ford, A., Douglas, J. M., & O'Halloran, R. (2024). From the Inner Circle to Rebuilding Social Networks: A Grounded Theory Longitudinal Study Exploring the Experience of Close Personal Relationships from the Perspective of People with Post Stroke Aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *38*(2), 261–280. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2023.2185480</u>
- Ford, A., Douglas, J., & O'Halloran, R. (2022). The experience of close personal relationships after stroke: scoping review and thematic analysis of qualitative literature. *Brain Impairment*, 23(3), 231–261. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/BrImp.2021.12</u>
- Forsgren, E., Åke, S., & Saldert, C. (2022). Person-centred care in speech-language therapy research and practice for adults: A scoping review. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 57(2), 381–402. https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12690
- Forster, A., Brown, L., Smith, J., House, A., Knapp, P., Wright, J. J., & Young, J. (2012). Information provision for stroke patients and their caregivers. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, 11(11), CD001919–CD001919. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD001919.pub3

- Frattali, C. M., Thompson, C. K., Holland, A. L., Wohl, C., & Ferketic, M. M. (1995). The FACS of Life. ASHA FACS -- A Functional Outcome Measure for Adults. *ASHA*, *7*, 40-46.
- Garret, K.L., Beukelman, D.R., & Low-Morrow, D. (1989). A comprehensive augmentative communication system for an adult with Broca's aphasia. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication, 5*(1), 55-61. DOI: 10.1080/07434618912331274976
- Golding, K., Fife-Schaw, C., & Kneebone, I. (2018). A pilot randomized controlled trial of self-help relaxation to reduce post-stroke depression. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *32*(6), 747-751. DOI: 10.1177/0269215517741947
- Grawburg, M., Howe, T., Worrall, L., & Scarinci, N. (2012) A systematic review of the positive outcomes for family members of people with aphasia. *Evidence-Based Communication Assessment and Intervention, 6*(3) 135-149, DOI:10.1080/17489539.2012.739383
- Hackett, M.L. & Pickles, K. (2014). Part I: Frequency of depression after stroke: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *International Journal of Stroke*, *9*(8), 1017-1025. DOI: 10.1111/ijs.12357
- Hall, N., Boisvert, M., & Steele, R. (2013). Telepractice in the assessment and treatment of individuals with aphasia: A systematic review. *International Journal of Telerehabilitation*, *5*(1), 27-38. DOI: 10.5195/ijt.2013.6119
- Haynes, E., Marawili, M., Mitchell, A., Walker, R., Katzenellenbogen, J., & Bessarab, D. (2022). "Weaving a Mat That We Can All Sit On": Qualitative Research Approaches for Productive Dialogue in the Intercultural Space. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(6), 3654. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19063654
- Heard, R., Anderson, H., & Horsted, C. (2022). Exploring the communication experiences of stroke nurses and patients with aphasia in an acute stroke unit. *Speech, Language and Hearing, 25*(2), 177-191. DOI: 10.1080/2050571X.2020.1833284

- Heard, R., O'Halloran, R., & McKinley, K. (2017). Communication partner training for health care professionals in an inpatient rehabilitation setting: A parallel randomised trial. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 19(3), 277–286. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2017.1290137</u>
- Hemsley, B., Werninck, M., & Worrall, L. (2013). "That really shouldn't have happened": People with aphasia and their spouses narrate adverse events in hospital. *Aphasiology*, 27(6), 706-722. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2012.748181
- Hersh, D. (2009). Breaking the connection: Why is it so difficult to talk about discharge with our clients with aphasia? *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 11(2), 147-154. DOI: 10.1080/17549500802579103
- Hersh, D., Armstrong, E., Panak, V., & Coombes, J. (2015). Speech-language pathology practices with Indigenous Australians with acquired communication disorders. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 17(1), 74–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/17549507.2014.923510</u>
- Hersh, D., Worrall, L., Howe, T., Sherratt, S., & Davidson, B. (2012). SMARTER goal setting in aphasia rehabilitation. *Aphasiology*, 26(2), 220-233. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2011.640392
- Hersh, D., Worrall, L., O'Halloran, R., Brown, K., Grohn, B., & Rodriguez, A. (2013).
 Assess for Success: Evidence for Therapeutic Assessment. In N. Simmons-Mackie, J. King & D. Beukelman (Eds.), *Supporting communication for adults with acute and chronic aphasia.* Baltimore, MD: Paul H. Brookes.
- Hickin, J., Cruise, M., & Dipper, L. (2020). A systematically conducted scoping review of the evidence and fidelity of treatments for verb deficits in aphasia: Verb-inisolation treatments. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology, 29*(1S), 530-559. DOI: 10.1044/2019_AJSLP-CAC48-18-0234
- Hickin, J., Cruise, M., & Dipper, L. (2022). A systematically conducted scoping review of the evidence and fidelity of treatments for verb and sentence deficits in aphasia: Sentence treatments. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, *31*(1), 431-462. DOI: 10.1044/2021_AJSLP-21-00120

- Hilari, K. & Byng, S. (2009). Health-related quality of life in people with severe aphasia. International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 44(2), 193-105. DOI: 10.1080/13682820802008820
- Hilari, K. (2011). The impact of stroke: Are people with aphasia different to those without? *Disability and Rehabilitation, 33*(3), 211-218. DOI: 10.3109/09638288.2010.508829
- Hilari, K., Behn, N., James, K., Northcott, S., Marshall, J., Thomas, S., Simpson, A., Moss, B., Flood, C., McVicker, S., & Goldsmith, K. (2021). Supporting wellbeing through peer-befriending (SUPERB) for people with aphasia: A feasibility randomised controlled trial. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 35(8), 1151-1163. DOI: 10.1177/0269215521995671
- Hilari, K., Needle, J.J., & Harrison, K.L. (2012). What are the important factors in health-related quality of life for people with aphasia? A systematic review. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 93*(1 Suppl), S86-95. DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr.2011.05.028
- Hilari, K., Northcott, S., Roy, P., Marshall, J., Wiggins, R.D., Chataway, J., & Ames, D. (2010). Psychological distress after stroke and aphasia: The first six months. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 24(2), 181-190. DOI: 10.1177/0269215509346090
- Hilari, K., Roper, A., Northcott, S., & Behn, N. (2023). Telehealth practice in aphasia: A survey of UK speech and language therapists, with a focus on assessment. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 1-12. DOI: 10.1111/1460-6984.12996
- Hill, A.J., Theodoros, D.G., Russell, T.G., Ward, E.C., & Wootton, R. (2009). The effects of aphasia severity on the ability to assess language disorders via telerehabilitation. *Aphasiology*, 23(5), 627-642. DOI: 1080/02687030801909659
- Ho, K.M., Weiss, S.J., Garrett, K.L., & Lloyd, L.L. (2005). The effect of remnant and pictographic books on the communicative interaction of individuals with global aphasia. *Augmentative and Alternative Communication*, 21(3), 218-232. DOI: 10.1080/07434610400016694

- Hoffmann, T., Bennett, S., & Del Mar, C. (2024). *Evidence-based practice across the health professions* (4th ed.). Elsevier Australia.
- Hoffman, J., Yorkston, K., Shumway-Cook, A., Ciol M. & Dudgeon, B.C L. (2005). Effect of communication disability on satisfaction with healthcare: A survey of medicare beneficiaries. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 14, pp221-228.
- Holland, A., & Penn, C. (1995). Inventing therapy for aphasia. In L. Menn (Ed.), *Non-fluent aphasia in a multilingual world* (pp. 144-155). Amsterdam: John Benjamins.
- House, A., Knapp, P., Bamford, J., & Vail, A. (2001). Mortality at 12 and 24 months after stroke may be associated with depressive symptoms at 1 month. *Stroke*, *32*(2), 696-701. DOI: 10.1161/01.str.32.3.696
- Howe, T., Davidson, B., Worrall, L., Hersh, D., Ferguson, A., Sherratt, S., & Gilbert, J. (2012). 'You needed to rehab families as well': family members' own goals for aphasia rehabilitation. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 47*(5). DOI: 10.1111/j.1460- 6984.2012.00159.x
- Howe, T., Worrall, L., & Hickson, L. (2008a). Observing people with aphasia:
 Environmental factors that influence their community participation.
 Aphasiology, 22(6), 616-643. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030701536024
- Howe, T., Worrall, L., & Hickson, L. (2008b). Interviews with people with aphasia: Environmental factors that influence their community participation. Aphasiology, 22(10), 1092-1120. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030701640941
- Huang, J.R., Siyambalapitiya, S., & Cornwell, P. (2019). Speech pathologists and professional interpreters managing culturally and linguistically diverse adults with communication disorders: A systematic review. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders, 54*(5), 689-704. DOI: 10.1111/1460-6984.12475

- Humphery, K. (2001). Dirty questions: Indigenous health and "Western Research". *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 25*(3), 197-202. DOI: 10.1111/j.1467-842X.2001.tb00563.x
- Hyter, Y.D. (2014). A conceptual framework for responsive global engagement in communication sciences and disorders. *Topics in Language Disorders, 34*(2), 103–120. DOI: 10.1097/TLD.00000000000015
- Indigenous Allied Health Australia Ltd. (2019). Cultural responsiveness in action: An IAHA Framework. 3rd Edition V8. Retrieved from: <u>https://iaha.com.au/workforce-support/training-and-development/cultural-responsiveness-in-action-training/</u>
- Jones, B., Heslop, D., & Harrison, R. (2020). Seldom heard voices: a meta-narrative systematic review of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people's healthcare experiences. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *19*(1), Article 222. DOI: 10.1186/s12939-020-01334-w
- Kagan, A. (1995). Revealing the competence of aphasic adults through conversation: A challenge to health professionals. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, 2(1), 15-28.
 DOI: 10.1080/10749357.1995.11754051
- Kagan, A., & LeBlanc, K. (2002). Motivating for infrastructure change: toward a communicatively accessible, participation-based stroke care system for all those affected by aphasia. *Journal of communication disorders, 35*(2). DOI: 10.1016/s0021-9924(02)00062-x
- Kagan, A., Simmons-Mackie, N., Villar-Guerrero, E., Chan, M., Turczyn, I., Victor, C.J., Shumway, E., Chan, L., Cohen-Schneider, R., & Baylye, M. (2024) Improving communicative access and patient experience in acute stroke care: An implementation journey. *Journal of Communication Disorders*, 107:106390 doi: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2023.106390.
- Kambanaros, M., & Van Steenbrugge, W. (2004). Interpreters and language assessment: Confrontation naming and interpreting. *Advances in Speech Language Pathology*, *6*(4), 247-252.

- Karliner, L. S., Jacobs, E. A., Chen, A. H., & Mutha, S. (2007). Do professional interpreters improve clinical care for patients with limited English proficiency? A systematic review of the literature. *Health Services Research*, 42(2), 727-754.
- Katzenellenbogen, J.M., Knuiman, M.W., Sanfilippo, F.M., Hobbs, M.S.T., & Thompson, S.C. (2014). Prevalence of stroke and coexistent conditions: Disparities between Indigenous and non-Indigenous Western Australians. *International Journal of Stroke, 9*, 61-68. DOI: 10.1111/ijs.12278
- Kauhanen, M.-L., Korpelainen, J. T., Hiltunen, P., Määttä, R., Mononen, H., Brusin, E., Sotaniemi, K. A., & Myllylä, V. V. (2000). Aphasia, Depression, and Non-Verbal Cognitive Impairment in Ischaemic Stroke. *Cerebrovascular Diseases (Basel, Switzerland)*, 10(6), 455–461. https://doi.org/10.1159/000016107
- Kertesz, A. & McCabe, P. (1977). Recovery patterns and prognosis in aphasia. *Brain,* 100(1), 1-18. DOI: 10.1093/brain/100.1.1
- Kim, M., & Russo, S. (2010). Multiple Oral Rereading (MOR) Treatment: Who Is It For? Contemporary Issues in Communication Science and Disorders, 37(9), 58–68.
- Kiran, S., & Roberts, P. (2012). What do we know about assessing language impairment in bilingual aphasia? In M.R. Gitterman, M. Goral & L.K. Obler (Eds.), Aspects of Multilingual Aphasia (pp. 35-51). Clevedon, UK: Multilingual Matters.
- Knapp, P., Dunn-Roberts, A., Sahib, N., Cook, L., Astin, F., Kontou, E., & Thomas, S.A. (2020). Frequency of anxiety after stroke: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *International Journal of Stroke*, 15(3), 244-255. DOI: 10.1177/1747493019896958
- Kneebone, I. (2016). Stepped psychological care after stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 38*(18), 1836-1843. DOI: 10.3109/09638288.2015.1107764
- Krajenbrink, T., Nickels, L., & Kohnen, S. (2015). Generalisation after treatment of acquired spelling impairments: A review. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 25(4), 503-554. DOI: 10.1080/09602011.2014.983135

- Kripalani, S., LeFevre, F., Phillips, C. O., Williams, M. V., Basaviah, P., & Baker, D. W. (2007). Deficit in communication and information transfer between hospital-based and primary care physicians: Implications for patient safety and continuity of care. *Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA), 297*(8), 831-841. DOI: 10.1001/jama.297.8.831
- Kristinsson, S., Basilakos, A., Elm, J., Spell, L. A., Bonilha, L., Rorden, C., den Ouden, D.
 B., Cassarly, C., Sen, S., & Hillis, A. (2021). Individualized response to semantic versus phonological aphasia therapies in stroke. *Brain Communications, 3*(3).
 DOI: 10.1093/braincomms/fcab174
- Langhorne P.& Ramachandra S. (2020). Organised inpatient (stroke unit) care for stroke: network meta-analysis. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews, 4*(4), CD000197–CD000197. DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000197.pub4
- Langhorne, P., Baylan, S., & Early Supported Discharge Trialists (2017). Early supported discharge services for people with acute stroke. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 7(7), CD000443. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000443.pub4
- Lanyon, L., Worrall, L., & Rose, M. (2018). Exploring participant perspectives of community aphasia group participation: From "I know where I belong now" to "Some people didn't really fit in". *Aphasiology 32*(2): 139-163. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2017.1396574
- Lanyon, L. E., Rose, M. L., & Worrall, L. (2013). The efficacy of outpatient and community-based aphasia group interventions: a systematic review. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, *15*(4), 359-374. DOI: 10.3109/17549507.2012.752865
- Larkman, C.S., Mellahn, K., Han, W., & Rose, M.L. (2023). Aphasia rehabilitation when speech pathologists and clients do not share the same language: A scoping review. *Aphasiology*, *37*(4), 635-657, DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2022.2035672

- Latimer, N. R., Bhadhuri, A., Alshreef, A., Palmer, R., Cross, E., Dimairo, M., Julious, S., Cooper, C., Enderby, P., Brady, M. C., Bowen, A., Bradley, E., & Harrison, M. (2021). Self-managed, computerised word finding therapy as an add-on to usual care for chronic aphasia post-stroke: An economic evaluation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *35*(5), 703–717. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215520975348</u>
- Lavoie, M., Macoir, J., & Bier, N. (2017). Effectiveness of technologies in the treatment of post-stroke anomia: A systematic review. *Journal of Communication Disorders, 65*, 43-53. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2017.01.001
- Lazar, R. M., Minzer, B., Antoniello, D., Festa, J. R., Krakauer, J. W., & Marshall, R. S. (2010). Improvement in aphasia scores after stroke is well predicted by initial severity. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation, 41*(7). DOI: 10.1161/strokeaha.109.577338
- Legg, C., & Penn, C. (2013). A stroke of misfortune: Cultural interpretations of aphasia in South Africa. Aphasiology, 27(2), 126-144. doi: 10.1080/02687038.2012.684338
- Lin I, Green C, Bessarab D. (2016). 'Yarn with me': applying clinical yarning to improve clinician-patient communication in Aboriginal health care. *Australian Journal of Primary Health, 22*(5), 377-382. DOI: 10.1071/PY16051
- Linley-Adams, B., Morris, R., & Kneebone, I. (2014). The Behavioural Outcomes of Anxiety scale (BOA): A preliminary validation in stroke survivors. *British Journal* of Clinical Psychology, 53(4), 451–467. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12056
- Lomas, J., Pickard, L., Bester, S., Elbard, H., Finlayson, A., & Zoghaib, C. (1989). The communicative effectiveness index: Development and psychometric evaluation of a functional communication measure for adult aphasia. *Journal of Speech and Hearing Disorders, 54*(1), 113-124.
- Mavis, I. (2007). Perspectives on public awareness of stroke and aphasia among Turkish patients in a neurology unit. *Clinical linguistics & phonetics, 21*(1), 55-67; quiz 67-70. DOI: 10.1080/02699200600903254

- Mayes, C. (2020). White medicine, white ethics: On the historical formation of racism in Australian Healthcare. *Journal of Australian Studies, 44*(3), 287-302. DOI: 10/1080/14443058.2020.1796754
- McDermott, D. (2019). arms? *International Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 21(3), 252-262, DOI: 10.1080/17549507.2019.1617896
- Meinzer, M., Obleser, J., Flaisch, T., Eulitz, C., & Rockstroh, B. (2007). Recovery from aphasia as a function of language therapy in an early bilingual patient demonstrated by fMRI. *Neuropsychologia*, 45(6), 1247-1256. doi: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2006.10.003</u>
- Menahemi-Falkov, M., Breitenstein, C., Pierce, J.E., Hill, A.J., O'Halloran, R., & Rose, M. (2022). A systematic review of maintenance following intensive therapy programs in chronic post-stroke aphasia: Importance of individual response analysis. *Disability and Rehabilitation* 44(20), 5811-5826. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2021.1955303
- Migrant & Refugee Women's Health Partnership (2019). Culturally responsive clinical practice: Working with people from migrant and refugee backgrounds, competency standard framework for clinicians January 2019. Retrieved from: <u>https://culturaldiversityhealth.org.au/competency-standards/about-the-standards/</u>
- Mitchell, A. J., Sheth, B., Gill, J., Yadegarfar, M., Stubbs, B., Yadegarfar, M., & Meader, N. (2017). Prevalence and predictors of post-stroke mood disorders: A meta-analysis and meta-regression of depression, anxiety and adjustment disorder. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 47, 48–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2017.04.001</u>
- Morris, R., Eccles, A., Ryan, B., & Kneebone, I.I. (2017). Prevalence of anxiety in people with aphasia after stroke. *Aphasiology*, *31*(12), 1410-1415. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2017.1304633
- Mosley, I., Nicol, M., Donnan, G., Patrick, I., & Dewey, H. (2007). Stroke symptoms and the decision to call for an ambulance. *Stroke; a journal of cerebral circulation, 38*(2), 361-366. DOI: 10.1161/01.STR.0000254528.17405.cc

- Nakata, M. (2010). The Cultural Interface of Islander and Scientific Knowledge. *The Australian Journal of Indigenous Education*, *39*(S1), 53–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1375/S1326011100001137</u>
- National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (n.d.). Find an Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation (ACCHO) or Affiliate near you. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.naccho.org.au/naccho-map/</u>
- National Health and Medical Research Council. (2010). Additional levels of evidence and grades of recommendations for developers of guidelines 2008–2010 Retrieved from: <u>https://www.mja.com.au/sites/default/files/NHMRC.levels.of.evidence.2008-</u>09.pdf
- Nichol, L., Hill, A. J., Wallace, S. J., Pitt, R., Baker, C., & Rodriguez, A. D. (2019). Selfmanagement of aphasia: a scoping review. *Aphasiology*, *33*(8), 903-942.
- Nichol, L., Rodriguez, A. D., Pitt, R., Wallace, S. J., & Hill, A. J. (2023a). "Selfmanagement has to be the way of the future": Exploring the perspectives of speech-language pathologists who work with people with aphasia. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology, 25*(2), 327–341. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2022.2055144</u>
- Nichol, L., Pitt, R., Wallace, S. J., Rodriguez, A. D., & Hill, A. J. (2023b). "There are endless areas that they can use it for": speech-language pathologist perspectives of technology support for aphasia self-management. *Disability and Rehabilitation: Assistive Technology*, 18:8, 1473-1488, DOI: 10.1080/17483107.2022.2037758
- Nichol, L., Wallace, S. J., Pitt, R., Rodriguez, A. D., & Hill, A. J. (2021). Communication partner perspectives of aphasia self-management and the role of technology: an in-depth qualitative exploration. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 1-18.

- Nichol, L., Wallace, S. J., Pitt, R., Rodriguez, A. D., Diong, Z. Z., & Hill, A. J. (2022). People with aphasia share their views on self-management and the role of technology to support self-management of aphasia. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(24), 7399–7412. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1989501
- Nickels, L. & Best, W. (1996). Therapy for naming disorders (Part I): Principles, puzzles and progress. *Aphasiology*, *10*(2). DOI: 10.1080/02687039608248397
- Northcott, S., Thomas, S., James, K., Simpson, A., Shashivadan, H., Barnard, R., Hilari, K. (2021). Solution Focused Brief Therapy in Post-Stroke Aphasia (SOFIA): feasibility and acceptability results of a feasibility randomised wait-list controlled trial. *BMJ Open*, *11*(8), e050308–e050308. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050308
- O'Callaghan, A. M., McAllister, L., & Wilson, L. (2009). Sixteen years on: Has quality of care for rural and non-compensable traumatic brain injury clients improved? *The Australian Journal of Rural Health, 17*(3), 119-123. DOI: 10.1111/j.1440-1584.2009.01054.x
- O'Halloran, R., Worrall L, Hickson L. (2011). Environmental factors that influence communication between patients and their healthcare providers in acute hospital stroke units: An observational study. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders, 46* (1), 30-47. DOI: <u>10.3109/13682821003660380</u>
- O'Halloran, R., Grohn, B., & Worrall, L., (2012). Environmental factors that influence communication for patients with a communication disability in acute hospital stroke units: A qualitative metasynthesis. *Archives of Physical and Medical Rehabilitation, 93*(1), 77-85. DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr.2011.06.039
- O'Halloran, R., Worrall, L., & Hickson, L. (2012). Stroke patients communicating their healthcare needs in hospital: A study within the ICF framework. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders, 47*(2), 130-143.

- Palmer, R., Dimairo, M., Cooper, C., Enderby, P., Brady, M., Bowen, A., Latimer, N., Julious, S., Cross, E., Alshreef, A., Harrison, M., Bradley, E., Witts, H. & Chater, T. (2019). Self-managed, computerised speech and language therapy for patients with chronic aphasia post-stroke compared with usual care or attention control (Big CACTUS): a multicentre, single-blinded, randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet Neurology*, *18*(9), 821-833. DOI: 10.1016/S1474-4422(19)30192-9
- Paradis, M. (2011). Principles underlying the Bilingual Aphasia Test (BAT) and its uses. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics, 25*(6-7), 427-443. doi: 10.3109/02699206.2011.560326Parr, S., Byng, S., Gilpin, S., & Ireland, C. (1997). *Talking about aphasia: Living with loss of language after Stroke*. Oxford University Press
- Parr, S., Pound, C., & Hewitt, A. (2006). Communication access to health and social care services. *Topics in Language Disorders, 26*, 189–198. DOI: 10.1097/00011363-200607000-00003
- Patel, M. D., Thompson, J., Cabañas, J. G., Williams, J. G., Lewis, E., Bachman, M., Al Masry, M., LaVigne, C., Morantes, L., Becske, T., & Kass-Hout, O. (2022).
 Performance of the vision, aphasia, neglect (VAN) assessment within a single large EMS system. *Journal of Neurointerventional Surgery*, *14*(4), 341–345. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/neurintsurg-2020-017217</u>
- Pedersen, P. M., Vinter, K., & Olsen, T. S. (2004). Aphasia after stroke: type, severity and prognosis. The Copenhagen aphasia study. *Cerebrovascular Diseases*, *17*(1), 35-43. DOI: 10.1159/000073896
- Penn, C., & Armstrong, E. (2017). Intercultural aphasia: New models of understanding for Indigenous populations. *Aphasiology*, 31(5), 563-594. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2016.1213788
- Penn, C., & Beecham, R. (1992). Discourse therapy in multilingual aphasia: a case study. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics, 6*(1-2), 11-25. doi: 10.3109/02699209208985516

- Penn, C., Commerford, A., & Ogilvy, D. (2007). Spatial and facial processing in the signed discourse of two groups of deaf signers with clinical language impairment. *Clinical Linguistics & Phonetics, 21*(5). doi: 10.1080/02699200701267476
- Pettigrove, K., Lanyon, L. E., Attard, M. C., Vuong, G., & Rose, M. L. (2022). Characteristics and impacts of community aphasia group facilitation: a systematic scoping review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 44(22), 6884–6898. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09638288.2021.1971307</u>
- Pindus, D.M., Mullis, R., Lim, L., Wellwood, I., Rundell, A.V., Abd Aziz, N.A., & Mant, J. (2018). Stroke survivors' and informal caregivers' experiences of primary care and community healthcare services: A systematic review and metaethnography. *PLoS ONE, 13*(2), 30192533. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192533
- Poirier, S., Fossard, M., & Monetta, L. (2023). The efficacy of treatments for sentence production deficits in aphasia: A systematic review. *Aphasiology*, 37(1). 122-142. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2021.1983152
- Power, E., Falkenberg, K., Barnes, S., Elbourn, E., Attard, M. & Togher L. (2020) A pilot randomized controlled trial comparing online versus face-to-face delivery of an aphasia communication partner training program for student healthcare professionals. *International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders*, 55(6), 852-866. Doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12556</u>
- Purdy, M. & Wallace, S.E. (2016). Intensive multimodal communication treatment for people with chronic aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 30(10), 1071-1093. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2015.1102855
- Purdy, M., Coppens, P., Brookshire Madden, E., Mozeiko, J., Patterson, J., Wallace, S.E., & Freed, D. (2019). Reading comprehension treatment in aphasia: A systematic review. *Aphasiology*, *33*(6), 629-651. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2018.1482405

- Rayer, K., Chavers, T., Schlosser, R., & Koul, R. (2023). Efficacy of Speech Output Technologies in Interventions for Persons with Aphasia: A Scoping Review. *Aphasiology*, 37(11), 1861–1883. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2022.2135366</u>
- Ralph, A. P., Lowell, A., Murphy, J., Dias, T., Butler, D., Spain, B., Hughes, J. T., Campbell, L., Bauert, B., Salter, C., Tune, K., & Cass, A. (2017). Low uptake of Aboriginal interpreters in healthcare: Exploration of current use in Australia's Northern Territory. *BMC Health Services Research*, *17*(1), 733–733. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2689-y</u>
- Repetto, C., Paolillo, M. P., Tuena, C., Bellinzona, F., & Riva, G. (2021). Innovative technology-based interventions in aphasia rehabilitation: a systematic review. *Aphasiology*, 35(12), 1623–1646. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2020.1819957</u>
- Roberts, P. M. (2008). Aphasia assessment and treatment in bilingual and multicultural populations. In R. Chapey (Ed.), *Language intervention strategies in adult aphasia* (5th ed., pp. 245 – 276). Baltimore: Lippincott, Williams & Wilkins.
- Robinson, R. G., Murata, Y., & Shimoda, K. (1999). Dimensions of social impairment and their effect on depression and recovery following stroke. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 11(4). Doi: 10.1017/s1041610299005992
- Roger, P. & Code, C. (2011). Lost in translation? Issues of content validity in interpreter-mediated aphasia assessments. *International journal of speech-language pathology*, *13*(1), 61-73.
- Rohde, A., Worrall, L., & Le Dorze, G. (2013). Systematic review of the quality of clinical guidelines for aphasia in stroke management. *Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice*, 19(6), 994-1003. doi: 10.1111/jep.12023
- Rose, M. L. (2023). Elizabeth Usher memorial lecture: Beyond our practice bordersusing a biopsychosocial framework to improve long-term outcomes for people living with aphasia. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 25(3), 346–354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2023.2220995</u>

- Rose, M. L., Nickels, L., Copland, D., Togher, L., Godecke, E., Meinzer, M., Rai, T., Cadilhac, D. A., Kim, J., & Hurley, M. (2022). Results of the COMPARE trial of Constraint-induced or Multimodality Aphasia Therapy compared with usual care in chronic post-stroke aphasia. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 93, 573-581. DOI: 10.1136/jnnp-2021-328422
- Rose, M.L., Raymer, A.M., Lanyon, L.E., & Attard, M.C. (2013). A systematic review of gesture treatments for post-stroke aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 27(9). 1090-1127.
 DOI: <u>10.1080/02687038.2013.805726</u>
- Rose, T. A., Balse, A., Osmond, S., Poon, A., Simons, N., & Wallace, S. J. (2018). Aphasia education: Speech-language pathologists' perspectives regarding current and optimal practice. *Aphasiology*, *32*(8), 967-988. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2018.1472366
- Rose, T. A., Worrall, L. E., Hickson, L. M., & Hoffmann, T. C. (2012). Guiding principles for printed education materials: design preferences of people with aphasia. *International Journal of Speech-language Pathology*, 14(1). DOI: 10.3109/17549507.2011.631583
- Rose, T., Worrall, L., & McKenna, K. (2003). The effectiveness of aphasia- friendly principles for printed health education materials for people with aphasia following stroke. *Aphasiology*, *17*(10), 947-963. DOI: 10.1080/02687030344000319
- Rose, T., Worrall, L., Hickson, L., & Hoffmann, T. (2010). Do people with aphasia want written stroke and aphasia information? A verbal survey exploring preferences for when and how to provide stroke and aphasia information. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation*, *17*(2). DOI: 10.1310/tsr1702-79
- Rosewilliam, S., Roskell, C. A., & Pandyan, A. D. (2011). A systematic review and synthesis of the quantitative and qualitative evidence behind patient-centred goal setting in stroke rehabilitation. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *25*(6), 501-514. DOI: 10.1177/0269215510394467

- Russo, M.J., Prodan, V., Meda, N.N., Carcavallo, L., Muracioli, A., Sabe, L., Bonamico, L., Allegri, R.F., & Olmos, L. (2017). High-technology augmentative communication for adults with post-stroke aphasia: A systematic review. *Expert Review of Medical Devices*, *14*(5), 355-370, DOI: 10.1080/17434440.2017.1324291
- Ryan, B.J., Clunne, S.M., Baker, C.J., Shiggins, C., Rose, M.L. Kneebone, I.I.(2021). A systematic review of non-drug interventions to prevent and treat anxiety in people with aphasia after stroke. *Disability and Rehabilitation, 44* (18), 1-10. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2021.1925752
- Sackett, D. L. (1992). A primer on the precision and accuracy of the clinical examination. *JAMA*, *267*(19), 2638-2644. DOI: 10.1001/jama.1992.03480190080037
- Salter, K., Foley, N., & Teasell, R. (2010). Social support interventions and mood status post stroke: A review. *International Journal of Nursing Studies, 47*, 616-625. Doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2009.12.002
- Shadden, B. (2005). Aphasia as identity theft: Theory and practice. *Aphasiology*, *19*(3-5), 211-223. DOI: 10.1080/02687930444000697
- Shadden, B.B., & Agan, J.P. (2004). Renegotiation of identity: The social context of aphasia support groups. *Topics in Language Disorders, 24*(3), 174-186. DOI: 10.1097/00011363-200407000-00005
- Shadden, B.B., & Koski, P.R. (2007). Social construction of self for persons with aphasia: When language as a cultural tool is impaired. *Journal of Medical Speech-Language Pathology*, *15*(2), 99-105.
- Shand, R., Foster, A., Baker, C., & O'Halloran, R. (2024). Identifying communication difficulty and context-specific communication supports for patient-provider communication in a sub-acute setting: A prospective mixed methods study. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, 1–20. https://doi.org/10.1080/17549507.2023.2289350

- Shepperd, S., Lannin, N. A., Clemson, L. M., McCluskey, A., Cameron, I. D., & Barras, S. L. (2013). Discharge planning from hospital to home. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews* (1). DOI: 10.1002/14651858.CD000313.pub4
- Shrubsole, K., Power, E., & Hallé, M. (2023). Communication partner training with familiar partners of people with aphasia: A systematic review and synthesis of barriers and facilitators to implementation. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders*, 58(2), 601–628. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12805</u>
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Kagan, A., O'Neill Christie, C., Huijbregts, M., McEwen, S. & Willems, J. Communicative access and decision making for people with aphasia: Implementing sustainable healthcare systems change. Aphasiology,21(1), 39-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687030600798287</u>
- Simmons-Mackie, N. & Elman, R.J. (2011). Negotiation of identity in group therapy for aphasia: The Aphasia Café. International Journal of Language and Communication Disorders, 46(3), 312-323, DOI: 10.3109/13682822.2010.507616
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Code, C., Armstrong, E., Stiegler, L., & Elman, R., J. (2002). What is aphasia? Results of an international survey. *Aphasiology*, *16*(8), 837-848. DOI: 10.1080/02687030244000185
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Raymer, A., & Cherney, L.R. (2016). Communication partner training in aphasia: An updated systematic review. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, *97*(2), 2202-2221. DOI: 10.1016/j.apmr.2016.03.023
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Raymer, A., Armstrong, E., Holland, A., & Cherney, L., R. (2010). Communication partner training in aphasia: a systematic review. *Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 91*(12), 1814-1837.
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Savage, M.C. & Worrall, L. (2014). Conversation therapy for aphasia: A qualitative review of the literature. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 49*(5), 511-526. DOI: 10.1111/1460-6984.12097

- Simmons-Mackie, N., Threats, T. T., & Kagan, A. (2005). Outcome assessment in aphasia: a survey. *Journal of communication disorders, 38*(1), 1-27. DOI: 10.1016/j.jcomdis.2004.03.007
- Simmons-Mackie, N., Worrall, L., Murray, L. L., Enderby, P., Rose, M. L., Paek, E. J., & Klippi, A. (2017). The top ten: best practice recommendations for aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *31*(2), 131-151. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2016.1180662
- Siyambalapitiya, S. & Davidson, B. (2015). Managing aphasia in bilingual and culturally and linguistically diverse individuals in an Australian context: Challenges and future directions. *Journal of Clinical Practice in Speech-Language Pathology*, 17(11).
- Speech Pathology Australia (2020). Professional Standards for Speech Pathologists in Australia. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/public/libraryviewer?Resourcel</u> D=409
- Speech Pathology Australia (2021). Innovate Reconciliation Action Plan May 2021-May 2023. Retrieved from: https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Public/Public/About-Us/Reconciliation/Reconciliation Action Plan.aspx
- Speech Pathology Australia (2023a). Anti-racism position statement. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Public/libraryviewer?Resourcel</u> <u>D=54</u>
- Speech Pathology Australia (2023b). Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Culturally Responsive Capability Framework. Retrieved from: https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/public/libraryviewer?Resourcel D=884
- Speech Pathology Australia, n.d.(a) Augmentative and Alternative Communication (AAC). Retrieved from:
 - https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Communication Hub/Resource s/Fact_Sheets/Augmentative-and-Alternative-Communication.aspx

- Speech Pathology Australia, n.d.(b) Telehealth services. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/Public/Public/services/Choose-</u> <u>a-speech-pathologist/Telehealth-services.aspx</u>
- Speech Pathology Australia. (2015). Annual Report 2015. Retrieved from: https://www.speechpathologyaustralia.org.au/common/Uploaded%20files/Ab out%20Us/SPA%20Documents/Annual%20Reports/2015%20Annual%20report. pdf
- Stans, S., Dalemans, R., de Witte, L.P., Smeets, H.W.H., & Beurskens, A.J. (2017). The role of the physical environment in conversations between people who are communication vulnerable and health-care professional: a scoping review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 39(25), 2594-2605. doi: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1239769
- Steffens, N.K., LaRue, C.J., Haslam, C., Walter, Z.C., Cruwys, T., Munt, K.A., Haslam, A., Jetten, J., & Tarrant, M. (2019). Social identification-building interventions to improve health: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Health Psychology Review*, 15(1), 85-112, DOI: 10.1080/17437199.2019.1669481
- Stransky, M.L., Jensen, K.M., & Morris, M.A. (2018). Adults with Communication Disabilities Experience Poorer Health and Healthcare Outcomes Compared to Persons Without Communication Disabilities. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 33(12), 2147-2155. DOI: 10.1007/s11606-018-4625-1.
- Stroke Foundation (2021). Our Stroke Journey. Retrieved from: https://strokefoundation.org.au/media/hxmn4b1w/our-stroke-journey.pdf
- Stroke Foundation (2023). My Stroke Journey. Retrieved from: https://strokefoundation.org.au/media/psfbl2dg/my-stroke-journey.pdf
- Stroke Foundation (2024). Clinical Guidelines for Stroke Management. Retrieved from: <u>https://informme.org.au/guidelines/living-clinical-guidelines-for-stroke-management</u>

Stroke Foundation/Australian Aphasia Association (2023). Aphasia Handbook. Retrieved from: <u>https://strokefoundation.org.au/media/c3qjm2zw/sf1629_aphasia-booklet.pdf</u>

- Sullivan, R., Hemsley, B., Harding, K., & Skinner, I. (2023). 'Patient Unable to Express Why He Was on the Floor, He Has Aphasia.' A Content Thematic Analysis of Medical Records and Incident Reports on the Falls of Hospital Patients with Communication Disability Following Stroke. *International Journal of Language* & Communication Disorders, 58(6), 2033–2048. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1460-6984.12916</u>
- Sutcliffe, L. M., and Lincoln, N. B. (1998). The assessment of depression in aphasic stroke patients: The development of the Stroke Aphasic Depression Questionnaire. *Clinical Rehabilitation, 12*, 506–513
- Sze, W.P., Hameau, S., Warren, J., & Best, W. (2021). Identifying the components of a successful spoken naming therapy: A meta-analysis of word-finding interventions for adults with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 35(1), 33-72. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2020.1781419.
- Taubner, H., Hallén, M., & Wengelin, Å. (2020). Still the same? Self identity dilemmas when living with post-stroke aphasia in a digitalised society, *Aphasiology*, *34*(3), 300-318, DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2019.1594151
- Taylor, S., Wallace, S.J., & Wallace, S.E. (2019). High-technology augmentative and alternative communication in poststroke aphasia: A review of the factors that contribute to successful augmentative and alternative communication use. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Groups*, 4(3), 464-473, DOI: 10.1044/2019_PERS-SIG2-2018-0016
- Teti, S., Murray, L.L., Orange, J.B., Page, A.D., & Kankam, K.S. (2023). Telehealth assessments and interventions for individuals with poststroke aphasia: A scoping review. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 32(3), 1360-1375. DOI: 10.1044/2023_AJSLP-22-00324
- The Canadian Stroke Strategy. (2010). *Canadian Best Practice Recommendations for Stroke Care*. Ottawa, Ontario Canada: Canadian Stroke Network

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

- The RELEASE Collaborators (2021). Predictors of Poststroke Aphasia Recovery: A Systematic Review-Informed Individual Participant Data Meta-Analysis. *Stroke*, *52*(5):1778-1787. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.031162.
- The RELEASE collaborators. (2022a). Dosage, intensity and frequency of language therapy for aphasia: an individual participant data network meta-analysis. *Stroke*, *53*(3). 956-967. DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.121.035216
- The RELEASE collaborators. (2022b). Precision rehabilitation for aphasia by patient age, sex, aphasia severity, and time since stroke? A prespecified, systematic review-based individual participant data, network, subgroup meta-analysis. *International Journal of Stroke*, *17*(10), 1067-1077. DOI: 10.1177/17474930221097477
- Thiel, L., Sage. K., & Conroy, P. (2015). Retraining writing for functional purposes: A review of the writing therapy literature. *Aphasiology*, *29*(4), 423-441. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2014.965059
- Thomas, E., Power, E., Worrall, L., Rose, M., Togher, L., & Ferguson, A. (2014). A national approach to improving aphasia services: Application of a knowledge transfer and exchange framework approach. *Journal of Clinical Practice in Speech-Language Pathology*, *16*(1), 30-36.
- Thomas, S. A. & Lincoln, N. B. (2008). Predictors of Emotional Distress After Stroke. *Stroke (1970)*, *39*(4), 1240–1245. https://doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.107.498279
- Thomas, S.A., Drummond, A.E.R., Lincoln, N.B., Palmer, R.L., Das Nair, R., Latimer, N.R., Hackney, G.L., Mandefield, L., Walters, S.J., Hatton, R.D., Cooper, C.L., Chater, T.F., England, T.J., Callaghan, P., Coates, E., Sutherland, K.E., Eshtan, S.J., & Topcu, G. (2019). Behavioural activation therapy for post-stroke depression: The BEADS feasibility RCT. *Health Technology Assessment. 23*(47), 1-176. DOI: 10.3310/hta23470

- Thomas, S.A., Walker, M.F., Macniven, J.A., Haworth, H., & Lincoln, N.B. (2013).
 Communication and Low Mood (CALM): A randomized controlled trial of behavioural therapy for stroke patients with aphasia. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 27(5), 398-408. DOI: 10.1177/0269215512462227
- Thompson, C. K. (2001). Treatment of underlying forms: A linguistic specific approach for sentence production deficits in aphasia. In R. Chapey (Ed.), *Language intervention strategies in aphasia and related neurogenic communication disorders.* (4th ed., pp. 605–674). New York: Lippincott, Williams, & Wilkins
- Tjokrowijoto, P., Thomas, S., Kneebone, I., Ryan, B., & Stolwyk, R. (2024). Aphasia, Depression, and Psychological Therapy (ADaPT): A single case design evaluation of a modified Cognitive Behavioural Therapy to treat depressive symptoms in stroke survivors with aphasia. *Neuropsychological Rehabilitation*, 1–45. Print. DOI: <u>10.1080/09602011.2024.2331840</u>
- Trebilcock, M., Power, E., Rose, M. L., & Shrubsole, K. (2024). How do speech pathologists use the Australian Aphasia Rehabilitation Pathway to inform practice? A qualitative study. *Aphasiology*, *38*(6), 957–978. https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2023.2246214
- Tujague, N.A. & Ryan, K.L. (2021). Ticking the box of "cultural safety" is not enough: Why trauma-informed practice is critical to Indigenous healing. *Rural and Remote Health*, 21(3), 1-5. DOI: 10.22605/RRH6411
- Turner-Stokes L, Kalmus M, Hirani D, and Clegg F (2005). The depression intensity scale circles (DISCs): a first evaluation of a simple assessment tool for depression in the context of brain injury. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery and Psychiatry, 76*(9):1273–8.
- Van Dijk, M.J., De Man-van Ginkel, J.M., Hafsteinsdóttir, T.B., & Schuurmans, M.J. (2016). Identifying depression post-stroke in patients with aphasia: A systematic review of the reliability, validity, and feasibility of available instruments. *Clinical Rehabilitation, 30*(8), 795-810. DOI: 10.1177/026921551559966

- Visser, M.M., Heijenbrok-Kal, M.H. Van 't Spijker, A., Lannoo, E., Busschbach, J.J.V., & Ribbers, G.M. (2016). Problem-solving therapy during outpatient stroke rehabilitation improves coping and health-related quality of life: Randomised controlled trial. *Stroke*, *47*(1), 135-142. DOI: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.115.010961.
- Wallace, S.E., Patterson, J., Purdy, M., Knollman-Porter, K. & Coppens, P. (2022).
 Auditory comprehension interventions for people with aphasia: A scoping review. *American Journal of Speech-Language Pathology*, 131(5S), 2404-2420.
 DOI: 10.1044/2022_AJSLP-21-00297
- Wallace, S.J., Worrall, L., Rose, T., & Le Dorze, G. (2017). Using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability, and Health to identify outcome domains for a core outcome set for aphasia: A comparison of stakeholder perspectives. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 41(5), 564-573. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2017.1400593
- Wallace, S.J., Worrall, L., Rose, T., Le Dorze, G., Breitenstein, C., Hilari, K., Babbitt, E., Bose, A., Brady, M., Cherney, L.R., Copland, D., Cruice, M., Enderby, P., Hersh, D., Howe, T., Kelly, H., Kiran, S., Laska, A., Marshall, J., Nicholas, M., Patterson, J., Pearl, G., Rochon, E., Rose, M., Sage, K., Small, S., & Webster, J. (2019). A core outcome set for aphasia treatment research: The ROMA consensus statement. *International Journal of Stroke*, *14*(2), 180-185. DOI: 10.1177/1747493018806200
- Wallace, S.J., Worrall, L., Rose, T., Le Dorze, G., Cruice, M., Isaksen, J., Pak Hin Kong, A., Simmons-Mackie, N., Scarinci, N., & Alary Gauvreau, C. (2016). Which outcomes are most important to people with aphasia and their families? An international nominal group technique study framed within the ICF. *Disability* and Rehabilitation, 39(14), 1363-1379. DOI: 10.1080/09638288.2016.1194899
- Watego, C., Singh, D., & Macoun, A. (2021). Partnership for justice in health: Scoping paper on race, racism and the Australian health system. Discussion paper, The Lowitja Institute, Melbourne. DOI: 10.48455/sdrt-sb97

Watson, K. (2000). *The use of the ASHA-FACS in a rehabilitation setting in South Africa*. Unpublished Masters thesis. University of Wiwatersrand.

- Watter, K., Copley, A., & Finch, E., (2017). Discourse level reading comprehension interventions following acquired brain injury: A systematic review. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, *39*(4), 315-337. DOI: 10.3109/09638288.2016.1141241
- Webster, J., & Whitworth, A. (2012). Treating verbs in aphasia: Exploring the impact of therapy at the single word and sentence levels. *International Journal of Language & Communication Disorders, 47*(6), 619-636. DOI: 10.1111/j.1460-6984.2012.00174.x
- Weidner, K., & Lowman, J. (2020). Telepractice for adult speech-language pathology services: A systematic review. *Perspectives of the ASHA Special Interest Group*, 5(1), 326-338. DOI: 10.1044/2019_PERSP-19-00146
- Western Australia Centre for Rural Health (n.d.). Clinical Yarning ELearning Programme. Retrieved from: <u>https://lms.wacrh.uwa.edu.au/login/index.php</u>
- Whitworth, A., Leitão, S., Cartwright, J., Webster, J., Hankey, G. J., Zach, J., Howard, D., & Wolz, V. (2015). NARNIA: a new twist to an old tale. A pilot RCT to evaluate a multilevel approach to improving discourse in aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 29(11), 1345–1382. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02687038.2015.1081143</u>
- Wilson, C., Jones, A., Schick-Makaroff, K., & Kim, E. S. (2023). Understanding the impact of group therapy on health-related quality of life of people with Aphasia: a scoping review. *Speech, Language and Hearing, 26*(2), 88–101. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/2050571X.2021.1917216</u>
- Wisenburn, B., & Mahoney, K. (2009). A meta-analysis of word-finding treatments for aphasia. *Aphasiology*, 23(11), 1338-1352
- Woodhead, Z.V.J., Kerry, S.K., Aguilar, O.M., Ong, Y, Hogan, J.S., Pappa, K., Leff, A.P., Crinion, J.T. (2018). Randomized trial of iReadMore word reading training and brain stimulation in central alexia. *Brain*, 141. 2127-2124. DOI: 10.1093/brain/awy138
- World Health Organisation (n.d.). Integrated People-Centred Care. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.who.int/health-topics/integrated-people-centered-</u> <u>care#tab=tab_1</u>

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024

- World Health Organization. (2001). *International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF)*. Geneva: World Health Organization
- Worrall, L. E., Howe, T., O'Callaghan, A., Hill, A. J., Rose, M., Wallace, S. J., Rose, T., Brown, K., Power, E., O'Halloran, R., & Rohde, A. (2013). The World Report on Disability as a blueprint for international, national, and local aphasia services. *International Journal of Speech Language Pathology*, *15*(1), 106–112. <u>https://doi.org/10.3109/17549507.2012.721004</u>
- Worrall, L., Rose, T., Howe, T., McKenna, K., & Hickson, L. (2007). Developing an evidence-base for accessibility for people with aphasia. *Aphasiology*, *21*(1), 124-136. DOI: 10.1080/02687030600798352
- Worrall, L., Sherratt, S., Rogers, P., Howe, T., Hersh, D., Ferguson, A., & Davidson, B. (2011). What people with aphasia want: Their goals according to the ICF. *Aphasiology*, 25(3), 309-322. DOI: 10.1080/02687038.2010.508530
- Wray, F. & Clarke, D. (2017). Longer-term needs of stroke survivors with communication difficulties living in the community: A systematic review and thematic synthesis of qualitative studies. *BMJ Open*, 7(e017944). DOI: 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017944
- Wray, F., Clarke, D., & Forster, A. (2018). Post-stroke self-management interventions: a systematic review of effectiveness and investigation of the inclusion of stroke survivors with aphasia. *Disability and rehabilitation*, 40(11), 1237-1251.
- Zanella, C., Laures-Gore, J., Dotson, V.M., & Belagaje, S.R. (2023). Incidence of poststroke depression symptoms and potential risk factors in adults with aphasia in a comprehensive stroke center. *Topics in Stroke Rehabilitation 30*(5), 448-458. DOI: 10.1080/10749357.2022.2070363
- Zhang, J., Yu, J., Bao, Y., Xie, Q., Xu, Y., Zhang, J., & Wang, P. (2017). Constraintinduced aphasia therapy in post-stroke aphasia rehabilitation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS One, 12*(8), e0183349. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0183349

Zheng, C., Lynch, L., & Taylor, N. (2016). Effect of computer therapy in aphasia: a systematic review. *Aphasiology*, *30*(2–3), 211–244. DOI: <u>10.1080/02687038.2014.996521</u>

Aphasia Rehabilitation Best Practice Statements 2024